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INFORMATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS

EEmAER

SHARE INFORMATION

First listed on the Stock Exchange
13 October 1998

Place of listing
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code
0166.HK

Board Lot
2,000 shares

Financial Year End
31 December

As at 31 December 2021
Number of issued shares:
Closing price: HK$0.062 per share
Market capitalisation: HK$543.05 million

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

8,758,880,988 shares

Principal Share Registrar

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Enquiries may be directed to e-mail:
info@nt-energy.com

WEBSITE

http://www.nt-energy.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended
31 December

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year

Earnings/(losses) per share
— basis (HK cent)

Yz
BRBRTE R, (ER)
Frad, (BR)

FREN, (BE) —&EX& &)

11,167,076
343,636
329,403

3.76

Year ended
31 December

Total assets

Total equity

Debt ratio ™

Gearing ratio @

Net asset value per share @ (HK$)

Remarks:

wAE
e

{38 1 0

AR A0
SRAEFEY (BT)

(1) Debt ratio: Total liabilities divided by total assets

(2) Gearing ratio: Interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity

(3) Net asset value per share: Net assets divided by number of issued shares

1,736,350
1,101,481
36.56%
Nl
0.13

Bt
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() HEEEBHLE:FEMEN
() EBEREERE:EEFE

MBRE

Year ended

31 December
2020
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WEFE
HK$'000

FAT

5,034,518
(64,558)
(79,494)

(0.91)

Year ended

31 December
2020

HE
—ETHF
+—A=+—H
IEFE
HK$°000

T T

1,021,168
758,956
25.68%
19.25%
0.09
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of New Times
Energy Corporation Limited (“New Times Energy”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
results and audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

OVERVIEW OF 2021

New Times Energy made a profit of HK$329 million in 2021, a
transformational year for the Group following the acquisition of a
private oil and gas company headquartered in Calgary, Alberta. With
the recent increases in natural gas prices, the Canadian acquisition
will continue to generate significant positive cash flow to the Group
in the foreseeable future.

The acquisition comprising over 800 active wells in various oil and
gas fields, spanning approximately 761,000 acres (3,080 km?) of
land in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, as well as a 1,200
acres (4.9 km?) multi-use industrial site at Campbell River, British
Columbia for businesses to lease, stands for a significant addition for
the Group.

With daily oil and gas production of more than 12,000 barrels of oil
equivalent (“boe”) per day (95% natural gas), and total estimated
Proved (1P) reserves of 30.2 million boe and Proved plus Probable
(2P) reserves of 40.0 million boe for the Group's participating
interest, the acquisition will provide sizable profits to the Group in
the years ahead.

Recent global events have demonstrated the necessity for stable
energy sources like oil and gas, while the world transitions to
renewables. New Times Energy is committed to the investment and
future development of clean energy for global sustainability. The
Group's acquisition is based on its belief that natural gas will serve
as the bridge fuel towards a low carbon economy, as the world
attempts to transition from polluting fossil energy such as coal, to
environmentally friendly energy sources. In addition, the Group will
explore ways in which to work with local authorities and governing
bodies to achieve the common goal of net zero emissions, through
possible Carbon Capture, Utilization and Sequestration (CCUS)
opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

During 2021, the Argentina concession continued to steadily
produce oil at approximately 800 barrels per day. Though Argentina
remains a challenging country to operate, because of factors such
as low domestic oil prices, hyperinflation, currency devaluation,
capital controls, bureaucracy, and labour union unrest. The Group’s
exposure in Argentina is less than 10% of its total net assets.

New Times Energy’s commodities trading business (in particular its
physical gold and silver trading) also continued to perform solidly
during the year. With the Group’s new refinery for precious metals
in Hong Kong anticipated to be operational in the third quarter of
2022, barring any prolonged supply chain issues which will affect the
availability of imported equipment, the Group is optimistic that the
refining process will contribute to the Group's future profitability.

LOOKING FORWARD

New Times Energy is on track to drill a minimum six development
wells in Canada in 2022, in addition to executing its optimization
program for existing wells. Both initiatives will have positive effects
for the profitability of the Group’s oil and gas segment in the
coming years. With a strong financial position and positive cash
flow expected from both the operation in Canada and Argentina for
2022, the Group is excited by its prospect to create long term value
for shareholders.

New Times Energy continues to actively manage and structure
its business to best serve the interests of its shareholders. It is
committed to maximising shareholder value by exploring and
developing oil and gas prospects in a safe, environmentally, socially
and ethically responsible manner. ESG considerations will continue
to play an increasingly key role in the way the Group conducts its
future business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

The Group understands the need to continually reassess and diversify
its current business and geographical portfolio to better position
itself for the future. It is also critical that, the Group continues to
maintain a healthy cash position to enable it to actively seek out
value adding and complementary investment opportunities in the
energy sector, wherever that may be in the world.

The Group is mindful of the increasing global trend and appetite for
low carbon energy sources, particularly in the developed economies.
While our principal business is that of oil and gas exploration and
production, the Group is taking steps in transforming its business
model into clean and sustainable energy, in its effort to be a part
of the global “Energy Transition” that is underway, with social
responsibility towards the environment and climate change at the
forefront.

APPRECIATION

In closing, | would like to take this opportunity to once again,
express my sincerest gratitude to the Board, the management team,
and all staff members for their efforts and dedication during the
year. | am also much obliged to our shareholders, investors, business
partners, bankers, customers and suppliers for their continued
and invaluable support. | sincerely wish you all good health and to
remain vigilant in our collective effort to mitigate the impact of the
coronavirus pandemic.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GENERAL REVIEW

The Group is pleased to report a profit after tax of HK$329.4 million
for the year 2021 (2020: Loss after tax of HK$79.5 million). The
turnaround in the Group's profitability and its subsequent operation
profit was primarily attributable to the Group’s acquisition of a
private Canadian oil and gas company as well as the concurrent
global recovery in commodity prices. In addition to the one-time gain
on acquisition, the newly acquired Canadian oil and gas company
will generate significant amount of positive cash flow to the Group
for the foreseeable future.

NTE Energy Canada Ltd. (“NTEC”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group headquartered in Calgary, Alberta operating over
800 producing wells in various oil and gas fields that span across
approximately 761,000 acres (3,080 km?) of land, located in the
Canadian provinces of British Columbia (Greater Sierra Area and
Horn River Basin), and Alberta (Wapiti and Willesden Green). Current
average daily oil and gas production is in excess of 12,000 barrels
of oil equivalent (“boe”) per day (95% natural gas) and will provide
sizable profits to the Group in the years ahead.

The Group also owns and operates a 1,200 acres (4.9 km?) multi-
use industrial site (“Discovery Park”) at Campbell River, British
Columbia, which is leased to tenants in industries including but not
limited to, green data centres, modular construction, marine services,
and steel fabrication. Income is also derived from landfill operations
which provide landfilling capacities from nearby contaminated sites.
With pre-existing amenities including low-cost electricity access,
office buildings, warehouses, land, full scale water treatment plant,
industrial size landfill, fresh water supply, deep water docks, barge
ramp, and direct ocean water access within the site, the Group aims
to realise the full potential of Discovery Park as a hub for green
technology and to increase occupancy rates.

The growth potential of NTEC enables the Group to diversify its
current oil and gas portfolio and geographical presence beyond its
Argentina oil business. While Los Blancos Concession in Argentina
continues to steadily produce oil at approximately 800 bbl per day,
Argentina remains a challenging country for the Group to operate,
due to factors such as low domestic oil prices, hyperinflation,
currency devaluation, capital controls, bureaucracy, and labour union
unrest.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENW&R DT

In 2021, the Group’s commodities trading business (in particular
its physical gold and silver trading) continued to perform solidly in
terms of trade volumes. With the Group’s new refinery for precious
metals in Hong Kong anticipated to be operational in the third
quarter of 2022, the Group is optimistic that the refining process
will contribute to the profitability of the company in 2023.

With no borrowings, the Group maintains a healthy financial
position with HK$495.0 million in cash and cash equivalents (plus
another HK$147.6 million in financial assets and gold investments
for a total of HK$642.6 million of highly liquid current assets) as
of 31 December 2021 and continues to actively evaluate suitable
merger and acquisition opportunities. The Group operates under
a strong Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG"”) mandate
and is passionate in the investment and future development of
clean energy for global sustainability. The Group will continue to
explore ways to work with local authorities and governing bodies to
achieve the common goal of net zero emissions, through possible
eco-investment opportunities such as Blue & Green Hydrogen and
Carbon Capture, Utilization and Sequestration (“CCUS").

CANADA

Following an extensive process of due diligence and prolonged
negotiations, the Group on 21 September 2021 completed the
acquisition of a private Canadian oil and gas company (“Target
Company”) headquartered in Calgary, Alberta, with a focus on
exploration and production in the Western Canadian Sedimentary
Basin. The total commitment by the Group was C$20,000,001
(approximately HK$122 million equivalent) and was comprised of a
C$20 million new loan to the Target Company for the repayment of
existing indebtedness to its previous sole shareholder plus C$1 for
the entire share capital of the Target Company at the completion
date of 21 September 2021.

To signal a change in ownership and its connection with the Group
after the acquisition, the Target Company was renamed to NTE
Energy Canada Ltd. effective from 1 January 2022. The purpose of
the new name is to better encapsulate the ambitions that the Group
has, in its desire to be a part of the global Energy Transition that is
underway, with social responsibility towards the environment and
climate change at the forefront.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Information on Acquired Assets

NTEC's oil and gas assets are situated in four locations, namely
Greater Sierra Area and Horn River Basin in the province of British
Columbia (approximately 94.2% of NTEC's total reserves), and Wapiti
and Willesden Green in the province of Alberta. The four locations
in total are estimated to contain Proved (1P) reserves of 30.2 million
boe and Proved plus Probable (2P) reserves of 40.0 million boe,
attributable to the Group. (Refer to section titled “Information on
New Times Energy’s Oil and Gas Reserves” for further details).

In addition, NTEC operates Discovery Park at Campbell River,
British Columbia, providing industrial land parcels, buildings and
warehouses for businesses to lease. Existing site infrastructure
features an electrical substation that is connected to two 138 kV
transmission lines, providing over 200MW of 100% renewable
hydro energy power supply from BC Hydro sourced from a
dam approximately 6 km away from the site with a rate as low
as C$0.06/kWh. Additional facilities include a solid industrial
waste landfill to handle hazardous substance disposal needs, a
complimentary waste water treatment facility, fresh water supply,
and 2 deep water piers for dock usage and direct ocean water
access.

Operations Update

Greater Sierra Area, Horn River Basin, Wapiti and Willesden
Green

During the period from 22 September 2021 to 31 December 2021
(“Post-Acquisition Period”), the Group has re-organized its newly
acquired Canadian subsidiary to maximize its financial, tax and
operational efficiencies. New procedures and departments have
been put in place to strengthen management internal controls.
With average daily oil and gas production of approximately 12,300
boe per day during the Post-Acquisition Period, NTEC remapped
the gathering system connecting all the wells and facilities in the
Greater Sierra Area and also prepared an optimization program of
replacing old equipment, swabbing wells, and adjusting operational
calibrations to improve underperforming wells. At the same time,
shut-in wells are being restarted with the improved economics
associated with higher natural gas prices. An elaborate computer
modelling of the reservoir/production system has been undertaken
to assist in the optimization process. This program was initiated in
the fourth quarter of 2021 with a material increase in production
expected in the first quarter of 2022.

EEENWmR DT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENW&R DT

Due to a rebound in demand for energy products in 2021, and
winter seasonal effects further pushing commodity prices up,
NTEC was able to generate a significant net operating cash inflow
and operating profits, which tangibly contributed towards the
Group's 2021 post-acquisition financial results. Given the current
price forecast for natural gas in Western Canada in 2022, NTEC
is expected to generate net operating cash flow of at least C$3.0
million per month in 2022 for the Group (approximately HK$18.3
million equivalent per month) without taking into account additional
cash flow from new drilling.

Discovery Park

With respect to Discovery Park, the multi-use site is currently leased
to tenants in industries including but not limited to green data
centres, modular construction, marine services, and steel fabrication.
The Group has already engaged the services of a world-renowned
consulting group, Stantec Inc., to provide a master plan for a
complete redevelopment of Discovery Park into a green-tech hub to
attract new tenants that align with the Group’s ESG mandate. The
site is an ideal candidate for aquaculture as well as green hydrogen,
given the low cost electricity on site and ample supply of ocean
and fresh water. The Group is actively exploring ways to bring such
projects to fruition through support and cooperation from local and
federal government.

Additionally, the Group is in the process of setting up vertical
farming operations at Discovery Park by partnering with well-known
and established ag-tech companies both in Canada and globally
to provide efficient, localized food supply solutions. Using indoor
farming technologies, Discovery Park will contribute to redefining
the way traditional agriculture is being carried out for certain food
groups, by eliminating wasteful long supply chain agriculture into
local chains that benefit the Western Canadian people, resources,
and economy.

2022 Capital Program and Future Development

Following the Group's recent Canadian acquisition, focus is now
on integrating and developing the new business. The acquisition
represents a significant and important addition for the Group, with
over 800 active wells, spanning approximately 761,000 acres (3,080
km?) of land, producing in excess of 12,000 boe of oil and gas per
day, plus Discovery Park, a 1,200 acres (4.9 km?) multi-use site.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NTEC is currently applying for 3 well licenses from the Alberta
Energy Regulator and finalizing a drilling and completion program
which consists of drilling two-mile-long laterals for each well to
be initiated in the third quarter of 2022. The 3 wells will be drilled
and completed back to back using a single rig for a total expected
capital expenditure of approximately C$10.5 million (approximately
HK$67.2 million) net to NTEC's working interests, and is expected
to be brought on production in the third quarter of 2022 so to take
advantage of strong oil and gas prices over the winter months.
Each of these 3 wells will average approximately 400 boe per day of
production (45% light oil and natural gas liquids) net to NTEC in the
first year, achieve payback of the initial capital expenditure within
5 months and generate a ROl of 160% over three years using GLJ
Ltd.’s commodity price forecast as at 1 January 2022. NTEC is also
planning to drill an additional 3 wells in Willesden Green, Alberta
with one-mile-long laterals immediately after the aforementioned
3 wells can be successfully completed, provided that oil prices
can be maintained at recent high levels. The cost of the latter 3
wells will carry a total cost of approximately C$7.2 million net to
NTEC's working interests and achieve payback of the initial capital
expenditure within 6 months. The 2022 capital program will be fully
funded through NTEC's cash on hand. Any improvements in the oil
and gas price outlook in 2022 and 2023 will allow NTEC to generate
stronger cash flow and quicker returns from the 6 drilled wells that
can be reinvested into the Group’s ESG initiatives.

The Group believes natural gas will serve as the bridge fuel towards
a low carbon economy, as the world in its attempt to satisfy
commitments set forth in the Paris Agreement, transitions from
high CO, emission energy sources such as coal and oil, towards
renewables and zero emission sources. Alberta’s phasing out of coal-
fired electricity, projected to take effect by the end of 2023 (6 years
ahead of the federally mandated 2029 deadline), provides long term
price support and demand for natural gas. The Group is currently
in the process of reviewing the economic feasibility of initiating
CCUS at Greater Sierra Area by engaging relevant professional
engineering and geoscience service providers who have extensive
Energy Transition experience in North America. The Group expects
the government of Canada to release an updated carbon policy in
the second quarter of 2022 that will provide guidance and direction
for CCUS initiatives that NTEC will be relying upon.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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ARGENTINA

Operations Update

Los Blancos

Operated by High Luck Group Limited (“High Luck”), the Group's
wholly-owned Argentinian subsidiary, the Los Blancos Concession
("Los Blancos”) covers a surface area of approximately 95 km? in
the Province of Salta in Northern Argentina.

Los Blancos is an oil exploitation concession in which the Group
has a 50% participating interest, with Pampa Energia S.A (NYSE:
PAM) being the owner of the other 50%. Granted by the provincial
authorities of Salta in October 2020, the Group is entitled to
produce crude oil in Los Blancos for the next 25 years.

With the exception of January 2021, when production was
temporarily halted by High Luck to enable routine testing of the oil
well, production for the year was relatively unhindered, except for
minor labour union disruptions. Light crude oil continues to flow
unaided under a stable and high wellhead pressure, with an API
index of approximately 37° and zero water content, free of sulphur
and other contaminants.

Average daily production achieved by HLG's 50% participating
interest in Los Blancos during the year was approximately 342 bbl
per day, excluding non-producing time. In Northern Argentina,
where HLG's production facility is situated, and where the domestic
market is denominated by one major refinery (Refinor), average sales
price per bbl of oil for 2021 was US$56.02, compared to US$70.68
per bbl for Brent's 2021 average. In an effort to counteract Refinor's
almost monopolistic status, the Group endeavours to market to
other refineries willing to pay better price.

With HLG expecting to secure an export licence imminently, the
Group is optimistic that oil sales from Los Blancos can be redirected
to nearby refineries across the border in Bolivia and Paraguay, where
prices offered are potentially higher and more aligned to Brent. The
ability to export oil from Los Blancos to neighbouring countries of
Argentina could dramatically change the outlook of the Group’s
business in Argentina.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

Bl AR 32
EERHBER

Los Blancos

Los Blancos#F#F# & ([ Los Blancos | ) A4 &
ERMBREMEEMNBRARSESEBARA
A ([ SE])EE (R RZI I ERES -
HMEREEL FBISTEH AR

Los BlancosB AN S E#EBS0% L HiEm A
SH B ER A S [& - i Pampa Energia S.A (4132
FT: PAM) B 5 £ N50% M 2 B o5 - 1%
BMELAERPR T _TF+AEEREZ%
NEE B R K R255F £ Los Blancos4 E &
S o

BR-_ZE-_—F-A5ESELENETH
HeBEROASN FREERSEER
LEIeTERN - BERMERENSH
AR TEEEBBNBERT BITEE AP
BHAKNTE 2KERTALERKLHA
SR ©

= E R Los BlancostI50% L RN FEFRE
BHFEHEHEE AT ALBRE (TREIE
EHER) MRZEIL MRS ELMEER
1B B BT TE ) N H B A T 35 B — 2 2 R0m R
(Refinor) ZE - T = —F - ZHEAFT
EEAERS6REL MABERBAN_-Z
——F B A 70.683 I ° & 5 Refinor
ATEERMWA ANEEBOREBEE SN
B (B A% B EL A J5R e UM 8 RO/ o

HREEEFRRESHOHFIZE AEE
LR FLos BlancosH A )M $H & A # & & ()
i A B% 1) 4 55 Ko B2y =5 32 45 B 3T Y S50 e
ZERRENAAERTEES BFEER
e 45 M B 4% ° A Los Blancosla P iR 3£ 45
H ORI g m R 2 AEBR
PRI FS R RT & o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Argentina challenges and outlook

During 2021, the Argentine Pesos (“ARS") further devalued by
approximately 22% from ARS84.07 per US$ at the start of the year,
to ARS102.69 per US$ by year end. The country also continues to be
gripped by hyperinflation, and recorded an annualised inflation rate
of 50.9% in 2021, compared to 36.1% in 2020.

With domestic oil price on average being approximately US$57.00
per bbl, which is substantially lower than international prices, and
other difficulties including the politics, sporadic labour union and
social unrest, Argentina continues to be a difficult place to conduct
business. Furthermore, the country’s capital controls also restrict
the Group's and foreign investors’ ability to repatriate ARS cash
surpluses, with the exception of the prohibitively costly “Blue Dollar
Rate” option.

The challenges posed by Argentina are likely to persist at least in the
near future. The Group’s exposure in Argentina is relatively low at
HK$107.3 million i.e. less than 10% of the Group’s net assets.

On a positive note, Argentina has recently recorded its highest
monthly oil production in over a decade, which can only bode
well for the possibility of a further rebound in domestic oil prices
in the coming year, as the economy and demand for oil further
strengthens.

COMMODITIES TRADING

The Group’s physical precious metals trade business is operated
via an established and reputable intermediary, with a long history
and presence in Hong Kong. To ensure the Group is not financially
exposed to the day-to-day fluctuations of gold prices, all physical
gold trades, and physical gold inventories held by the Group are
hedged with financial hedging instruments.

During 2021, the Group's physical gold and silver trade business
managed a total trading volume of HK$10,824.7 million. Average
margins per trade in 2021 experienced marginal erosion, which was
in part due to higher external refining and handling costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Due to the progress made by the Group, since it entered the physical
gold trading business in June 2020, the Group took the decision to
vertically expand, by establishing its own precious metals refinery.
The aim is to grow the Group's gold and silver trade volumes, as well
as restoring and improving the trading margins by bringing in-house
this process. Additionally, refining will be a new service offering
which the Group is hopeful it can build a meaningful market share.

Construction works of the specialised refinery plant and the
installation of equipment at the site situated in Hong Kong are
proceeding. However due to global supply chain disruptions, the
Group’s new precious metals refinery target commencement date is
delayed to the third quarter of 2022.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022 AND BEYOND

2021 was a transformational year for the Group with its entry into
Canada and the concurrent recovery in global commodity prices.
NTEC has an inventory of 12 highly economic drilling locations
at Willesden Green (of which 3 will be drilled and brought on
production in the third quarter of 2022 with another 3 wells being
planned for the second half of 2022) that will augment existing
cash flow for the next 2 to 3 years as recent global events have
demonstrated the necessity for stable energy sources like oil and
gas while the world transitions to renewables. The aforementioned
optimization program of the NTEC's existing wells in B.C. will also
have positive effects on the Group’s profitability and cash flow in
the oil & gas segment of the Group in the coming years. In the
longer term, the Group is particularly optimistic about the potential
for CCUS at its Greater Sierra Assets in Northeast B.C.

Furthermore, recent global supply chain disruptions validate the
Group's plan to start up vertical farming operations at Discovery Park
on Vancouver Island which would provide localized food security,
and in the process, enhances the Group's profitability at its Discovery
Park operations and provides a source of funding for the renovating
the buildings from its previous pulp mill operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is witnessing a continued growth in daily trading
volume of precious metals in recent months, and the trend is likely
to continue. While the start-up of its precious metal refinery has
been adversely affected by supply chain issues delaying the delivery
of equipment to the plant, the Group believes the business of
commodity trading of precious metal will, in the longer run, prove to
be a profitable business for the Group.

With a strong financial position and positive cash flow expected
from across all of the Group’s operations in Canada and Argentina
for 2022, the Group is prepared and excited about its ability to
create long term value for shareholders. The Group has various ESG
initiatives including but not limited to achieving sustainability and
the goal of net zero emissions which is discussed in the ESG section.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021
was approximately HK$11,167.08 million (2020: approximately
HK$5,034.52 million). This was mainly contributed by the general
and commodities refinery and trading business, as well as the
oil and gas exploration and production business. Revenue from
general and commodities refinery and trading business for the
year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$10,907.44
million (2020: approximately HK$5,008.93 million). The increase
was mainly attributed to (i) expansion of the gold trading, (ii)
commencement on the trading of other precious metals and (iii)
trading on the petroleum-related products in PRC. Revenue from
the oil and gas exploration and production business for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$259.63 million,
representing an increase of approximately 914.6% as compared with
the revenue of approximately HK$25.59 million in 2020. The increase
was mainly attributed to (i) new sales of oil and gas products in
Canada, following completion of the acquisition of Shanghai Energy
Corporation in Canada, subsequently renamed to NTE Energy
Canada Ltd. (“NTEC") and (ii) a rise in crude oil price in Argentina.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENW&R DT

The Group reported a gross profit of approximately HK$90.66
million (2020: approximately HK$23.50 million) for the year ended
31 December 2021. The increase in gross profit was mainly from the
contribution by NTEC in Canada and the increase in crude oil price
in Argentina.

The Group recognised gain on bargain purchase (negative goodwill)
of approximately HK$407.66 million arising from the acquisition of
a private Canadian oil and gas company as a result of the difference
between the fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value
of the net assets acquired. The fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed were based on BMI Appraisal
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer with no
connection to the Group.

General and administrative expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$109.85 million,
representing an increase of approximately 177.1% as compared to
approximately HK$39.64 million in 2020. This was mainly due to
the consolidating of NTEC's post-acquisition results and expenses
incurred in relation to merger and acquisition projects.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not
recognise any further impairment loss on right-of-use assets. (2020:
approximately HK$5.82 million).

The Group however recognised net investment loss in respect
of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$40.94 million (2020: HK$29.62 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The increase in net investment loss
by 38.2% was due to adverse capital market conditions during the
year.

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
was approximately HK$13.93 million, which represents an increase
of approximately 25.3% as compared to approximately HK$11.12
million in 2020.

Share of losses of joint ventures decreased by approximately
HK$7.07 million from approximately HK$7.08 million in 2020 to
approximately HK$5,000 in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$14.23 million (2020: approximately
HK$14.94 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a profit
for the year of approximately HK$329.40 million (2020: loss of
approximately HK$79.49 million), mainly as a result of the gain on
bargain purchase on the acquisition of a private Canadian oil and
gas company which was completed on 21 September 2021 as well
as its subsequent operation profit.

Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
approximately HK3.76 cents (2020: loss per share of approximately
HKO0.91 cents).

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

In respect of the aggregate net proceeds of approximately
HK$557.23 million (2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds”) raised
from the subscription of shares in July 2016 and November 2016,
amongst which approximately HK$536.79 million had been used
from the subscription date to 31 December 2021 in accordance
with its intended use as stated in the circular of the Company dated
28 June 2016, and the announcements of the Company dated
28 October 2016 and 27 August 2018 and 26 March 2020. As at
31 December 2020, the unused balance of the 2016 Subscription
Shares Proceeds was approximately HK$131.04 million. The actual
use of the 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds during the year ended
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$0.06 million for Argentina
operational purposes, approximately HK$79.36 million for investment
in oil and gas, power generation and renewable and approximately
HK$31.18 million for investment in short-term financial instruments
and general administrative purposes including the repayment of debt
and interest. As at 31 December 2021, the total unused balance of
2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds was approximately HK$20.44
million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In respect of the net proceeds of approximately HK$736.40 million
("Open Offer Proceeds”) raised from the open offer in April 2017,
amongst which approximately HK$468.18 million had been used
from the date of subscribing the open offer to 31 December 2021
in accordance with its intended use as stated in the circular of the
Company dated 28 February 2017, the offering memorandum of
the Company dated 27 March 2017, and the announcement of
the Company dated 27 August 2018, 26 March 2020 and 29 April
2020. On 18 March 2021, the Company announced changes on its
intended use of the unused balances of the Open Offer Proceeds.
Details of the changes were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 18 March 2021. As at 31 December 2020, the
unused balance of the Open Offer Proceeds was approximately
HK$473.77 million. The actual use of the Open Offer Proceeds
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$47.59 million for investment in oil and gas, power generation
and renewable energy and approximately HK$157.96 million for
expansion of metal commodities trading. As at 31 December 2021,
the unused balance of the Open Offer Proceeds was approximately
HK$268.22 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEE W& D

The following table summarises the use of net proceeds for the 2016

TERBAHEE=—ZFT =

—F+=A=t-AL

Subscription Shares Proceeds and Open Offer Proceeds during the FEWH -ZE— NERBEBRMDAEHRE L AR
year ended 31 December 2021. BEMSRENNFERIBFERAS
Actual
Unused use of Unused
amount of Change in net proceeds amount of Proposed
net proceeds use of during the  net proceeds  change in use  New allocation
as at proceeds year ended as at of proceeds  for remaining
31 December on 18 March 31 December 31 December as at date portion of
2020 2021 2021 2021 of this report proceeds
Bz
ZE--F
R=B-2F R-B--F& +ZA=t-H HZB=-F
+=A=1+-H =Et+AR LFEH +ZA=+-H RARE RS BTEHD
WHEREEE  FBNERE  FBLERE WMREHERE  FEXRERR FiggE
HRBALHE 288 ZERKEALE ZHADRLE ZEEEE BHAR
HKS'million HKS'million HK$'million HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million
BEATL AEAT BEAT BEATL AEAT BEATL
(Note 3)
(f5E3)
2016 Subscription Share Proceeds —E-~ERBRH
frgRE
- Argentina operational purposes ~ — P {RIEEEE ) 20.50 - (0.06) 2044 (20.44) (Note 4) -
(Hizt4)
- Investment in oil and gas, power  — R ERHEAAR 79.36 - (79.36) - - -
generation and renewable energy  EERAEAER
- Investment in short to medium term — %4 52 1% H & 3118 - (31.18) - 2044 2044
financial instruments and general ~ £BIER
administrative purposes —RITHEH
Total ait 131.04 - (110.60) 20.44 - 2044
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB W

K7 #r

Actual
Unused use of Unused
amount of Change in net proceeds amount of Proposed
net proceeds use of during the  net proceeds  change in use  New allocation
as at proceeds year ended as at of proceeds  for remaining
31 December on 18 March 31 December 31 December as at date portion of
2020 2021 2021 2021 of this report proceeds
BE
ZE--f
R=B-%2F R-F--£ +ZA=t-H R-B=-F
+ZA=t-H =Et+AR LEEN TZAZ+-B  REABEAHS BTH2
WHEREEE  FERERER  FBLERE NAEHERE  FEXRERR FiggE
HRBACHE 288 ZERKEALE ZHADRLE LEEEY ENOE
HK$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million
BEATL AEAT B8R BEATL AEAT BEATL
(Note 3)
(fi5E3)
Open Offer Proceeds NERERSNE
- Argentina operational purpose  — P {RIEEEE &) 59.29 (59.29) - - -
~ Investment in oil and gas, power  — R ERHEARR 150.00 59.29 (47.59) wym(mm) - 161.70
generation and renewable energy  EERABEHER (FirzEr)
— Expansion of metal commodities —REEBERE S 264.48 - (157.96)  106.52 (Note 2) - 106.52
trading (FirzE2)
Total CHl 47377 - (205.55) 268.22 - 268.22
Notes: Bt 5

1.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 July 2021, the
unused amount of net proceeds will be utilised on or before 30 June 2022. It
is expected that the use of the unutilised proceeds will be postponed to on or
before the year ending 31 December 2023. In the previous years, the Group
investigated multiple investment opportunities, but had deferred utilising
the proceeds due to inherent uncertainties that exist with the opportunities,
regarding to the timing and outcome of negotiations with counterparties.

The unused amount of net proceeds as at 31 December 2021 is expected to be
utilised on or before the year ending 31 December 2023.

Details of the change in use of proceeds are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 18 March 2021 and 29 July 2021.

Details of the change in use of proceeds are set out in the paragraph headed
“Change in use of proceeds” to this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group maintained a treasury policy (as reviewed or modified
from time to time when deemed necessary) for the investment
of surplus cash. Surplus cash is mainly maintained in the form of
term deposits with the licensed banks. The management of the
Group closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that
the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

The Group entered into certain derivative financial instruments
for economic hedging purposes in order to mitigate the financial
impact of price fluctuations in inventories of precious metals and
gold bullion held by the Group. The use of these derivative financial
instruments is closely monitored and controlled by the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$684.14 million (31 December 2020:
HK$649.84 million) and the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$494.96 million (31 December 2020: HK$640.92
million).

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 December 2021
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar,
Canadian Dollar, Argentine Peso and Renminbi.

As at 31 December 2021, total equity of the Group was
approximately HK$1,101.48 million (31 December 2020: HK$758.96
million). Net asset value per share equated to approximately HK$0.13
(31 December 2020: approximately HK$0.09). Debt ratio, calculated
as total liabilities divided by total assets, was approximately 36.6%
(31 December 2020: approximately 25.7%).

The Group financed its operations generally from a combination
of working capital, borrowings and proceeds from the issuance of
shares of the Company.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have unsecured debt
securities and unsecured short-term loan (31 December 2020:
unsecured debt securities of approximately HK$141.32 million
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar and carrying interest at fixed rate
and unsecured short-term loan of approximately HK$4.75 million
denominated in Renminbi and carrying interest at fixed rate).

EEENWmR DT

AEBERFABRBESETREZEBRE
(ERRA/VER TR RER) - BRA
SETEURBRTEMEINTAFE- K
SENEEEZIERAKEZRBESN
o AHERANEEE RAVHERARNE
THZzEEH/RK

AEEFVETHREEBESTREZITESR
TAUBEASEMFEECBFERE K
ERRBMBEE - NEEET ) ER MIE
BIZETESRTAZER-

R-ZB-_—F+_A=1+—0 KEENRH
B EFEX 5684,140,0008 0 (— T -4
+ = A=-+—H : 649,840,000/ 7T ) * M A &
B r3IR e KIR e FEBWA B494,960,0007% 7T
—E-ZFHF+ - A=-+—H 640,920,000/
TT) °
AEBR-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HzZH:
FREeEEWEELUETL - Ex M iR
EHRRRAREE-

R-ZTE-—F+-A=+—8 ANEE#EHR
BEEL) /51,101,480,0008 T (ZE -2 &
+ = A=4+—H:758,960,000& 7T) - F &
EFEHRSERY013B L (ZE2_2F+=A7
=+ —H:%0.09%87T) - EHELE (REER
HRIAEELBETE)NA66% (ZE-F
F+_A=+—H:#257%) °

AEE-RUEZEES HEERARAH
TROZABFREAREERNES -

BE

RZE-_—F+_A=+—"H AEBEWTE
ERRESESLREREREHER(ZZE=
BE+-A=+—B :UBTHE WIRETF
F 5T B A K IR E 15 8 %5 49141,320,0007%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBEWR DN

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2021, gearing ratio, calculated on the basis
of interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity, was 0%
(31 December 2020: 19.25%).

Charge on Assets
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (31 December 2020: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, save as disclosed in the Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities (31 December 2020: Nil).

Capital Commitments
Details of the capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 35 of the consolidated financial statements.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial risks.

The Group’s business of commodities trading is exposed to
development risk, as well as supply chain risk. The Group mitigates
these risk factors by developing its customer base in order to
achieve better operating performance on its commodities trades,
and also by expanding its supplier base to achieve a stable supply of
commodities.

The Group's business activities in exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil are susceptible to geological,
exploration and development risks. The Group strives to establish and
maintain comprehensive technical and operational teams. Through
detailed planning, analysis and discussion amongst the teams, and
with support from experienced consultants and experts, the Group
is able to manage and mitigate the risks arising from changes in the
business environment to a reasonably acceptable level.

In the normal course of business, the Group is exposed to credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, price risk arising from
prices fluctuation of crude oil and commodities, and equity price risk
arising from its investment in equity securities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition to the abovementioned risks and uncertainties, there may
be other risks and uncertainties which the Group has not identified,
or is aware of, or considers it to be of minimal impact to the Group
presently, which however has the potential to become significant in
the future.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Argentine
Peso and Renminbi. Most of these assets and liabilities are in the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to foreign exchange risk is primarily
those from the Group's exploration and production activities in
Canada and Argentina and investments in foreign companies. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group will monitor the foreign
exchange exposures on an on-going basis and will consider hedging
instruments should the need arise.

Employees

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 99 (2020:
44) permanent employees in Hong Kong, Canada, Argentina
and China. Total employee remuneration (including directors’
remuneration and benefits) for the year ended year ended
31 December 2021 was amounted to approximately HK$30.99
million (2020: approximately HK$16.38 million). The Group provides
its employees with competitive remuneration packages relative to
their job performance, qualifications, experience, and prevailing
market conditions in the respective geographical locations and
businesses in which the Group operates. The Group also operates
mandatory defined contribution retirement benefits schemes for its
employees in Hong Kong, Canada, Argentina and China as required
by the applicable laws and regulations of the countries where the
staff is employed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, social communities and
governments to meet its objectives and long-term goals. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Business Review"”, there was no
material or significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers,
customers and/or stakeholders during the year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On 21 September 2021, the Company, through two indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries, entered into the definitive agreements to provide
a Loan to NTEC in Canada as well as to acquire all of the shares
of the NTEC for a total commitment of C$20,000,001 (equivalent
to approximately HK$122 million). After the completion of the
acquisition, NTEC became an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Details of the acquisition were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 September 2021.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associated companies, and
joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Change in use of proceeds

The Group’s wholly owned Argentina subsidiary continues to
generate cash and be financially self-sufficient from its oil production
in Los Blancos Concession. Therefore, the Board of the Company has
resolved to reallocate HK$20.44 million from the unutilised 2016
Subscription Share Proceeds, which was set for Argentina operational
purposes, and to re-designate this amount for the purposes of
investment in short to medium term financial instruments and
general administrative purposes. The Board considered this latest
proposed change in use of proceeds was in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEE W& D

The following table summarises the latest proposed change in use of
proceeds and the resulting new allocation for the unutilised amount
of net proceeds of the 2016 Subscription Share Proceeds at the date

of this annual report.

Unused amount of

TRBAPTER

BRBzZRNEZEERH

HEHRAFHRARZ — T RFRBERND
PSR F A AR SR ZEN DA -

Actual use of net
proceeds during

Proposed change
in use of proceeds

New allocation for

net proceeds as at the year ended as at date of  remaining portion
31 December 2020 31 December 2021 this report of proceed
WZBZ2F REE-B--F
+ZA=1-H +ZA=1+-H RARE RS
WHBRERE LEEMSNERE FERERE HBTHIMERE
Intended use RERZ HRBALE ZERRAR pA:+1 I ZEHAE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HKS million
BEAT AEAT BEATL BERATL
2016 Subscription Share Proceeds: ZE-RERBRAMEHRE:
- Argentina operational purposes -PREEEE N 20.50 (0.06) (20.44) -
- Investment in oil and gas, power -RERARRAR: 79.36 (79.36) - -
generation, and renewable energy RERIBELERR
- Investment in short to medium term -RERHErEEHTA 31.18 (31.18) 20.44 20.44
financial instruments and general R—ROKEH
administrative purposes
Total ait 131.04 (110.60) - 2044
Significant Investments BEARE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and gold investment in gold bullion
amounting to approximately HK$81.53 million and approximately
HK$66.08 million respectively.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss comprised of listed equity
securities, listed debt securities, unlisted debt securities and
an unlisted investment fund amounting to approximately
HK$28.65 million, approximately HK$2.40 million,
approximately HK$36.79 million and approximately HK$13.69
million respectively.

R-E-—F+-A=+—HB AEEEAE
AREEFAEBER L SREERRES K
M=E2EE DR A#81,530,000 7T K &)
66,080,000/ 7T °

i3

(i)

BAREBEFSAREZEHMEE

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8 &X&EE
BAnRBEHIMAEGZ EREEREL
MRAZS  FmEFES FELME
BEL-IEIELETHREES DA
#4928,650,000/%8 7T * 2,400,000/ 7T * 49
36,790,000/ 7T & #713,690,000/% It ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENW&R DT

As at 31 December 2021, details of the listed equity securities

are set out below:

REHZHBRHIMT

Net fair value
(gains)/loss for

Fair-value at year ended
Name of company Principal business 31 December 2021 31 December 2021
BE-2=-—-%
R-B=--F +=A=+-H
+=—A=+-—H LEEAREE
NCIER TEEK MAREE (k) BEFHE
HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEAT
Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings  Sales and distribution of natural gas 10.70 32.58
Limited (Stock code: 6828) and other products (Note (i)
(Note (ii)) AARREMERIFEE R (PR EEG) )
ERMRRERERERAA Pk c!
(& 17 5% - 6828)
(B &EGi))
NWS Holdings Limited Development of, investment in and/ 3.80 (0.06)
(Stock Code: 659) or operation of roads, commercial (Note (i)
elEEEAR AR aircraft leasing, construction and (BE3EG))
(B R 5% 659) insurance; and investment in and/
or operation of environmental
and logistic projects, facilities and
transport
B BARKEE BE
RRBHAZ KER/
S RIRIE R
BE RieREHKRE
China Overseas Land & Property development and 6.62 (0.57)
Investment Ltd. investment and other operation (Note (i)
(Stock code: 688) MEERIINEAREAM (BEEEG))
HEEINERBR AR E
(P& 5% - 688)
D Health International Inc. The online healthcare platform and 3.75 3.25
(Stock code: 6618) online retail pharmacy in China (Note (i)
REBERROBRAR PRESGBREETAR (PR EEG) )
(B H5%:6618) EHGZTEHRE
Xiaomi Coporation Development and sales of 3.78 1.20
(Stock code: 1810) smartphone, internet of things (Note (i)
NRER (R HA5E: 1810) and lifestyles products, provision (B=EG))
of services
RERHEEERTH KB
RREEmM RERS
28.65 36.40
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Note:

(i) The amounts represented (gains)/losses arising from the change in fair
value for the year ended 31 December 2021.

(i) Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings Limited halted trading from 18 January
2021. As there was an absence of quoted prices for the shares which
were suspended for trading, the fair value was determined by valuation
conducted by the independent professional valuer. The fair value was
estimated based on the net asset valuation approach.

The carrying value for each of the above listed equity securities
is less than 5% of the total assets of the Group.

At as 31 December 2021, the Group held two investments of
debt securities listed in Hong Kong or overseas, two unlisted
debt investments and an unlisted fund. The carrying value for
each of these investments is less than 5% of the total assets of
the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recognised a net investment loss of approximately HK$40.94
million, which comprised interest and dividend income of
approximately HK$3.93 million and a loss arising from the
change in fair value of approximately HK$44.87 million, on
those investments in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

(iij) Gold investment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held gold bullion at
a fair value of approximately HK$66.08 million. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a
loss arising from the change in fair value of approximately
HK$2.51 million on the gold bullion which was largely
offset by the hedging gains on derivative financial
instruments for the gold investment amounting to
HK$2.90 million. The purpose of holding gold investment
is to achieve capital appreciation. Historically, gold has
been an effective inflation proofing commodity.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD WEHREE

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material B EXFHBEEIN REBRNKERB H%E
subsequent events after and up to the date of this annual report. RHERFHREBYEEERNRELEER-
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL AND GAS RESERVES
MERERBRH#EZER

CANADA

The Reserves attributable to the Group, expressed in million boe
("“mmboe”) are as follows:

Mineral Acreage
Greater Sierra Area

EEmE
Greater Sierraits &

Horn River Basin Horn River& i
Willesden Green Willesden Green
Wapiti Wapiti

Notes:

The technical report in respect of the Reserves attributable to the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was prepared, using probabilistic methods
by GLJ Ltd., an oil and gas resource consulting firm located in Calgary, Canada,
providing petroleum resource assessment and related services worldwide, in
accordance with the procedures and standards contained in the Petroleum
Resources Management System (PRMS) of the Society of Petroleum Engineers
(SPE).

Horn River Basin and Greater Sierra Area is located in the province of British
Columbia, and Willesden Green and Wapiti is located in the province of Alberta.

The Group holds approximately 92% average working interest in the mineral
acreage on a Held By Production ("HBP"). HBP leases are continued indefinitely
as long as there are producing wells on the leases and annual mineral rentals
are paid. If production ceases, the government can issue a one-year notice to
return wells to production or mineral rights can revert to the Crown. In British
Columbia, a well requires 720 hours of production per year to be considered
productive. In Alberta, 12 months of continuous non-production result in an
inactive designation.

The above Reserves mainly comprise of natural gas (approximately 95%), and
natural gas liquid and oil.
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL AND GAS RESERVES
R RAEF AR EE SN

LOS BLANCOS CONCESSION

The oil Reserves in the Los Blancos Concession are as follows:

LOS BLANCOS & E
A Los BlancostFaF#E R 2 A MREE N :

ANEERl DI d s At 31 December
2021 2020
R=B=—F R-ZE_TF
+T-A=+—0 |gyiikl=
(o]]| Qil

(in mmbbl) (in mmbbl)
yap:: yap

Category Gross (100%) BRI 45T (100%) (B&®) (B&%)

Reserves 2

Proved REA 1.8

Probable 1w 1.8
3.6

Notes: B 5 -

(1) InJuly 2016, New Times Energy became a 50% participating partner in the Los (1) RZ-ZZ—AXFt A HERERE R4S EPampa
Blancos Concession (formerly known as Chirete Concession) having met all the Energia S.A. (Ai#EPetrobras Argentina S.A.) /A=
conditions precedent as stipulated in the farm-in agreement entered into with T-RFWALZEALHZ A LRGN
Pampa Energia S.A. (formerly Petrobras Argentina S.A.) in April 2015. X #Los Blancos#5aT# @ (AITE ChiretefF 7T i [E )

50%2 875 -
(2)  The technical reports in respect of the Reserves for the year ended 31 December (2) AHEE—_Z--—EN_T-_TF+_-_F=+—

2021 and 2020 was prepared, using probabilistic methods by J@R Consultura
S.A., an independent technical adviser and Gaffney, Cline & Associates, Inc.,
an international oil and gas consultancy and subsidiary of Baker Hughes, in
accordance with the definitions and guidelines established by the Society of
Petroleum Engineers.

In October 2018, New Times Energy spudded the HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory
well (the “Well"”). The Well was completed on December 2018. As a result of the
positive indications from the Well, New Times Energy prepared and submitted
an oil discovery report to the provincial authorities of Salta (the “Authorities”)
on 26 December 2018. Following successful extended testing of the Well in
early 2019, New Times Energy filed a commerciality declaration and exploitation
permit request to the Authorities on 26 April 2019. The permit was granted on
15 October 2020 under Decree 622/20, formally entitling the Group to produce
crude oil in the area for the next 25 years.

HILFEREN RN HRE ThHI@R Consultura S.A.
(B BT EER ) K Gaffney, Cline & Associates, Inc
(— P BBl R R A 7] & A Baker HughesH) T /&
ANENIREAH T2 E & 6 F 6T & RiESIK
A RARR -

RZZ—NF+A FEHRERZEMHLG.SL.LB.
x2001 VR A ([ZBRHA]) ZERAAR-T
—NE+ZARK -BRZERFNRITRE
BRERR-ZZE-N\F+_A-F+"AHERHA
EREERE(EREXAHMERRE R
T-NENERARKDE FTRERERRNA=-Z
—NFOAZ+ABRAEREXEEMRALRE
FRFAER-RIEFE22205 5% HABKR-E
ZZF+ATEARYE ERXBEAEEREKRK
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, aged 67, was appointed as an
executive Director in February 2008 and the Chairman in May 2009.
Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, the United
States of America ("USA"); a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering
from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Being a member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Mr. Cheng is a professional engineer with extensive
experience in property development and construction management.

Mr. Cheng joined Hip Hing Construction Company Limited in 1984
as a project manager and was subsequently appointed as director.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Cheng was transferred to New World
Development (China) Limited as a director and an assistant general
manager, overseeing property development in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC"). He was a director of NWS Service Management
Limited from 1997 to 2006, and was mainly responsible for
the construction and the electrical and mechanical engineering
businesses and pursuing business opportunities in the PRC. Mr.
Cheng is the managing director of Cheung Hung Development
(Holdings) Limited, principally engaging in property development
in both Hong Kong and the PRC. He was an executive director of
International Entertainment Corporation from January 2008 to June
2017, which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, aged 69, was appointed as an executive
Director in June 2017. Mr. Tang joined the Group as general
manager in August 2015. He brings with him over 20 years of senior
management experience and has held top executive positions with
various international companies prior to joining the Group.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Formally trained as a structural engineer, Mr. Tang was a Chartered
Engineer in the United Kingdom (“"UK") as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in USA and Canada. Author and co-author
of peer-reviewed publications in several technical journals and
conferences, he is also the holder of U.S. Patent US6329589
pertaining to wireless transmission of solar power for exterior curtain
wall in buildings.

Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering, Magna Cum
Laude, from the University of Massachusetts, USA; a Master’s degree
in Engineering from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and
a Graduate-Level Diploma in Financial Engineering from Stanford
University, USA.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in March 2019. Mr. Lee is currently a senior vice president
of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (“CTFE") with responsibilities
in making strategic and private equity investments globally. CTFE
is an indirect subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited which is
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lee joined CTFE in
March 2013 and has over 15 years of professional experience in
corporate finance, investment, international capital markets and
asset management. He previously worked at the investment banking
department of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited and Deutsche Bank AG in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee holds a
Master of Science degree in Accounting and Finance from The
London School of Economics and Political Science to the University
of London in London, United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor,
United States of America. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
Charterholder.

Mr. Lee is currently a non-executive director of Integrated Waste
Solutions Group Holdings Limited which shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

HAETHEEELABIRMRREE DRER
Bl (B FMAeRTIZM AREEER
RmeEXadMAeRE TRAM B 54 S A
ARHEMAEESHRE TEME T R
WERRBMH G BERAMEEREGR
MMEEEFIINBRIGEABEBIEENE
B8 WRILTEE MG ERTMESN (F5 A
US6329589) °

BELBMERERE CRESEXBFER
EREBTATRELSMU (BEF) KB
MABHRRORITEBELEM AREE
SEAHRBSRITERATAEE-

FHITES

ZEEFELE 39 R - hE=ZAEZT
BIEPTES - FTRABABARNBLEEER
ARI(TAXRBELEE] SRBEEE BERIK
RISFFLE R ER E - AAREREAChow Tai
Fook Capital Limited &% i & 2 &) - i1 Chow
Tai Fook Capital Limited & 7872 &) B #28 A% % 28
TEAR_TE-—ZFE=-ZAMABAARBLE"
TRERE -RE BREATMISGMNEEEE
FHEAS THAFNEELR LA REE
ERLBELEITHERARMEEESRIT (B
BRI BRI IE- T A EHA R
BB BUa i EERgstElemEEE -2
UAMERZPERERRASIEEREE L2
- FEABTERIOMAMETERRERH
Ao

FRARBEERREBEERARHIEMIT
B HEROMRBRM LT

Annual Report 2021 « —Z = — 4 F#H 33



34

INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in March 2013. Mr. Yung holds
a Master's degree in Business Administration from the University of
East Asia, Macau. He is a member of the Institute of Management
and a fellow of the Chartered Management Institute. Mr. Yung has
been engaged in finance and banking businesses for over 27 years.
He was the chief executive officer of Landbridge Holdings Limited,
the deputy chief executive officer of Industrial & Commercial
Bank of China (Macau) Limited and an executive director, deputy
general manager and alternate chief executive officer of Industrial
& Commercial International Capital Limited (currently known as
ICBC International Holdings Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China Limited.

Mr. CHIU, Wai On, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Chiu is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the UK. He possesses extensive professional experience in accounting
and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is currently an independent non-
executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited, whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. HUANG, Victor, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2020. Mr. Huang has over 29 years
of experience in professional accounting, capital market and merger
and acquisition. Mr. Huang joined PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong
Kong in January 1993 and admitted to partnership in July 2005.
He left PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong in July 2014. From July
2014 to August 2017, he was a partner of KPMG in Hong Kong.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang is currently an independent non-executive director of
(i) Laobaixing Pharmacy Chain Joint Stock Company (stock code:
603883.SH), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange;
(i) Qingdao Haier Biomedical Co., Ltd. (stock code: 688139.
SH), a company listed on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the
Shanghai Stock Exchange; and the following companies which
are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, namely (iii) COSCO
SHIPPING Energy Transportation Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1138), (iv)
ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited (stock code: 2180), (v)
Scholar Education Group (stock code: 1769) and (vi) Topsports
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 6110).
an independent non-executive director of Trinity Limited (stock code:
0891) from December 2018 to December 2020, China Bright Culture
Group (stock code: 1859) from February 2020 to November 2020
and Evergrande Property Services Group (stock code: 6666) from
November 2020 to November 2021.

Mr. Huang was

Mr. Huang is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association. He is also a Certified Independent Non-
executive Director by the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang
received a bachelor’s degree of arts from the University of California,
Los Angeles in September 1992.
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INFORMATION OF MANAGEMENT TEAM
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, was appointed as an executive
Director in February 2008 and the Chairman in May 2009. Mr. Cheng
holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Civil and Environmental Engineering
from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, the United States of
America (“USA"); a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering from
the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and a Master's degree
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Being a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,
Mr. Cheng is a professional engineer with extensive experience in
property development and construction management.

Mr. Cheng joined Hip Hing Construction Company Limited in 1984
as a project manager and was subsequently appointed as director.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Cheng was transferred to New World
Development (China) Limited as a director and an assistant general
manager, overseeing property development in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC"). He was a director of NWS Service Management
Limited from 1997 to 2006, and was mainly responsible for
the construction and the electrical and mechanical engineering
businesses and pursuing business opportunities in the PRC. Mr.
Cheng is the managing director of Cheung Hung Development
(Holdings) Limited, principally engaging in property development
in both Hong Kong and the PRC. He was an executive director of
International Entertainment Corporation from January 2008 to June
2017, which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, was appointed as an executive Director
in June 2017. Mr. Tang joined the Group as general manager
in August 2015. He brings with him over 20 years of senior
management experience and has held top executive positions with
various international companies prior to joining the Group.

Formally trained as a structural engineer, Mr. Tang was a Chartered
Engineer in the United Kingdom (“UK") as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in USA and Canada. Author and co-author
of peer-reviewed publications in several technical journals and
conferences, he is also the holder of U.S. Patent US6329589
pertaining to wireless transmission of solar power for exterior curtain
wall in buildings.
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INFORMATION OF MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering, Magna Cum
Laude, from the University of Massachusetts, USA; a Master’s degree
in Engineering from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and
a Graduate-Level Diploma in Financial Engineering from Stanford
University, USA.

OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

Mr. CAVALLERI, Pablo, is a Geologist and is currently the
Operations Manager of the Group in Argentina. He graduated at
the National University of Salta Argentina in 2005 with a bachelor’s
degree in Geology. Pablo has 15 years of experience in the oil
and gas industry, predominately in Argentina and Saudi Arabia.
Pablo joined the Group in January 2014 initially as a Development
Geologist but later promoted to Operations Manager from 2017.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in companies such as
Geoservices, Orion Excel Company, Schlumberger D&M Middle East
And Asia as a Field Engineer (Saudi Arabia), and YPF Argentina
as a Development Geologist. Pablo is an author and co-author of
several peer-reviewed publications including but not limited to
publication in the Technical National and International Congress for
Oil Discovery in Ordovician Prerift Sequences Las Brefias Formation,
Lomas de Olmedo Sub-Basin, Northwestern Argentina; Argentinian
Geological Congress, August 2017, Tucuman-Argentina; Exploration
and Development Hydrocarbon Congress, November 2018, Mendoza
— Argentina, and AAPG 2019 International Convention & Exhibition,
Buenos Aires, August 28th 2019, Argentina. Pablo is also the Vice-
President of the 2nd of Directive committee of IAPG (Qil and Gas
Argentinian Institute), branch office Tartagal, Salta Argentina since
December 2017.

Mr. WONG, Yu King, joined the Group as Senior Financial Controller
in April 2021. Mr. Wong graduated from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration
(Professional Accountancy). He has over 16 years of experience in
auditing, taxation and commercial sectors including but not limited
to chief financial officer, finance director, financial controller and
corporate director in various listed companies and private companies.
He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2009.
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INFORMATION OF MANAGEMENT TEAM
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Mr. WONG, Pak To Pedro, joined the Company in November
2021. He is the Operations Controller of the Company. Mr. Wong
graduated from the University of Toronto with Bachelor Degree in
Economics and Actuarial Science, and he is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining
the Company, he worked at various international companies and
has extensive experiences in the field of accounting and financial
management.

Mr. SMITH, Tim, is currently the Chief Operating Officer for the
Group in Canada. He attended both Medicine Hat College studying
Power Engineering and Southern Alberta Institute of Technology
(SAIT) studying Instrumentation Technology. Mr. Smith has 36 years
of experience in the Canadian oil and gas industry and has been
with the Canadian assets since January 2020. Previous experience
includes companies such as Poco Petroleums, Seagull Energy Canada,
Apex Controls and Instrumentation, Markwest Resources and
Quicksilver Resources. Mr. Smith has held various roles of increasing
responsibility ranging from Production Engineering and Operations,
Facility Engineering and Construction, Drilling and Completions.

Mr. KARR, Ryan, is a Professional Engineer and currently a Senor
Exploitation Engineer for the Group in Canada. He graduated
from the University of Victoria in 2004 with a bachelor’'s degree
in Engineering. Ryan has 20 years of experience in the Canadian
oil and gas industry and has been with the Canadian assets since
2013. Previous experience includes companies such as Bonavista,
Open Range, and Endurance Energy, with positions ranging
from Exploitation to Production Engineering. Ryan has extensive
experience with asset evaluation and economic modeling. Mr.
Karr is a member of the Association of Professional Engineers and
Geoscientists.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of New
Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”) present their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in the above sections, no significant event affecting the Group has
occurred since the end of the Year.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group's performance using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Financial Highlights” of
this annual report.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and
discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance
are included in the respective sections headed “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Review"”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management of the Company are
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration during the Year. The Directors are also not aware of any
material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against
the Group during the Year.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 101 to 102 of this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 219 of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2020: Nil).

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and investors
to make informed investment decisions relating to the Company, the
Board adopted a dividend policy on 26 March 2019 (the “Dividend
Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to
declare any dividend in the future and the amount of dividend to be
declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including
but not limited to:

a. the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

b.  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

c.  the liquidity positions of the Group;

d. the future cash requirements and availability of the Group,
including its expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

e. any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

f.  the general market conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

g. any other factor that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration, payment
and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s discretion.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
period from Monday, 20 June 2022 to Thursday, 23 June 2022 (both
days inclusive), during which no transfers of shares will be registered,
for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held
on Thursday, 23 June 2022 (the “AGM"). In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 June 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 21 September 2021, the Company through two indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries, entered into the definitive agreements to provide
a Loan to Shanghai Energy Corporation as well as to acquire all of
the shares of Shanghai Energy Corporation for a total commitment
of C$20,000,001 (equivalent to approximately HK$122,000,000), (i)
New Times Energy Canada Inc. (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) and Shanghai Energy Corporation entered into
the New Loan Agreement pursuant to which New Times Energy
Canada Inc. provisionally agreed to lend C$20,000,000 (or its US
equivalent) to Shanghai Energy Corporation for repayment of all
of the indebtedness owing by Shanghai Energy Corporation to
Shanghai Sinooil Energy Holdings (Hongkong) Co., Limited under the
Existing Loan Agreement with the remaining balances to be paid to
Shanghai Sinooil Energy Holdings (Hongkong) Co., Limited as return
of capital; (ii) United Oil and Resources Trading Ltd (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Shanghai Sinooil Energy
Holdings (Hongkong) Co., Limited and Shanghai Energy Corporation
entered into the SPA pursuant to which United Oil and Resources
Trading Ltd provisionally agreed to acquire and Shanghai Sinooil
Energy Holdings (Hongkong) Co., Limited provisionally agreed to
sell the entire issued share capital of Shanghai Energy Corporation
at a consideration of C$1; and (iii) United QOil and Resources Trading
Ltd, the Company, Shanghai Sinooil Energy Holdings (Hongkong)
Co., Limited and Shanghai Energy Corporation have entered into the
Transaction Steps Agreement pursuant to which the parties have set
out the sequence of the transaction steps of the Transactions. Upon
the Sale and Purchase Completion, Shanghai Energy Corporation will
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the results of Shanghai Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries will
be consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.
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Other than the acquisition mentioned above, for the year ended
31 December 2021, the Company has made no material acquisitions
and disposals.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DEBENTURES

There were no issue of bonds or debentures of the Company during
the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the share option scheme of the Company disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted on 17 May 2011 had a term of 10
years and was expired on 16 May 2021. No share option scheme is
currently in operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, no share options were
granted nor cancelled under the share option scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Company’s securities, they
are advised to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 32(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Pursuant to the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company’s contributed surplus of HK$740,880,000 is currently not
available for distribution. The Company’s share premium account
of HK$4,868,181,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for 70.15% and the largest
customer accounted for approximately 27.69% of the Group's total
revenue for the Year. The aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 54.24%
and the largest supplier accounted for approximately 21.55% of the
Group's total purchases from continuing operations for the Year.

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their associates, or
any shareholders of the Company (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital), had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers.
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EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS, EXEMPT CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Certain amounts of the transactions as set out in Note 34(b) and
Note 34(c) to the consolidated financial statements fall within rule
14A.76(1) or rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, but each of the
transactions sets out in Note 34(b) and Note 34(c) constitutes a
de minimis or fully exempt transaction which was free from the
reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in so far as they are applicable.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were/are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 35 of
this annual report.
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In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws and the code
provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. YUNG,
Chun Fai Dickie shall retire by rotation at the AGM and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Information on Directors
proposed for re-election will be set out in the circular to the
Shareholders accompanying the resolutions to re-elect them at the
AGM.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
and officers of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors and the
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets of the Company which may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duties. The Company has maintained liability
insurance to provide appropriate cover for the directors and officers
of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the Year, none of the Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries was party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, as recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) in respect of
information required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange by the Directors and/or chief executive of the Company
pursuant to the SFO or to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (or any other applicable code), there
were no interests, whether long or short positions, held or deemed
to be interested by any of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), nor had there been any rights to subscribe for any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations held or deemed to be interested by any of them as at
31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors and their respective associates was considered to have any
interest in any businesses that competes with or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee of the Company and approved by the Board, based
on the job responsibilities, the prevailing market conditions of
the industry and the Company’s remuneration policy, operating
performance and profitability.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in Notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement benefits schemes are set out in
Note 2.22(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the following corporations had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO and in accordance with information received
by the Company.
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Long position of substantial Shareholders’ interests in
issued ordinary shares of the Company

FERRRAQFACRTEERERZ
wr

Approximate

Number percentage
of issued of the total
ordinary issued share

Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held capital
e BT
e &7 R 2= 58
REEZRB 56, EantE ZTEBREE BRBE DL
(Note (vii))
(B RE(vii))
Max Sun Enterprises Limited Beneficially owned 5,737,129,098 65.50%
("Max Sun”) (Note (i))
BHTEERAT EmkE
([&F]) (MEEG))
Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,737,129,098 65.50%
(“CTFNL") (Note (ii))
BXEREABRAA LB R
(TAXRBREA]) (KIEEG))
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
("CTFHL") (Note (iii))
AR () BR AR ZiE A E R
(TAXBER]) (HEdi))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%

("CTFC") (Note (iv))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
(IcTrC 1) (BfF=E(v))

R AEES

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEGHRE

Approximate
Number percentage
of issued of the total
ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held capital
HE T
FiFE T R 2 48 2R
IREREH B, EEMtE ZERHAE BMABD
(Note (vii))
(B = (vii) )
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
Limited (“CYTFH") (Note (v))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) EEEE
Limited ([CYTFH J) (Bi&E(V))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il)  Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
Limited (“CYTFH-II") (Note (vi))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il) S4B E xS
Limited ([CYTFH-II J) (HFE(vi))
Elberta Holdings Limited Beneficially owned 794,850,000 9.07%

Notes:

BEunlEE

As at 31 December 2021:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The entire issued share capital of Max Sun was legally and beneficially owned by
CTENL.

CTENL held 100% direct interest in Max Sun and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares held by Max Sun.

CTFHL held 99.70% direct interest in CTFNL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFNL.

CTFC held 81.03% direct interest in CTFHL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFHL.

CYTFH held 48.98% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFC.

CYTFH-II held 46.65% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares of CTFC.

The approximate percentage of interests held was calculated on the basis of
8,758,880,988 ordinary shares of the Company in issue.

EE
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(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
recorded no other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section “Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions, Exempt Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions” in this directors’ report, no contract of significance had
been entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in information of Directors are set out below pursuant
to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- The annual remuneration of Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart,
the executive Director and chairman of the Company, has been
adjusted to HK$4,410,200;

- The annual remuneration of Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, the
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company,
has been adjusted to HK$4,704,000; and

- The annual remuneration of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, the non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee, has been adjusted to HK$525,200.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 73 to 89 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
subsequent events after 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, who will
retire at the conclusion of the AGM. PricewaterhouseCoopers, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to develop and grow while aiming
to improve its financial position, business operation and industry
reputation in order to create long-term value for shareholders.

By order of the Board

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

RE #HERERERE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

The Board hereby presents its 2021 Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") review, highlighting New Times Energy
Corporation Limited's (hereinafter “New Times Energy” or the
"Group”) ESG policies and performance, prepared in accordance
with the provisions as described in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and other relevant guidance set
out.

New Times Energy is principally engaged in the exploration,
production, and operation of oil and gas assets. Based on the
Group's scoping and materiality assessments, the Board reached
the consensus that the Canadian oil and gas assets acquired on
21 September 2021, together with its existing Argentina operation
were deemed pertinent for ESG reporting this financial year. With
regards to the Canadian operation, only the Post-Acquisition Period
performance is considered and disclosed.

Although the Group was involved in the business of commodities
trading (in particular physical gold and silver trading) during 2021,
this segment has been scoped out for ESG reporting purposes, due
to its immaterial environmental and social impact, relative to the
Group’s oil and gas businesses.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

During the year, New Times Energy continued to actively to engage
stakeholders to understand their ambitions and expectations in
the development / evolution of the Group’s business portfolio and
sustainability agenda.

In order to identify the most significant aspects of the Group for ESG
reporting purposes, key stakeholders including potential investors,
shareholders, professional bodies, peer companies, directors,
management and employees were considered and / or engaged to
understand the latest areas of interest, and current environmental
and sustainability reporting trends. Materiality considerations from
a strategic, operational and financial perspective also facilitated the
Board in setting the overall direction of this report.

New Times Energy strives to further involve and engage its
stakeholders in an effort to further improve the usefulness of its ESG
reporting. Our oil and gas concession partners are also periodically
consulted during operational committee meetings for their views and
suggestions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Interested stakeholders may locate ESG information of the Group
from the following sources:

o Annual general meeting and notices

o Annual reports, interim report, consolidated financial
statements and announcements

o Corporate website

o Investors briefings / Press releases

o Notice and circulars

o Bilateral contracts and supplier agreements

. Code of conduct
STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its Environmental,
Social and Governance initiatives via email at info@nt-energy.com

MISSION AND VISION ON SUSTAINABILITY

Mission

Being engaged in the oil and gas exploration and production
industry, New Times Energy operates under the mandate of “Health
& Safety First” by adopting latest best practices to ensure the
health and safety of its employees, contractors, customers and
communities. The Group strives to continuously improve its health &
safety management practices with the goal of achieving an injury-
free workplace at all times.

The Group is committed to ensuring all its plant and equipment
are operationally safe and free of hazards. Furthermore, it is
committed to ensuring its employees are properly trained in safe
working practices, and that they have a clear understanding of their
responsibilities for taking positive steps to improve health and safety.

New Times Energy is mindful of the public perceptions of the oil
& gas industry and its impact on the climate and the environment.
Therefore, since 2019 the Group has been passionate in the
investment and future development of clean energy for global
sustainability. The Group will continue to explore ways to work with
local authorities and governing bodies to achieve the common goal
of net zero emissions, through possible eco-investment opportunities,
such as Blue & Green Hydrogen and Carbon Capture, Utilization and
Sequestration (“CCUS").
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

RE #HERERERE

Vision

The Group is committed to its corporate social responsibility, health
and safety, environmental protection, human resources and labour
practices, and community involvement and sustainable value creation
policies when conducting business activities wherever it operates in.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

1.0. Environmental Impact and Legal Compliance
As an oil and gas exploration and production industry
participant, New Times Energy is well-aware of the
impacts and potential risks that its field operations pose
to the environment and the surrounding ecosystem.
The Group adopts best industry practices and guidelines
in its management of environmental risks arising from
its operations in Canada and Argentina. The Group
strictly complies with all relevant environmental laws
and regulations in the respective jurisdictions in which it
operates in.

1.1. Type of Emissions
During the year, the Group’s main emission sources were
from diesel fuel, electricity, water, natural gas and paper
consumption. With regards to emissions, our oil and gas
businesses are strictly regulated under the respective
Canadian federal and provincial acts and regulations, and
national laws and regulations of Argentina. Regulatory
updates are continually monitored to ensure the Group
remains compliant, and how potential amendments may
impact operations.

Fugitive emissions are unintentional releases of gas
or fumes resulting from production, processing,
transmission, storage, and delivery of gas. This may occur
from breaks or small cracks in seals, tubing, valves and
pipelines, or when lids or caps on equipment or tanks
have not been properly closed or tightened. In Canada,
the Group manages its fugitive emissions through its
Fugitive Emissions Management Program (“FEMP"”) and
Leak Detection and Repair (LDAR) in accordance with the
applicable provincial regulations and guidelines.
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1.2.

1.3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Fugitive emissions surveys or screening is completed
throughout the year to detect possible leaks to ensure
timely repair of equipment, where applicable. The FEMP
improves safety through early detection and repair of
emission sources, which in turn reduces Greenhouse Gas
("GHG") emissions and Volatile Organic Compounds
(VOCs). It also improves overall air quality and increases
operational efficiency.

GHG Emission

For the Post-Acquisition Period, there was a total of
approximately 88,106.3 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (tCO,-eq) greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide,
methane, and nitrous oxide) produced by the Canadian
assets (British Columbia and Alberta). The Canadian
asset’s gross production for the same period was
approximately 1,247,780 boe. The calculated carbon
intensity of scope 1 emissions was 0.0706 tCO,-eq/boe.

Regarding Argentina operation, there were 674.4 tonnes
(2020: 427.3 tonnes) of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO,-
eq) greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane,
and nitrous oxide) produced in the year. The Group's
gross annual production was 285,140 bbl (2020: 175,308
bbl) of crude oil. The calculated carbon intensity of scope
1, 2, and 3 combined was 0.0024 tCO2-eqg/bbl (2020:
0.0024 tCO,-eq/bbl).

Due to Scope 3 emissions from paper consumption and
wastewater treatment being not applicable for Canada
operation, and less than 0.5% of total greenhouse gas
emission for Argentina operation, these items have
been excluded for reporting purposes, by virtue of its
insignificance.

Hazardous Waste

During the process of producing oil and gas from the
Canada operation, hazardous waste may be generated
from possible minor spillage, replacement of spare parts
and lubrication oil, filters, rags, soaker pads and other
materials. No hazardous waste was generated during
the Post-Acquisition Period for Canada and Argentina
operations in 2021 (2020: 2.7 tonnes).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW
RE - -#HEREBEE

1.4.

1.5.

Non-Hazardous Waste

During the Post-Acquisition Period, the Canada operation
generated 33.6 tonnes of organic and inorganic waste.
Inorganic waste includes refuse while organic waste was
mainly the by-product generated from the facilities and
camps.

9,561.0 litres of waste oil were recycled by a third party
during the Post-Acquisition Period. Approximately 6,469.8
cubic meters (“m3”) of produced water was injected into
injection wells by the Canadian operation during the
same period.

The Argentina operation generated 7.9 tonnes of organic
and inorganic waste (2020: 6.9 tonnes). Inorganic waste
included plastic and glass, whilst organic waste was
mainly the by-product from the site catering.

Measures taken for the disposal of Hazardous and
Non-Hazardous Waste

Measures adopted for the disposal of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste in both its Canada and Argentina
operations include:

o Scheduled inspection and maintenance of plant and
equipment

o Transportation of contaminated material to
approved waste management facilities for
treatment, disposal and/or recycling, as applicable.

o Training and education of employees
o Conduct pre-job briefing

o Spillage prevention programs and remedial action
plans are imbedded as part of daily activities and
operational practices

. Waste volume reduction initiatives
o Close supervision

o Continuous improvement plans
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1.6.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

The hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are separated
at origin. For hazardous waste, the treatment, collection
and final disposal is managed by qualified professional
handlers. The Group provides directive procedures for
segregation and classification of non-hazardous waste
to aid recycling initiatives. For non-hazardous waste
treatment, the organic waste is buried and composted,
while the inorganic waste is incinerated. Non-hazardous
waste that cannot be treated or recycled may be managed
through direct landfill disposal or other alternative waste
disposal method, as appropriate.

Abandonment and Environment Restoration

In Canada, the Group is responsible for operating over
1,000 wells, of which approximately 800 wells are
presently active and producing hydrocarbons. In regard
to the approximately 200 inactive and non-producing
wells, the Group is committed to working closely with all
stakeholders to decommission and reclaim those sites to
their original land use.

When a decision is made to permanently cease operations
at a well site, pipeline or facility, the asset must be
decommissioned, remediated and reclaimed. A well is
considered decommissioned when abandonment of both
the downhole and surface components and all surface
equipment has been removed.

Once a site is fully decommissioned, environmental
assessments, remediation (if applicable) and reclamation
activities can commence. Initial environmental
assessments involve investigating a site for potential
environmental impacts and subsequently developing a
site-specific plan to achieve full reclamation, as necessary.

A risk-based closure approach will be used to evaluate
alternative remedial and reclamation options to reduce
costs and expedite the closure of the dormant sites.
This approach further allows the Group to identify more
environmentally friendly ways to manage site reclamation
activities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW
RE - -#HEREBEE

Environmental assessments were completed at 17
different well sites during Q3/Q4 of 2021. As part of the
Canadian government’s initiative to promote the increase
in restoration work, the Group received government
approved funding in the amount of C$9,500 for each of
the 17 well sites assessed.

The findings and recommendations identified in the
final reports will be rolled into the 2022 environmental
restoration work.

Use of Resources

2.0.

2.1

Electricity

Electricity consumption by the Canada operation during
the Post-Acquisition Period was approximately 234,412.7
Kilowatt-hour (kWh), with an energy intensity of 0.171
kWh/bbl. Whilst for the Argentina operation, it was
20,640 Kilowatt-hour (kWh) (2020: 17,200 kWh), with an
energy intensity of 0.0723 kWh/bbl for the year (2020:
0.098 kWh/bbl).

To embrace the Group’s efficient energy use initiative,
all staff is encouraged to minimize energy consumption,
where practicable. Examples include switching off any
unnecessary lighting and unused electronic equipment,
minimising the idling of motor vehicle engines when
temporarily waiting, turning down air conditioning, etc.
Furthermore, the Group has a procurement policy of
purchasing energy efficient equipment and extending the
use of assets / replacement intervals.

Fuel

The Group uses a combination of vans, pickup trucks and
cars for its personnel transportation. The Groups’ fleet
of motor vehicles operate using compressed natural gas
/ propane, gasoline or diesel. When selecting vehicles,
the Group considers factors including safety, reliability,
maintenance cost, and fuel efficiency, and price.
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2.2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

During the Post-Acquisition Period, Canada operation’s
fuel consumption of compressed natural gas / propane
was 71,021.9 litres, gasoline 20,489.1 litres, and diesel
82,580.7 litres. In Argentina, the fuels consumption for
the year was diesel 12,928 litres (2020: 8,619 litres).

Packaging Material

Minimal packaging material is used by the Group’s oil
and gas business. Natural gas produced by the Canada
operation is delivered by a network of pipelines operated
by third party companies. In Argentina, the production of
crude oil is stored in oil tanks at Los Blancos, before it is
despatched to customers by oil tanker trucks capable of
transporting approximately 35 m? per trip.

Environment and Natural Resources

3.0

Sustainability

Sustainability initiatives and green culture permeates
through the Group. We strive to operate in an
environmentally friendly and sustainable manner by
adopting good practices including:

o Use of recycled paper
o Printers configured to print double sided by default

o Return of used printer and copier ink toner cartridge
to manufacturer for recycling and reuse

o Switching-off lights, computers and office
equipment when not in use

o Replacement of energy efficient alternatives

o Adjustment of air conditioning settings to reduce
power consumption

For replaced furniture and computer equipment, the
Group's practice is to first offer these items to employees
for personal use, before it is disposed or recycled.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW
RE - -#HEREBEE

B. SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

4.0.

4.1.

Employment

New Times Energy fully recognises its employees are one
of its critical assets. Therefore, the policy of the Group is
to hire and retain employees with professional skills that
enable the Group to achieve its strategic objectives, in a
non-discriminatory matter. This is based on the following
recruitment principles:

o Respect and trust at all levels, in all circumstances
without exception

o Transparency and honesty in professional
relationship

o Open and effective communication
o Willingness to cooperate and help others
o Equal opportunity

Recruitment and compensation are based on qualification,
experience, skills and performance. The Group offers
competitive compensation and benefits packages in line
with the local market rates for comparable roles and
responsibilities in the industry. The Company’s hiring
practice is to recruit locally, with the exception of certain
key managerial, technical or professional posts, where it
may not be possible or appropriate to fill locally.

Promotion and Performance Evaluation

Promotion and salary increase, outside of the Group’s
discretionary annual inflationary increase, is subject
to a responsibilities and performance evaluation. An
individual’s promotion and remuneration are closely
correlated to their job responsibilities and performance.
The Group operates a policy of internal promotion,
whenever possible.
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4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

The Group ensures that its employees are evaluated on
their job performance through the application of objective
measures. The human resources department coordinates
and verify the performance of each employee, in relation
to mutually agreed objectives established at the beginning
of each appraisal year. The performance evaluation is
carried out once a year by the employee’s immediate
supervisor.

Dismissal

The Group may at any time, terminate an employee when
his or her behaviour or attitude is not satisfactory, or
does not meet the performance standards established/
necessary for the position. In all cases, termination
procedures will strictly adhere to minimum requirements
established by the Law in the Labour Code or relevant
local laws.

Employee Turnover Rate

During the year, there were 3 (2020: 4) staff turnover
to report for the Group. These persons left on amicable
terms and for reasons of personal development or
relocation.

Workplace Rights and Competitive Competition

The Group operates in compliance with the employment /
labour laws of the jurisdictions it has physical presence, in
regards minimum pay, working hours, overtime and fringe
benefits. In addition, the company offers medical benefits
and life insurance coverage.

Equal Opportunity

The Group is proud to be an equal opportunity employer
and believes in the fair treatment of all existing and
prospective employees, regardless of their age, gender,
marital status, family status, disability, pregnancy,
nationality, ethnicity, sexual orientation, religion and
culture, or any other discrimination prohibited by
applicable law.
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4.6.

Furthermore, the Group does not discriminate against or
deprive of any opportunities in respect of recruitment,
training and development, job advancement, and
compensation and benefits. The Group’s Codes of Ethic
adopts a strict zero tolerance approach to any forms of
discrimination or harassment in the workplace.

Workplace and Corporate Communication

New Times Energy adopts an “open door” policy to
encourage open communication, feedback, discussion,
knowledge sharing amongst its employees. Through this
“open door” policy, the Group aims to create a culture
of mutual trust, respect and understanding, to foster
strong, cooperative working relationships. Routine emails
and regular office-wide meetings are held to circulate
information and provide updates to all employees.

4.7. Composition of Workforce

4.6.
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4.7. ESBEHIAEL

Employee’s Gender Distribution

REEWLRDH
Female Male Total
2021* =B=—F+ gy 15 st
Canada mex 14 25.5% 4 74.5% 55 100.0%
Argentina ] AR 10 28.6% 25 71.4% 35 100.0%
Total @t 24 26.7% 66 73.3% 2 100.0%
Employee’s Gender Distribution
REEMRAH
Female Male Total
2020 ZBIEF g3 B @t
Argentina PR 10 33.3% 20 66.7% 30 100.0%
Total @t 10 33.3% 20 66.7% 30 100.0%
* Note, the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. * Bt 5t - 00 2 K B 1R R 2 L AR 15 BT
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RIR HEREROE

Employee’s Age Distribution

RESERAM
18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 and above Total
2021* B¢ 18-25% 26-355 36-455% 46-555% 565 R ML @t
Canada mex 3 5.5% 14 255% 15 16 29.1% 7 12.7% 55 100.0%
Argentina R = 0.0% 3 8.6% 15 14 40.0% 3 8.6% 35 100.0%
Total @t 3 3.3% 17 18.9% 30 30 333% 10 11.1% 90  100.0%

Employee’s Age Distribution

REEERA
18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 and above Total
2020 k- et 3:3 18-25% 26-35% 36-457% 46-557% 565 K% A £ @it
Argentina W iR3E 1 3.3% 12 40.0% 14 2 6.7% 1 3.3% 30 100.0%
Total @i 1 3.3% 12 40.0% 14 2 6.7% 1 3.3% 30 100.0%
* Note, the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. * 777 - 02 K 20500 B W g 15 R

Health and Safety
Health and Safety ("H&S") is fundamental to the Group, given
nature of the business it is engaged in.

5.0. Laws and Regulation Compliance
Critical to all oil and gas operations is rigorous and
robust H&S. The Group endeavours to adopt best
practices in health and safety management and is strictly
in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations
governing H&S, in the jurisdictions it operates in.

A policy of open communication is actively encouraged
whereby employees can raise and share any H&S
concerns that they may encounter, with their team and
management, and “stop the job” intervention should any
employee identifies a potential H&S risk.
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5.1. Health and Safety Measures
The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy
working environment for its employees, and continuously
promotes a strong H&S culture and mindset. Examples of
these measures include:

o Internal employees and external parties and subject
to H&S orientation at the beginning of their
employment or engagement

o All visitors of field operations being subject to safety
briefing of the site

o Dedicated H&S specialists on site responsible for
performing risk assessments, and developing safe
working practices

o On a daily basis, and prior to the commencement
of field operations, H&S briefings and planning
meetings are conducted with participation by all
employees including management team

o On a weekly basis, employees participate in H&S
review meetings to discuss any important H&S
events

o On a quarterly basis, all field and office staff receive
free health check service

o Dedicated 24 hours’ nurse arrangements on site to
deal with any first aid or medical emergency

o Anti-harassment policy
o Drug and alcohol policy
J Respiratory program

. Asbestos management program
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5.2.

5.3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Identify education/training needs in the area of H&S

Conducting safety inspections and risk assessments
for each task

Building and implementing fire safety plans that
comply with local code requirements

Establish and review safety standards and policies
(quarterly, yearly or as needed)

Road Transportation Safety Measures

Employees are trained and encouraged in the art of
defensive driving

Company vehicles are installed with GPS monitoring
systems to track journey and any inappropriate or
unsafe driving behaviours

The Group’s driving policy restrict employees to
only drive during daylight hours, where possible,
and to consider the necessity of any journey, before
embarking

COVID-19 Measures

The Group supported the vaccination adoption of its
employees in respective local jurisdictions by offering two
additional days of paid vaccination leave. There was also
the free provision of lateral flow test kits, disinfectant,
and hand sanitizers. Furthermore, flexible working and
work from home options were available to employees,
in the event of those testing positive, or those who were
deemed vulnerable.
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RiE e RERDE

5.4. Safety Incidents
The Group monitors its H&S performance via a number
of metrics, including injury and fatal incident rates, injury
free work hours, and sick days.

Contractors are also subject to the same stringent Group
H&S standards. Proof of adequate H&S training and
certification are requested before the Group engages and
endorses a contractor to operate on its exploration or
production facilities.

54. Z2FH
REBBEBRLHEEEZE(NITEXER
TR THEEIREEERS)E
RfERE -

AN A B EERAKERNEE L
RIREMRE - ARBEEEA K
REBEBREASENBENE
ERER @ESABHLRER
M ZRIFIERA R EE

Occupational Health and Safety Data

BEZRYE
Canada Argentina Total
meEx MR E @t
2021* 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
g% “T-TF ZF--F -T-TF -8--F —ZT-TF
Work related fatality RIRTCRE n/a
0 TER 0 0 0 0
Work injury cases >3 days BR=ANENTIEER n/a
0 TEA 0 0 0 0
Work injury cases <3 days BEA=ZRUTHIGER n/a
1 NER 1 2 2 2
Lost days due to work injury A TEBEMITEHE n/a
0 T 1 2 1 2
* Note, the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. * Vi EN - -t e A2
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Development and Training
6.0. Improving staff knowledge and experience

The human resources department coordinates training
activities according to the business needs identified in
the staff performance evaluation, or when the position
requires. All training requirements follow the conventional
training procedure set out in the Human Resources
Policies.

The Group offers external training courses as well
internal on-the job training and peer coaching. Example
of courses attended by employees during the reporting
year included language skills, business administration,
leadership, conflict management, accounting, safety,
project management, oil and gas engineering related
subjects.

A total of 223 hours was spent on external training in the
year.
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Training Data

38
2021 2020
—E--F %R
Canada*  Argentina Total Canada  Argentina Total
mEx* B AR 3E @t nex FT R 2 @t
Training Hours: EIIRE

General and Technical Staff —BEBMEL n/a
6 175 181 it 143 143

Managerial Staff EEEET nfa
- 4 Zy) TR 110 110

Total Hours B nfa
6 217 223 AERA 253 253

Average Training Hours BHRER 2 THEIIRE n/a
per Employee ** 6.2 6.2 TER 8.6 8.6

* Note, the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. * RN EYN ¢ L3 )

* %

Training was administered to one employee.
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Labour Standard

7.0 Policy
Governed by fair employment practices, the Group strictly
complies with the requirements of local Labour Laws and
regulations, and strictly prohibits the use of any child and
forced labour, or any forms of illegal labour in the Group
operations.

Operating Practices

8.0 Supply Chain Management
New Times Energy has a standardised procurement
procedure in the selections of its suppliers and vendors,
which includes technical and commercial evaluation, i.e.
quality, delivery times, sustainability, continuity, legal
and regulatory compliance and cost. Typically, supplier
selections are conducted through competitive tendering
process with a minimum of three bids, where practicable.

The Group endeavours to source locally, to minimise its
logistical carbon footprint, reduce shipping costs and
benefit the local economy. During 2021, the geographical
location of Argentina operation’s main suppliers were
in the province of Salta, where its production facility
and office are situated. A total 20 suppliers engaged by
Argentina operation were from Salta province (2020: 19),
with no suppliers from neighbouring Formosa province
(2020: 4), whilst the Canada operation for the Post-
Acquisition engaged 84 suppliers from Alberta and 180
suppliers from British Columbia.
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8.1. Product Responsibility

Consumer Data Protection

The Group is engaged in the business of oil and gas
production and sales, as governed by the terms and
conditions of the agreements with its customers.

Quality Assurance and Complaints

The quality and volumes of oil and gas sold are subject
to the IRAM or ASTM, or other applicable international
standards. The Group received no product or service
complaints in the year.

Anti-corruption
9.0. Ethical compliance

The Group is committed to managing its business without
undue influence, and in an open, honest and fair manner.
All employees are required to strictly follow the Group's
Code of Ethics to prevent potential bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. Employees are regularly
reminded about the Group’s anti-corruption policies and
their need for strict adherence.

Whistle-blowing procedures on misconduct and
malpractice (including corruption) are also established
in the Group's Anti-corruption policy. When a suspected
case is received, the Group undergoes investigation
procedures with strict confidentiality. The Group has
established a whistle-blowing escalation system, whereby
the procedure is to report any suspicious activities and
incidences to the whistle-blower’s immediate supervisor.
If the matter involves the immediate supervisor, then the
whistle-blower is advised to report direct to management.
Alternatively, the matter may be confidentiality reported
via the Group'’s whistle-blowing and ethics.
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Community

Potentially disruptive social impacts from the Group's
drilling projects and production facilities on nearby local
communities are mitigated by maintaining open channels
of communications, with affected landowners and local
communities, to develop and maintain a harmonious co-
existence.

10.0. Liaising and Involving the Community
The Group has a dedicated community liaison officer who
works closely with any affected indigenous people. The
Group maintains regular dialogue to ensure operational
transparency and to understand and resolve any affected
communities’ concerns.

The importance of community involvement is high as the
Group operations often are within sight of neighbours.
The Group's approach is to have an open door approach
to neighbours, operating in an ethical and transparent
manner within the community, with effort made at
community involvement so that communication is an easy
and effective way to increase brand awareness, establish
a positive reputation, and allow for further growth
within our community. This approach allows the Group
to establish meaningful connections, wherever it has a
presence.

In Canada, our close relationship with the Acho Dene
Koe First Nation, Dene Tha' First Nation, Fort Nelson First
Nation and Prophet River First Nation as well as with
Ligwilda'xw people; the Wei Wai Kai, Wei Wai Kum and
Kwiakah First Nations is an integral part of the social
fabric and this relationship is thriving. We also donate
to the Habitat to Humanity that builds strength, stability
and self-reliance through shelter. Habitat for Humanity
is a non-profit organization that helps families build
and improve places to call home. The Group believes
affordable housing plays a critical role in strong and
stable communities.
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The Group has a dedicated community liaison who
works closely with any affected indigenous people in
both Canada and Argentina, and regular dialogue is
maintained to ensure operational transparency and to
understand and resolve any concerns of the affected
communities.

Community Advancement

The Group positively contributed to the standard of living
for the local indigenous communities during the year
by a number of initiatives and programs. This included
upskilling people by providing training on electrical
maintenance, and donation of materials and basic
essential tools, in order to promote and improve their
self-sustainability.

The Group also contributed to several community
improvement projects, including training local inhabitants
on how to set up micro enterprises, re-designing the
layout of a livestock farm, providing support to local
villages in carpentry, wood and textile handicrafts by
modernising their tools.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS TOWARD
SUSTAINABILITY

The Group recognises the world is moving towards a low
carbon economy, as it attempts to satisfy commitments set
forth in the Paris Agreement. Energy transition being at the
forefront, moving from high CO, emission energy sources such
as coal and oil, towards renewables and zero emission sources.
The Group is currently in the process of reviewing the economic
feasibility of initiating CCUS at its Canada operation, and is
in the process of engaging relevant professional engineering
and geoscience service providers who have extensive energy
transition experience. The Group expects the government of
Canada to release an updated carbon policy in the second
quarter of 2022 that will provide guidance and direction for
CCUS initiatives that the Group hopes to be able to participate
and contribute to the betterment of the environment.

Going forward, the Group plans to extend its community
engagement activities and find more ways of “giving back”, by
exploring how the Group can also contribute in non-financial
ways, such as volunteering, school talks, and donating of used
computer and office equipment. For environmental initiatives in
2022, the Group plans to:

o Evaluate how environmental risks are being managed at
the Group's operating facilities

. Evaluate current environmental site conditions at inactive
sites
o Develop a decommissioning and reclamation program to

save costs and efficiently reduce environmental liability

o Complete 2022 reclamation work
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company and management of the Group strive to attain and
maintain high standards of corporate governance best suited to the
needs of its businesses and interest and value of the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as the Board believes that
effective governance is essential to the maintenance of the Group’s
competitiveness and to its healthy growth.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the “New CG Code"”) came into effect and the requirements
under the New CG code will apply to corporate governance reports
for financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The
Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance
practice of the Company to ensure compliance with the New CG
Code and align with the latest developments.

The Company has adopted and applied the principles of the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the "Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous
compliance with the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December
2021 (the "Year"), the Company complied with all code provisions
of the CG Code and adopted the recommended best practices of the
CG Code insofar as they are relevant and practicable, apart from the
deviations as described in this Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

Number of
Directors
BEEZAH
6 Executive
5 Director
PITEE
4
3
2
1
0
Gender Designation Ethnicity
sl FERER TS RS

The Board has a balanced composition of Executive and Non-
executive Directors with each Director having sound knowledge,
experience and expertise contributing to the performance and
development of the Group. All Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties of care, skill and diligence.

The Board members do not have any financial, business, family
or other material and/or relevant relationships with each other.
Biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
“Information of Directors” section of this annual report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to diversify the Board. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional and industrial experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service, and any other factors that the
Board might consider relevant and applicable. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set the measurable objectives based
on gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience and skills and knowledge for the implementation of
Board diversity of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Policy, on
a regular basis, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to
time. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

Having reviewed the Policy and taken into account the measurable
objectives, the Nomination Committee and the Board considered
that the Board’s composition has complied with the requirements of
the Policy during the Year.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and collectively responsible for promoting success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company's affairs.
The Board also formulates objectives, overall corporate strategies
and business plans, and oversees the financial and management
performance of the Group. Day-to-day functions and authorities are
delegated to the management, which include the implementation of
objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and the day-
to-day management of the Group's business. There are established
procedures for the Directors upon reasonable request, to seek
independent advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company'’s
expense.

Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to code
provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman has also met with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the year. The independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to provide their independent views to the
Board.
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Corporate governance functions

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company's corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board performing corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (in any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year for the
reviewing and approval of the Company’s financial and operating
performance, as well as the consideration and approval of the overall
strategies and policies of the Company. Apart from the regular
board meetings, the Board met on other occasions where necessary.
Throughout the Year, Directors also participate in the consideration
and approval of routine and operational matters of the Company by
way of circulating resolutions.

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings. To facilitate
maximum attendance of the Directors and to provide opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for the Board meetings, notices of
regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the regular meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other meetings. Meeting agenda together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are normally given
to all Directors no less than 3 days prior to each Board meeting to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Company Secretary is
responsible to ensure that Board meetings comply with the relevant
procedures, rules and regulations. All Board meeting minutes record
the details of the matters discussed and decisions made. Board
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and signed by respective
Directors.
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Directors’ attendance of the Board Meetings and Annual General
Meeting (“AGM") held during the Year are set out below:

TRERRE

ARARAFERTZEZTEEZ MREE
FRE(IRRBERGHZESFHERN
AIEEST

Number of
Board Meetings AGM
attended/held attended/held
EEERS Wi BT
Name of Directors BEEHE HEETRE BRERBERE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ERERME T A (£/E)
(Chairman) 9/9 11
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan Bk Bk (7TABZ)
(Chief Executive Officer) 9/9 1/1
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEEEE 9/9 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHITESE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SIRELRE 9/9 11
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RELEE 9/9 11
Mr. HUANG, Victor HEZELEE 9/9 1/1
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITHEAR

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by two
executive Directors, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart and Mr. TANG,
John Wing Yan respectively. Their respective responsibilities are
clearly established and defined.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is accountable
to the Board ultimately. The Chairman takes the lead to encourage
Directors to make active contribution to the Board’s affairs and
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer represents the management of the
Company and is accountable to the Board. His main responsibilities
include overseeing the implementation of the Group’s strategies,
objectives and policies as well as monitoring day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses and operations.
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Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision-making of the Group.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the three independent non-executive Directors. Each
independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may
affect his independence. During the Year, the Nomination Committee
has assessed the independence of each of the independent non-
executive Directors based on the guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considered them to be independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

In compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), (i) any Director who
is appointed to fill a casual vacancy is subject to election by the
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment; and (ii)
all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, the Directors, Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. YUNG, Chun
Fai Dickie will retire from office by rotation at the AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the same meeting.

INDUCTION, INFORMATION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors will receive an induction
package covering the general understanding of the Group and its
businesses and operations. Meetings will also be arranged with
the Company’s external legal adviser on directors’ legal role and
responsibilities.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

FHITESBRBIUFYTES

HATEFRBUNFNTEFT 2R X
- TRANESRERAESTEH ARG -
BEREB2EEETEERNREFTEETS
ZEERH FATESRBUIFNTES
i’]ﬂmﬁlZ%fxEﬁ&ﬁﬁEﬂ%IE\B&%’%WM%
VHEREHEERR -

RABDEE=ZZBIIIFNTEEZIARE
8 3L MEE S AR o {1 R A e AT A R £
ﬁﬁﬂﬁzz‘@b BEBURNTESAR

RATER T RRBANARR - REAFE
}m%?\amﬁﬁftm%ﬁﬁu%am Frak 2~
Sl EEEBYERTES 2B LM I
REREBEL-

ZERERES

R EMARANERAMAA([ARAR]) 2

BE (VEREZEARHEREZR2ES

/,\EM%éE&E1le$ﬁAiﬁéﬂx%Tﬁk
LiERESFARIB=-_FRESTE—

WHEEREREEL

Bt EFRELEERSIRESLEE BRI
RBEFAGLHESE AEFAERLE
BERA—Ke LEREE-

MREREH BRRSEERERE

EFREZINMAEFTER[HEREEBRREAN
SE-BRRAMEXHELENER AR
AZINBERER T ENES ARBMBE R
BEZFE®-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. Timely updates on the
Group’s financial performance, businesses and developments are
also provided to the Directors. They also have full and timely access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice at
all times whenever deemed necessary.

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development
(the “CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the Year, the Company encouraged all Directors to attend
training courses, seminars, webcasts or conferences which were
relevant to their respective duties and responsibilities at the
Company’s expenses, and provided relevant materials and updates
for their reading. The Directors are required to provide the Company
with details of CPD training taken by them from time to time. The
training records are kept by the Company Secretary. Based on the
records provided, the Directors participated in the following CPD
programmes during the Year:

TRERRE

FTEESYRKETE@ERED AR R
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TRESEER:

Directors’ Training in 2021
EER -2 5%
Attending training
courses, seminars,

webcasts or Reading materials

conferences or updates
HEZIRE -
B - FEER S
Name of Directors EEnE RPERRNER BHHEE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BB S A (F/E) v v/
(Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan BB (FTEAEE) v v
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHLELE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B I FHITEE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SR IE A v v
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BEZEE v v
Mr. HUANG, Victor mEREE v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an important part of a sound corporate governance practice,
the Board has established four Board Committees: the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Executive Committee to assist the Board to discharge its functions.
Each Committee has specific written terms of reference which sets
out clearly the Committee’s duties and authority. The terms of
reference and the list of members of each committee are published
on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and/or the
Company.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties, including the management support and
engagement of independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense. The Committees report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations and maintain an effective and constructive
communication with the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four Directors
namely Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie,
Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai
Dickie, the independent non-executive Director, is currently the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors of the Company. Details of the authority and
duties of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and Stock Exchange.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee convened two
meetings to, inter alias, review the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and the senior management of the Company.
Members and their attendance are as follows:

TRERRE

RAER FHEZEEEARAMAEREN(H
FERE)RTATEERARAERELRE
MFEMEE-KEREEEBRIT

Number of

Meetings

attended/held

gELE

Name of Members REHS HITIRE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) SiREEE (FE) 2/2
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart B 38 F8 5 A4 2/2
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RELZRE 2/2
Mr. HUANG, Victor =REELEE 2/2

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors
namely Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie,
Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai,
Dickie, the independent non-executive Director, is currently the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst other things,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
considering the re-appointment of Directors, reviewing the Board’s
diversity policy and relevant implementation of the diversity policy,
and making recommendations to the Board in respect of the
aforesaid matters.
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By such policy, the selection of candidates is based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision is based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates bring to
the Board. Details of the authority and duties of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board.
Members and their attendance are as follows:

EZBRET BEAEZ-RINZTLER
REE BRERANRRMUER  Fik XEEK
BER BELR R MBARREF
H-mBRBANENREAARESTERHEN
BRMEFRE - EHRRERZESRENREE
ZHIE IR ARA R P E R

RAFE REZECEH—KRE&E UE
MEFgzRE HAE EREKEZ T
KRB REHFEBRIT

Number of

Meeting

attended/held

eBLEE

Name of Members KE S BITIRE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) BIRELEE (FE) 1”1
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RELREE 1/1
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEELEE 1/1
Mr. HUANG, Victor EEEEA 11

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises four Directors namely
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, Mr. CHIU,
Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members being
independent non-executive Directors. All of them possess the
relevant qualifications, experiences and skills to contribute to the
financial, governance, internal controls and risk management of
the Company. Mr. CHIU, Wai On, the independent non-executive
Director, with professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise is currently the chairman of the
Audit Committee.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
consolidated financial statements and reports and considering any
significant or unusual financial items; overseeing the relationship
between the Company and the external auditor; considering the
scope of its audit, approving the audit fees and the appropriateness
of non-audit services; and reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s financial controls and risk management and
internal control systems. Details of the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings, inter
alia, to review the 2020 annual results and the 2021 interim results
of the Group and to review the Group’s internal control system
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
In addition, the Audit Committee met the external auditor once
without the presence of the management to discuss any areas of
concerns. Members' attendance of the Audit Committee Meetings
held during the Year are set out below:

TRERRE

ERZBEG IZRBEREENEA VB R
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Number of

Meetings

attended/held

BEHE

Name of Members REHS BT IRE
Mr. CHIU, Wai On (Chairman) HEZRE (ZE) 2/2
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHEE 212
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRIE % & 272
Mr. HUANG, Victor HEELE 2/2

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 August 2017 and
is currently chaired by the Chairman of the Board, Mr. CHENG, Kam
Chiu Stewart with the CEO, Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan as member.
The executive Directors involved in operations of the Group and
are fully aware of the performance, position, and prospects of the
Company.
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The main duties of the Executive Committee include overseeing the
general management and day-to-day operations of the Company,
monitoring the execution of the Company’s business strategy as
approved by the Board, approving any changes to the scope of
authority delegated to the management and any other matters
specifically delegated to it by the Board. Details of the authority and
duties of the Executive Committee are available on the Company’s
website.

During the Year, the Executive Committee held nine meetings.
Members' attendance of the Executive Committee Meetings held

HTZEENIERERREEARAN—
REEMAFZE EEEFSHANLR
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MEMEMERE - BRRTZE S RE LB
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WA

during the Year are set out below: BT
Number of
Meetings
attended/held
SEHE
Name of Members REHS HITIRE
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BRI A (£/F) 9/9

(Chairman)

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan Bk B E (7TBAAE) 9/9

(Chief Executive Officer)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and
understandable annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided the Directors such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s cash flow projections prepared by management based
on estimations of future revenue from sales of crude oil, future
production costs, committed and planned capital expenditure and
the availability of financing, which cover a period of twelve months
from the reporting period end date. They are of the opinion that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due and committed future capital
expenditure within the next twelve months from the end of the
current reporting period.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”), are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 90 to 100 to this annual report.

Auditor’s remuneration

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and service
charges of the non-audit services performed by PwC and considered
that such services have no adverse effect on the independence of
their audit works.
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A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by PwC for the
Year and their corresponding remuneration is as follows:

RAEE BRERBOGERHE 2 B2 NIEEX
MEMBARE AR EOT

Amount

Nature of Services R # 1£ & MEE
(HK$'000)

(F#&mx)

Audit service for the Year RARFE 2 BZZR® 1,900
Interim review H AR B 550
Preparation of circular for a major transaction H—EFEXFHEEEN 1,200
Due Diligence services for a target company F—HEERRZEREESRS 595
Tax service fees MBRBEE 125

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing an
effective and sound risk management and internal control systems
to safequard the interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the
Group. The Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board to
review the risk management and internal control systems.

Procedures have been designed to (i) safeguard assets from
inappropriate use; (ii) maintain proper accounting records; (iii)
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations; and
(iv) manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. To
safeguard confidentiality, information access is managed on a need-
to-know basis. Use of computers, especially access to the internet
and e-mail systems, is similarly regulated with a view towards
security.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
provide a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material
misstatement of the financial statements are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and
risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's objectives are
properly managed. It can only manage, rather than eliminate, all
risks of material misstatement, errors, loss or fraud.
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During the Year, the Company’s own internal audit team has
performed an internal control review to assess the Group's internal
control systems in order to assist the Board in reviewing its
effectiveness. The reviews, normally performed once a year, covered
the effectiveness of the financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group, with a focus
on the core business of the Group (i.e. the upstream business in
Argentina). Relevant report was presented to and reviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board. Based on the results of internal
control review for the Year and the assessment of the Audit
Committee thereon, no material inadequacies or deficiencies in the
risk management and internal control systems were drawn to the
attention of the Audit Committee, but appropriate recommendations
for further enhancing the internal control systems have been
taken. The Board is of the view that the internal control systems
were effective and adequate and no irregularities, fraud or other
deficiencies were identified for the financial year ended 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary directly reports to the Board. The Company
Secretary is responsible for supporting and advising the Board on
governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and
service of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures,
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Mr. LEE, Kun Yin is the Company Secretary of the Company and is a
member of the Chartered Accountants in Australia & New Zealand
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee
has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS

Communications with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with the Company’s Shareholders and investors, and maintains
ongoing dialogues with them through various channels. The
formal communication channels between the Company and the
Shareholders are announcements, circulars and interim and annual
reports. All Shareholders’ communications are available on the
Company’s website. During the Year, there was no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents. An up-to-date consolidated
version of the Bye-laws is also available on the websites of the
Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company which provide a useful forum for the Shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Board members and
management of the Company are available to answer Shareholders’
questions and explain the procedures for demanding and conducting
a poll, if necessary.

Shareholders’ rights

Under the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less than 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company at the date of deposit of written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, can at all times
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
addressing specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the
date of deposit of such requisition to the Company’s head office
address in Hong Kong.

The Group recognises Shareholders’ rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. The Company has been
conducting voting at the general meetings by way of poll, which is
conducted and scrutinised by the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong. Procedures for conducting a poll are explained by the
Chairman of the Board in the general meetings prior to the taking of
the poll. Poll results are announced and posted on the websites of
both the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

Constitutional Documents

The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws are
available on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. During the Year, there was no change to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries and proposals

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, in person or by post. Contact details are set out in the
“Information for Stakeholders” section to this annual report.

Enquiries and proposals by Shareholders requiring the Board’s
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the
Hong Kong head office address of the Company.
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Investor relations

During the year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its shareholders and the
investors through the announcement of its interim and final reports.
Through the timely distribution of other announcements, including
but not limited to notices of meetings, circulars and other relevant
Company's information, the Company has also kept the public aware
of its latest developments.

Conclusion

Going forward, the Company will continue to review its corporate
governance practices on a timely basis to continue its high
level of transparency. The Company will also try to enhance its
competitiveness, industry knowledge and operating efficiency in
order to generate greater returns for its stakeholders.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of New Times Energy Corporation Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of New Times Energy
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 101 to 218, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Purchase price allocation for the acquisition of Shanghai Energy
Corporation resulting in recognition of a gain on bargain
purchase

. Valuation of an investment classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss using level 3 inputs

o Recoverable amount of oil and gas properties under upstream
segment
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Key Audit Matter
HRELSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

Purchase price allocation for the acquisition
of Shanghai Energy Corporation resulting in
recognition of a gain on bargain purchase
g Shanghai Energy Corporationz
BEERI BEERREABEBE RS

Refer to notes 2.3, 4 and 36 to the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

258 BEEEZEAUMBHRRME23 -4K36-

The Group completed its acquisition of Shanghai
Energy Corporation (“SEC") for C$20,000,001
(equivalent to approximately HK$121,773,000) on
21 September 2021.

EEER T - —F N A =+ —HL20,000,00140
JC (M & R #9121,773,000/% 7t ) ST X W BE Shanghai
Energy Corporation ([SEC ) ©

Management engaged an independent qualified
technical consultant to complete an independent
reserves assessment of the oil and gas production
assets owned by SEC and an independent qualified
valuer to assist the Group to evaluate the fair
value of 100% equity interest in SEC. The Group
determined the fair value of SEC's net identifiable
assets acquired were HK$529,428,000. Accordingly,
the Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of
approximately HK$407,655,000 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2021.
EREZEBIAERRMBERTKESECERZA
MR RAREEEEZ BULFEN G MBI ER
EEMBE BHBEBEFMSECZ100%REZ AR E
BHe BEXEETSECAREAHBINEEFEZARE
18 /529,428,000 L~ At BEEHE T —
FH+_ A=+t - BLEFERGERaRTHAZER
B 1% #1407,655,0004 7T
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In auditing the fair market value of net identifiable assets
acquired at the date of acquisition, we have performed
the following key audit procedures:
REZEKRERMAEBAIENEEFEZ A TFHER
BMEETATRARERZIERT

We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified technical
consultant and the independent qualified valuer;
BMFAEBE IS EERMER RE Y& &R ERM
ZBIERN EXZEREEML:

We assessed management’s identification of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition based on
the acquisition agreements, acquiree’s financial
information and relevant accounting standards;
BAPRBERERZE RRESZ2HMBENREES
FHER GBI EH WU B N UE B IR
A BBIEERMAERGEZHA

We involved our internal valuation experts and
assessed the appropriateness of the valuation models
adopted by management, and the reasonableness of
key assumptions including the estimated commodity
prices and discount rate through comparing with
the market and internal information available to the
Group; and

BPLZBEANREEER - BRE SEEAGE2IMS
RAMERETLE FHEEBRKABZHERR
ZhREE URAEFEREBEBEXREZIERR
ZaBM: R

We tested the underlying calculations.

BFRHBRERE -
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Key Audit Matter
HRELSBR

B B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

Significant judgements and estimates were involved in
the fair value assessment of the oil and gas production
assets and the recognition of a gain on bargain
purchase from the acquisition. These significant
judgements and estimates include the adoption of
appropriate valuation methodologies and the use of
key assumptions in the valuation including estimated
commodity prices and discount rate which are subject
to high degree of estimation uncertainty.
HOHRARAREEBEEZ AR BEN G NMERKE
EEZEZBBERRIPRERNHE MGG -ZFEXR
ﬂ%&ﬁﬁ@%&ﬁ@$%%k$ﬁ@ﬁ&&ﬁ%£

ZBRR (BREGEAERERIUBER) mMREAER
mfﬁ#?% MEE-

We focused on this area because the estimation of
the determination of fair value of identifiable assets
required significant management’s judgement and
estimates.

BMEIRLES ERAETCAUHENEEAAEE
ZIEET R EERE L EARHE R AET -

Based on our work performed, we found the
management’s judgement and estimates used in the
determination of the fair value of the identifiable assets
at the date of acquisition and the calculation of gain
on bargain purchase were supported by the available
evidences.
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Key Audit Matter
HRELSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

Valuation on an investment classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss using
level 3 inputs

FRE=ZEWABBHIER
RAOABHEITAEBRZSREEZREETHE

Refer to notes 2.12, 3.4, 4 and 23 to the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
20 BEBEZERAEMBHRENE2.12 3.4 4K23-

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 357,637,761
ordinary shares of Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings
Limited (“Blue Sky”), a listed company on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Main Board”), at a carrying amount of
approximately HK$10,700,000 after the recognition of
a fair value loss of HK$30,786,000 during the year. The
investment is classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss that is measured at fair value
with level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs for financial assets
were not based on active market prices, nor based on
observable market data.
RZEBEZ—F+_A=+—H - EBH£EHEFILZR
REXERERAR ([EX] —BEREAERERS
PIERADRER ([EMR]) EHZRF)2357,637,761
& 5 AL P N FE R A St fB 1B E51830,786,000% 7T
& BREI{E49510,700,0008 L Z B EDERIEA R
BEFAEBGEZEREE TUAE=ZBH AHERRQ
ARBEAE-ZEZEsREEGABBYIIFREERE
TS ERNFIBEMIZEIEGEH -

Since the trading of Blue Sky's shares had been halted,
the Group determined the fair value of the Group’s
investment in Blue Sky as at 31 December 2021 based
on asset based approach with the considerations of
publicly available information and the assistance from
an independent qualified valuer.
HRERXZENEEEEFE SSEELEELQMAA
GEHMKEBLAERMGLEMOBE T REEER
MEETFT EXEERERZRENR-_Z_—F+_H
=t+—RZRanEE-

We focused on this area because significant judgement
and assumptions are required to determine the fair
value of the investment.

BMEIRNES RAATZEERHE KBRS
EGREZ AR (BB

In auditing the fair value of the Group’s investment in
Blue Sky, we have performed the following key audit
procedures on the valuation prepared by management and
the key assumptions used:

REZ BEEERERZREZAABER RMEME
BEGHZEEREBZ TERBETATHREZER

- We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified valuer
engaged by management and evaluating the
appropriateness of methodology adopted by
independent qualified valuer in the determination of
fair value;

- BMTHEREZR2BIYSERMGEM BELE
h BEZERFEMN MFAEBLSERMGEMR
BEARBERMAEKBAEZREL:

- We involved our internal valuation expert to assess
the appropriateness of the valuation techniques
based on our industry knowledge and market
practices;

- BARHAREEERRERFMANTERMAZRLET S
BHIFF R EERT RS

- We compared the key inputs and information
identified by management that were used in
the valuation against the underlying source
documentation, including external reports relevant
for the valuation; and

- HZMBEEREMBSNARGEZFERABBRE
FHEARAORX M (BEGERB 2N RS ) #E1T
5t 853

-  We challenged the management on the
appropriateness of key estimations and assumptions
adopted based on available information and facts
and circumstances of Blue Sky.

- BEMBEBEABSEHREEUREXRZEASAERA
MEERALBREZRELHERERLENR-

Based on our work performed, we found that the
estimates and assumptions adopted in relation to the
fair value of the investment were supported by available
evidence.

BEBEBRMET 2 TE BMRRAIESEBEFHRZKE
ZARBEMRAZ M RER-
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Key Audit Matter
HRELSBR

B B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

Recoverable amount of oil and gas properties
under upstream segment

LHIBETZ2AERARREEZATREEHE

Refer to notes 2.11, 4 and 17 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

20 BEBZEATBIHERMT2.114R17 -

The Group’'s upstream segment had oil and gas
properties which engaged in the exploration,
development, production and sales of oil and gas in
Argentina and Canada. The carrying amounts of oil and
gas properties are mainly included under “machinery”
and “oil and gas production assets” of property,
plant and equipment totalled of approximately
HK$819 402,000 as at 31 December 2021.

EE LB HBEL L HMRERDEERARE
M¢K%$EE&%%R@?E¥*EF&%EJE
MERAREEZ RABEFEFAYNE BELRE
ZIRBIRIABMRRAREEEE] R_T_—F
T - A=1t—BA&X5R#%819,402,000/8 T °

Given the volatile commodity price and the potential
adverse impact on the performance of upstream
business as a result of COVID-19 pandemic,
management performed impairment assessment for
the oil and gas properties as at 31 December 2021.
BN MERKEE L RCOVID- 19K RITH Ll 5%
RELEZBENNZE EBER_T_—F+_H
=t+—BYHABAERAREELEITRE G-

The recoverable amount of oil and gas properties was
determined using value-in-use calculation prepared
by management, by preparing discounted cash flow
forecast with reference to the reserves reports issued
by the independent qualified technical consultants.
The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow
forecast included estimated future commodity prices,
estimated future production volume, estimated future
production cost, estimated future capital expenditure
and discount rate. Management concluded that
the oil and gas properties were not impaired as at
31 December 2021.
EH&%%%EFZTW@%%E&%EEF%%Z
CREBEEAERTE HERSEB LA ERRMER
?"1?5213% &iﬁiﬁﬁiﬁiﬁi//wgﬁz EU aﬁfﬁfﬁimu
EBRAGERAZIERRBERAARKERER Hah
RRES AT RREERA AT RREARZ H RAL
BE-EBERR R_T_—F+-_A=+—HB"A
H&%%ﬁﬁ%lﬁﬂ@

In auditing the recoverable amount of the oil and gas
properties, we have performed following key audit
procedures on the value-in-use calculation prepared by
management and the key assumptions used in determining
the recoverable amount of the oil and gas properties:

REZOBERAARREEZAIREEEE RMAEHEE
ERHEZEREBEFEUNRARBEARRARREE
ZAWEEEZ EBREATA NEREZIET

- We understood and evaluated management’s
internal controls in respect of the assessment of
recoverable amount of oil and gas properties and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
significant judgement and estimation involved in
determining recoverable amount of oil and gas
properties;

- EMBEBREZEEMGEFAEEEREREMESRRERE
Z(BTABARRAREEZAIRLCCE S K2
BARHE R 2K PR EERERB@T

AR RAREEZ AT L €5 2 A E0 I &7k
BEAREREM 2 B A R

- We compared the estimates of future commodity
prices adopted by the Group against the available
commodity price forecasts;

- BRI BERBIRA 2 KRB @ E R A R A EE
P B AR TERETT EL 8

- We compared the estimated future production
profiles against the oil and gas reserve assessment
reports and the forecast production volume for
the remaining concession period prepared by the
management;

- BMSEFAARAREESRBEREREZ AH AKX
ARFBETEMELMAFFER 2B ES ET
HLE

- We evaluated the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent qualified technical
consultants;

- EMFEBUGERRMEBRZBERN EEXEER
BEREHL:
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B AR E

Key Audit Matter
HRELSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

We focused on auditing the recoverable amount of oil
and gas properties under upstream segment because
the estimation of recoverable amount is subject to
high degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the estimating of recoverable amount
of oil and gas properties under upstream segment
is considered significant due to the subjectivity of
significant assumptions used in determining the
recoverable amount of the oil and gas properties.
HRAIKE B B XeERTTRELETE &
MEINEZ DB T AR R RAREE 2 AT
e -AREEABRRRAREEZ ATIRE & K
CTRAZEERXAEB BN BEG EHFOIIETA
HRRAREBEZAINECCHEEHE 2 EEGRABRERAE
BEK-

- We compared the future cost profiles and capital

expenditure against historical costs, relevant budget
and other relevant supporting documents;

- BMERKEKAERRERNLHEEELKAK F A
TAE N H A8 B 8 B S ETT LB

- We evaluated the reasonableness of discount rate

applied with assistance of our internal expert; and
- TERHBERNBY T RMTEMRKARBAXRE
B R

- We assessed the appropriateness of valuation
methodology in calculation of value-in-use of the
oil and gas properties, and tested mathematical
accuracy of the discounted cash flow forecast with
assistance of our internal expert.

- EARBEROBE T RAFEFELBLERAR
BEZGEREBE2HEREZz2REMN WARKER
BenERllc BB ERE-

Based on our work performed, we found the
management’s judgement and assumptions used in the
estimation of recoverable amount of oil and gas properties
were supported by the available evidences.

BERMETZIE BMRRAAEGERIRERER
st Am R RAREE 2 7] W B & 586 ATE A 2 HE &

RER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B B

H b &

BERARESHYEMENAR -HBENE
BHERFHRANZHMER BEFEEEE
MR LB BED s o

BHEGEEMBERRNBERL NREEME
BT TEZEEMERBEREMERA
SR A o

AEMHEE M HRROFZME - BN
BEERMEEMER TiBREF  ZEEM
EHNEREREMBRRABMEETZBRE
RRRTROEAFEEREBREUFFE
ERFERBMEEDR

HERMERDATHN ITERREMLERF
EER#ERRML RMFEREZFE-EE
JHE - BFVEBEARE -

EEREREZEEENGE VB R
RAERENEE

BERREFRRARBESGHMAERM
B (FBM B REER) REFEE (RBED
MEBRRERBEEMTENGAMHRE
THERBREEAVBERROBEIFE
AR ERMERN BB RRAFFF
FMIAEBIEHIR R

ERBEEMBRRT EFRANGEE
BSEKLENE N WHEBERBR T E SR
FEKLZARANER URERAFKELER
SIER RIEFAEN EHEEBRIEF
g2 RpEEMERNBER TR

B 5 B 1) B 75 [ e

i
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

B B

e HUEERARELESERNREN
EH - RIEFTENRMFZRE
ERAHFHEAFGEERY BEEEMNE
BREENEEBEARBENZERBR
ERANBERTEEE - MRBEMABRTF
EERDHEE M BIE & 27 % BAD &
EPRBEREIRFEAMBHRERFTH
HERE - REEHEMOBETE AR
MEEERERMANER HANERE
ERZ BN RS BB FAREHEZR
Fe AT AREFRLIERATEEH &
SETREFELE -

o  FEMBRRHOBEIHNA HEBM
NE BRERE ARGEVBRERE
BHRERRIAERZ HMER-

e Bt BEEERNERAXBEINUBE
HEDRTE EENEZRE NEY
HAMBHRRERER -RMAEEHE
BERZNES EEMAT HMA/ER
BRAEREEE

BMEERZEQABTENERHE"
BRZHE EXERERES BRERMAEEZ
o3It PR i) B (E R B KRB

BMERBEZZEQRIEZR SHARME
NEeEMBELMEMERERERER T H
P B BEE R R ERAETERME
MHERFRERERMEMER LUREERN
BT RBREE MR TE KR
By S 15 e ©
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEESER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE=ZT=—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B & THERT T T
Revenue Uk &= 5 11,167,076 5,034,518
Cost of sales 84 B 7 (11,076,418) (5,011,019)
Gross profit EX 90,658 23,499
Other income, gains and losses, net R N
BB R 6 10,045 5,226
Gain on bargain purchase mEEBEWE 36 407,655 -
General and administrative expenses —MRITBAE 7 (109,849) (39,644)
Assets impairment losses BEREEE 8 = (5,823)
Net investment loss REEIEFRE 9 (40,941) (29,623)
Finance costs A& A 10 (13,927) (11,115)
Share of losses of joint ventures Efha g hEEE 19 (5) (7,078)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB AER, (BE) 343,636 (64,558)
Income tax expense Frig8®if = 13 (14,233) (14,936)
Profit/(loss) for the year FrEA (EBER) 329,403 (79,494)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: HT%EEEMN
wHL (EE)
Owners of the Company PINNESIE RN 329,401 (79,483)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 2 (11)
329,403 (79,494)
Earnings/(losses) per share ERARER A
attributable to owners of EESRER - (&EE)
the Company (expressed (AEgRBWHR)
in HK cents per share) 15
Basic BN (0.91)
Diluted e (0.91)

The notes on pages 108 to 218 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

HNFEI108EEE2I8BE 2 Wi AKRGA Y
BmEkz—ED-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEEZHEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-ZT-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

2021
—_E_—=F
Note HK$°000
Bt 5% FER
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(EE) 329,403
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EREMEEK A~
for the year (E#8)
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEFSER
profit or loss: BmsIHE :
Change in fair value of financial assets A AR EBEFTA
at fair value through other HEt2mERa=E s
comprehensive income TREENARE
ﬁﬁ%ij) 20
Item that may be reclassified HiEAjeEF DI E
subsequently to profit or loss: BmsIHE :
Exchange differences on translation of BB GINEFS
foreign operations EHRER (33,728)
Other comprehensive loss FRAEMEZEERE
__forthe year, netoftax mewE
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEREEBAS
for the year Q- F-0F % 295,677
Total comprehensive income/(loss) BT 5EE B
attributable to: 2EKBA (FE)
B
Owners of the Company KRABHEE A
Non-controlling interests eI =

295,677

The notes on pages 108 to 218 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e
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2020
—T-TE
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HK$'000
THET

(16,060)

(21,053)

(116,607)

(116,596)
(1)

(116,607)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI E

At 31 December 2021 W—ZE—-—F+-A=+—H

2021
—_E_—=F
HK$'000
THERT

2020
ZEFF
HK$'000
FHT

845,610
936

10

6,220

63,128
62,150
941

852,776

44,196

196,617
196

81,528
66,082
494,955

28,800

76,833
1,398

74,090
68,589
640,915

883,574

122,538
7,479
2,354

66,019
1,040

890,625

199,430

684,144

Note
B 7

Non-current assets ERBEE
Exploration and evaluation assets BRE B E 16
Property, plant and equipment W BE R 17
Investments in joint ventures REEREZIRE 19
Financial assets at fair value through EAnEEFAEM

other comprehensive income rHB R SREE 20
Prepayments, deposits and ERRIE SR

other receivables H b W FRTE 22
Current assets REEE
Inventories rE 21
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 IR R E A

JE W 318 22

Current tax recoverable AT Yz (0] BN EA B 1E
Financial assets at fair value BEAREBEFABEZ

through profit or loss EHEE 23
Gold investment EoRE 24
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 25
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables EREZER R

H b B 0B 26

Borrowings fBE 27
Lease liabilities HEaE 28
Derivative financial instruments TEemITE 30
Provisions BH 31
Income tax payable FERTFTIS B
Netcurrentassets _ ________________ ‘REBAEFE
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARG

1,536,920
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R R

At 31 December 2021 R—ZE-—F+-F=+—H

2021 2020
—F=—F —ZT-FHF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E F#& T BT
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Borrowings B 27 = 3,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 23,505 3,503
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 29 46,221 14,920
Provisions BE 31 365,713 -
. 435,439 . 21,423
Net assets EEFE 1,101,481 758,956
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners RATHER AEIGER
of the Company
Share capital N 32 87,589 87,589
Reserves i 1,013,941 671,418
1,101,530 759,007
Non-controlling interests R ER (49) (51)
Total equity EEBEHE 1,101,481 758,956

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 218 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 March 2022 and signed on its behalf.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
R §5 8
Director
EF
The notes on pages 108 to 218 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE=ZT=—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN N,
Fair value Non-
Share Share Capital Exchange reserve (non-  Contributed  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve recycling) surplus losses Total interests equity
MEERRE

Bx  ROEE  EARE  EXRE (FUER)  EMB®  RRER #it  FEREE  BEAR
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS00  HKS0D  HKS'000  HKS'000
THL ThL T TiEn THR T T TERL ThRL T

(Restated) (Restated)
(BE7) (7))
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZB-%F
-B-AzEH 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (519,695) (107,136) 740,880 (4,233,111) 846,299 156 846,455
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (79,483) (79,483) (1) (79,494)
Other comprehensive loss Eh2EER - - - (21,03) (16,060) - - (37,113) - (37,113)
Total comprehensive loss 2AFRLE - - - (21,093) (16,060) - (79,483) (116,596) (1) (116,607)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 1 F 31 R B 2 8. - - - - - - - - (196) (196)
Impact of hyperinflation Etdkoye
- restatement effect -EjlgE - - - - - - 29,304 29,304 - 29,304
Balance at 31 December 2020 RZZ2%%
TZAZt-Bz&# 4,868,181 9,591 (540,748) (123,196) 740,880 (4,283,290) 759,007 758,956
Profit for the year EREH - 329,401 329,401 329,403
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 2@ (BR) /A (33,728) = (33,726) (33,726)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 27 (F#&) /KA4E (33,728) 329,401 295,675 295,677
Impact of hyperinflation BBk YE
- restatement effect i 46,848 46,848 46,848
___________________________________ 46,848 46,848 46,848
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZBz-%
TZR=T-BzEH 4,868,181 9,591 (574,476) (\PERED)] 740,880 (3,907,041) 1,101,530 (49) 1,101,481

The notes on pages 108 to 218 are an integral part of these HNE108EEF2I8HEZMEARGAH
consolidated financial statements. BHREkz2—HD e
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HEZZT=—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—F=—F —ZT-FHF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7 FET FAT
Operating activities RE K
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB ATE R, (BE) 343,636 (64,558)
Adjustments for: AT EIBEL 2 FHE
Assets impairment losses BERERBE 5,823
Depreciation e 7 8,987
Unrealised fair value (gain)/losses on EeBMITAZ
derivative financial instruments RERQAREE
(M=) /K8 (571) 2,925
Fair value losses/(gains) on EeREZANEE
gold investment B8, (W) 6 2,507 (6,119)
Finance costs A& KA 10 13,927 11,115
Hyperinflation monetary adjustments BHBEREEEARE 4,324 (5,871)
Bank interest income RITH B WA 6 (3.383) (6,995)
Net investment loss KREERFE 9 40,941 29,623
Net foreign exchange losses SNE B 1R A 8,011 1,803
Share of losses of joint ventures EIhEELEEE 19 5 7,078
Gain on bargain purchase wEEBEWE 36 (407,655) -
Operating cash flows before changes EEESPHA
in working capital KERPRE 39,300 (16,189)
Changes in working capital: HEEEH:
Increase in inventories FEM (12,332) (15,783)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and FEWE 5 R K&
other receivables E h FE R IB
A () 51,382 (56,318)
Increase in trade and other payables BRESHEZR R
H fth & -SRI 3E AN 20,996 18,472
Cash generated from/(used in) KEERFE
operations (FFA)BE$ 99,346 (69,818)
Interest paid AR E (4,462) (11,108)
Interest received B F & 3,383 6,995
Income tax refund/(paid) BiRE (B FRER 945 (1,369)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BeXIRE
operating activities (FFR)BESFEE 99,212 (75,300)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-—ZT-——F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B = THER T T
Investing activities RETEE
Payment for purchase of financial BERAAE
assets at fair value through FFABEZ SR
profit or loss BESMNZRE (73,714) (67,139)
Payment for purchase of BEESRE
gold investment X2 FRIE = (62,470)
Payment for purchase of exploration BEUMRLIEEE
and evaluation assets YA 2 508 16 (408) (1,151)
Payment for purchase of property, BEWE BEK
plant and equipment BBz A (7,558) (56)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WENB AR Z
subsidiaries WEmL TR 36 (28,726) -
Proceeds from redemption of BEZEAREE
financial assets at fair value FAE@m SR
through profit or loss BEZFTSIE 22,055 79,793
Interest received from financial BWIERA AR EE
assets at fair value through FFABHC SR
profit or loss BEZHNE 3,205 3,880
Dividend received from financial Bl R e
assets at fair value through ST AB = Z%F&E
profit or loss BEIR 730 150
Net cash used in investing REZHFARSERE
activities (84,416) (46,993)
Financing activities Rl & E B
Repayment of borrowings BEEEENE (155,311) (10,000)
Payment for lease liabilities HEAR (BEME)X
(including interest) (4,457) (2,387)
Dividend paid to non-controlling A JE 42 AR 4 2 2 T AR
interests - (196)
Proceeds from borrowings BB Z S IE 9,166 4,497
Net cash used in financing activities BEZFEFTARSEHE (150,602) (8,086)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBEEEY
cash equivalents WD FEE (135,806) (130,379)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—BAZHRERK
at 1 January REeEEY 640,915 771,662
Effect of foreign exchange EXEEBHNTE
rate changes (10,154) (368)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=ZA=+—-8B=z2
31 December ReRALSEEY 25 640,915

The notes on pages 108 to 218 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

New Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company and its registered office and principal place
of business are Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and Room 1402, 14/F, New World Tower
I, 16-18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong respectively. The
Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company
is an investment holding company. Details of the principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
the “Group”.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”). The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except for
the following:

- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") (including derivative financial instruments)
measured at fair value;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

- gold investment measured at fair value; and

- adjustments for the effect of inflation where entities
operate in a hyperinflationary economy.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of a judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) Amendments to standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following amendments
to standards for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related
(Amendments) Rent Concessions
HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 Reform — Phase 2
and HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

The adoption of the above amendments to
standards did not result in any impact on the results
and financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E PR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1
(b) New and amended standards, interpretation
and accounting guideline by the HKICPA not
yet adopted
The following new standard, amendments to
existing standards, interpretations and accounting
guidelines have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning on or after 1 January
2021 and have not been early adopted:

mBLERE ()

(b) HARERHZEEBESLE
P2 HET RAZIEZTER -
BEREES
T LR RAEAZE
FREBREAHEIN-F
——F—- A H&ZEFASR
Z B REE A B E R
BRI R IR

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after
R A&
RZBEEZ
FEHBEXR
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19-Related Rent 1 April 2021
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
BATBREENE 165 (BFTA) ZEZ-FRA=tTH#EZ —E_-F¥MA—H
20198 R BSHIEBEE S EH
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Standards 1 January 2022
Standards 2018 — 2020 2018 - 2020
- \FE_Z_TEREUERSE E-)\EE_Z_TEFBUBRE T F-A-
Rz F R R FEYE A
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16, Narrow-scope Amendments 1 January 2022
and HKAS 37

BEMBREERIN BEQHEE 16T, ERBEREZER]
hEBGFERETH (BITK)

—F--%—H—H

Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised) ~ Merger Accounting for Common Control 1 January 2022

Combinations

BB GBS E55% (K1E8:]) HAZGEH 2 EHEE —E-__%-A—H
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2023
Non-current
BAEHERE 15 (BFIA) BESARBEEIFREBAEE —EZ=—-H—H
HKAS 1 (Revised) (Amendments) Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
BAGHENE R (KEFT) (BFIA) BHURER —TZ=F—-H—H
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 (Amendment) Making Materiality Judgements 1 January 2023
BAUBREENEBBRE2N (BFTA) ELBREEN 2 #IE —TZ=F—-H—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

21 mBREE(E)
(b) HARERHZEEBESLE
P2 HET RAZIEZTER -
BEREES (&)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) New and amended standards, interpretation
and accounting guideline by the HKICPA not
yet adopted (Continued)

Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after

i N=R:
RZEHBZ
FEHEEN

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting 1 January 2023
Estimates and Errors

RS RAESH (BFIA) SRR SR EHRER —T-=%-A—-H

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

HKAS 12 (Amendments) 1 January 2023

BEREGHERE 125 (BFTA) HEE-RPELZEER —E=%—-f—H
BERBZEERE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

BAMBREENE TR Rz a4 —E-=%—-A—H

Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

HK (IFRIC) = Int 5 1 January 2023

Bt (ARG HRERBZES) MBImERNZT —T-=%-A—-H
—REEH —ERAYEE R BRE TG
EHERZNE

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)
BB B HREELFELR (BFTR)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BRMBREENFI0H K
BRGRRAFE285E 2B

Expiry Date of the Deferral Approach
xR Em B 8

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
REERHABZE AT
MEEHESIE

FRELEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards, interpretation
and accounting guideline by the HKICPA not
yet adopted (Continued)

The Group will adopt the above new standards and
amendments to existing standards, interpretations
and accounting guidelines when they become
effective. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the related impact of adopting the
above new standards, amendments to existing
standards, amendments to existing standards,
interpretation and accounting guideline, none of
which is expected to have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

2.2.1Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 22 ZRERARERSS (&)

accounting (Continued)

2.2.1Subsidiary (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

2.2.2 Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group has joint ventures
only.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method (see Note 2.2.3 below),
after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

2.2.3 Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

22.1K1B A& ()

BB T 2 R4 RS 2
IR % 5 BB 251
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£ GARBRRIRREA
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)

2.2.3 Equity method (Continued)
When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with Note 2.11.

2.3 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of
the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate financial statements (Continued)
Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
that makes strategic decisions.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar, which is the Company’s
functional and Group’s presentation currency.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

2 BEX

2.4

2.5

2.6

EETHERME (2

BYMHEHK (F)

i B B M B BB 2 B B R BB HB
8 2 U s AR R - Sl B S B 15 3R
RPREREEBLES VKR
R TREHSREEFE (BRER
B)MEEE AR ZRER
R B - S F R EETRER

DR E

EEy i RE S AR

R *% ERENAB®RSET R

*@I AENBEERNMFHELD
B RRE AR

E%IEJ& CORANYNCTE K o)

oh 4
BEK

AP BHREMS BHNEELED
BIreatt2® BRIFZFNEA
BERUEERBARBRER R
REUEE TERFEE BEFA
RS SRR~ 0 $HEE an SRR AR A A
BRI AREERREERU-
WX IEEBERNZEEDENTE
SZERERBOBE BIAAH2

e

SRS
(a) WERZIEHE
AFARKER BB B ®REK

B 7%
MIER NEZEBLER
ETHEFELERENER
([Thee E® )t E-& 00
BMERTIARRBINEEEEE
RAREEZ2HEEETEY] -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are recognised in profit of loss. All foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within “other income,
gains and losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Transaction differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equity held at FVPL are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equity classified as FVOCI are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations, which do not have the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy and have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

o income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

° all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

The results and the financial position of group entity
which is accounted for as entity operating in a
hyperinflationary economy and that has a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
of the Group are translated into the presentation
currency at the closing rate at the date of the
statement of financial position, and all the resulting
translation differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)
26 ME]E (&)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

2.7 Hyperinflation accounting

As the presentation currency of the Group is that of a
non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts are
not adjusted for changes in the price level or exchange
rates in the current year. Differences between these
comparative amounts and the hyperinflation adjusted
equity opening balances are recognised as below:

- The restatement effects for the equity opening
balances are recognised directly in equity; and

- The translation effects for the equity opening
balances are recognised in exchange reserves
through other comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of non-monetary assets and
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the change in the general
price index from the date of acquisition to the end of
the reporting period. An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the restated amount of a non-monetary
item exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on the net monetary position are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Hyperinflation accounting (Continued)

All items recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss are restated by applying the change in the
general price index from the dates when the items of
income and expenses were initially earned or incurred.

At the beginning of the first period of application, the
components of owners’ equity, except accumulated
losses, are restated by applying a general price index from
the dates the components were contributed or otherwise
arose. The restatement effects are recognised directly
in equity, and the translation effects are recognised in
exchange reserves through other comprehensive income.
Restated accumulated losses are derived from the residual
amounts in the restated statement of financial position.

At the end of the first period and in the subsequent
periods, all components of owners’ equity are restated by
applying a general price index from the beginning of the
period or the date of contribution, if later.

All items in the consolidated statement of cash flows are
expressed in terms of the general price index at the end
of the reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly leasehold
improvements, machinery, fixtures and office equipment,
motor vehicles, oil and gas production assets and
right-of-use assets. Accounting policies for oil and gas
production assets and right-of-use assets are set out in
Note 2.9 and Note 2.27 respectively. All other property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year in which
they are incurred. Except for oil and gas production
assets, depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Machinery
Others

5-10 years
3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement
of financial position. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income, gains and losses,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Oil and gas production assets

Expenditure on the construction, installation or
completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms,
pipelines and the drilling of commercially proven
development wells, is capitalised within construction
in progress under property, plant and equipment.
When development is completed on a specific field, it
is transferred to oil and gas production assets under
property, plant and equipment. No depreciation is
charged during the development phase.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Oil and gas production assets (Continued)

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and
evaluation assets (refer to Note 2.10) and development
expenditures associated with the production of proved
reserves.

Oil and gas production assets are depreciated using the
unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates
are based on total proved reserves, which are crude
oil reserves estimated to be recovered using current
operating methods.

Proven oil and gas production assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows.

2.10 Exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of
accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field
basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, exploration and
evaluation assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, no depreciation and/or amortisation
is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.
Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and
exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs,
are capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets
until the determination of reserves is evaluated. If it
is determined that commercial discovery has not been
achieved, these costs are charged to expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)
210 IR RFALEE (&)

2.10 Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration
and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and
reclassified to property, plant and equipment. No
depreciation and depletion is charged during the
exploration and evaluation phase.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for
impairment when reclassified to oil and gas production
assets, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate
impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’
carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and
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evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and RAREFEAEENRSE
their value in use.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 211 FEMEERE
Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation EESHLEBAXNBEREHBETE

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
investments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

BERETHREE#)

2N RERHEMEREE (&)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued) ziii) FrE (#&)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other income, gains and losses,
net” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets QN BEREMERMEE (&)
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued) ziii) FrE (#&)

126

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
OClI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
“other income, gains and losses, net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other income, gains
and losses, net” and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in profit or
loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within “net
investment loss” in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)

(iv)

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “other
income, gains and losses, net” when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Change in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “net investment loss” in the
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment
losses and reversal of impairment losses on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.2(b) for further details.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group and the counterparty.

2.14 Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the
date of a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
each reporting period.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories comprise of precious metals held for trading,
consumables and crude oil are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises invoiced cost
and other direct costs, and is determined on a weighted-
average cost method. Cost of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting discount if applicable. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less all costs to completion
and all direct costs necessary to make the sale.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 EWE B R R H b B FIE

2.16 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and other receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes
in value.

2.18 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Borrowings (Continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

2.20 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i)

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date
in the countries where the Group and its joint
ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based
on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the date of the statement
of financial position and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liability are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.22 Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render
the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued) 222 EE@H (&)
(b) Pension obligations (b) EBUNLEMF

The Group maintains a number of defined
contribution plans in the countries in which it
operates, the assets of the retirement benefit are
generally held in separate trustees-administered
funds. The retirement plans are generally funded by
payments from employees and by the Group.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000
(2020: HK$30,000). Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group also participates in the employees’
pension schemes of the respective municipal
governments in various places (including the
Mainland China and the Argentine Republic) where
the Group operates. The Group makes monthly
contributions calculated as a percentage of the
monthly basic salary and the relevant municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees
of the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.23 Gold investment

Gold investment comprises the investment in gold
bullions for the purposes of capital appreciation and
capturing the effectiveness of gold as inflation-proofing
instrument. Gold investment is initially measured at
cost. Subsequently, gold investment is stated at the
gold price prevailing at the date of the statement of
financial position. Changes in fair value of gold prices are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as part of “other income, gains and losses, net”.

2.24 Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 B (&)

2.24 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Estimated dismantlement cost for oil and gas production
assets which meet the criteria of provisions are recognised
as provisions and the amount recognised is the present
value of the estimated future expenditure determined
in accordance with local conditions and requirements,
while a corresponding addition to the related oil and
gas production assets of an amount equivalent to the
provision is also created. This is subsequently depleted
as part of the costs of sales. Interest expenses from
the estimated dismantlement costs for each period are
recognised with the effective interest method during
the useful life of the related oil and gas production
assets. Due to technological progress, legal requirements
or changes in the market environment, changes in
the provisions caused by changes in the amount of
expenditure, estimated time of retirement obligations,
discount rate, etc., may occur in fulfilling the retirement
obligation. For an increase in provisions, the cost
of oil and gas production assets will be increased
accordingly; for a decrease in provisions, the cost of
oil and gas production assets will be deducted within
the limit of the carrying amount of assets related to
estimated dismantlement costs. If a decrease in the
provision exceeds the carrying amount of the oil and
gas production assets recognised corresponding to the
provision, the excess shall be recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition

(i)

Sale of goods - sales of precious metals, oil,
gas and petroleum-related products

The Group sells a range of commodities and
products including precious metals, oil, gas
and petroleum products under the general and
commodities refinery and trading segment and
upstream segment. Sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to customers,
the customers have accepted the products, the
collection of the related consideration is probable
and there is no unfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. It is
generally satisfied at a point in time when the legal
title has passed to customers.

The determination of whether revenue should be
reported on a gross or net basis is based on an
assessment of whether the Group is acting as the
principal or an agent in the transactions. For the
sales of precious metals, in determining whether the
Group acts as the principal or an agent, the Group
follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent
considerations in HKFRS 15. Such determination
involves judgement and is based on an evaluation of
the terms and the substance in the precious metals
trading arrangement as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Sale of goods - sales of precious metals, oil,
gas and petroleum-related products (Continued)
The Group has engaged a sales agent to conduct
and handle the precious metals trading on behalf of
the Group and entered an agency agreement with
the sales agent during the year. In determination of
whether revenue of sales of precious metals should
be recognised on a gross or net basis, while none of
the factors individually are considered presumptive
or determinative, the Group is the principal in the
precious metals trading arrangement as it controls
the precious metals products before the products
are transferred to customers, because (i) the Group
is primarily responsible for delivering the specified
precious metals products to customers. The Group
has its discretion to trade with particular suppliers
and customers proposed by the sales agent. The
Group obtains the control of the precious metals
products and has the discretion to direct the sales
agent to deliver the precious metals products to
customers on behalf of the Group; (i) the Group
is subject to inventory risk including but not
limited to purity and quality issues which cannot
be compensated by the sales agent or other
counterparties; and (iii) the Group has the discretion
to approve the range of selling price, which
represented the spot market price plus or minus
the premium and discount, proposed by the sales
agent charged to customers. Therefore the Group
recognised the revenue on a gross basis.

Drilling service income

The Group recognises revenue in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss upon completion of the
services.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii) Financing components
The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

2.26 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at FVPL is included in
"net investment loss” on these assets, see Note 9 below.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as part of finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.27 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for
these as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSTTHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Leases (Continued) 227 HE (&)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received, and makes adjustments specific
to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct cost; and
J restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

2.28 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.29 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company's shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEBERERE
3.1 Financial instruments by categories 31 RERESNEWMIA
Financial Financial
Financial Financial assets at Financial liabilities at
assets at assets at  amortised liabilities  amortised
Note FVPL Fvodi cost at FVPL cost
BARERE

BAAMEE  HARM BRA ROAEE BAEA
FPAREN  REREH man  SHABER BaEn

ik EREE SRMEE SREE 2 EREE SHAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TBT TRL TRL TR TR

As at 31 December 2021  RH-E-—%

+-F=t+-H
Debt investments BBERE 23
Equity investments BaiRE 20, 23
Derivatives fTETA 30
Trade and other receivables [EWZ 5% K
H it WA 2 165,418
Cash and cash equivalents B2 RAESEY 25 494,955
Trade and other payables ~ ERE ZEH R
H it R 26 118,059
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 30,984

660,373 149,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BXEMRERE#)
3.1 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 31 RERESNEMIA(£)
Financial Financial
Financial Financial assets at Financial liabilities at
assets at assets at amortised liabilities amortised
Note FVPL FVOCI cost at FVTPL cost
BOAEE
BAREE STAEM A BRAREE B
STABER  2EMEN BEN  FABER B
(i3 REE SREE SREE tRBRE SRAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL T THT
As at 31 December 2020 R-T-TF
+-A=1+-
Debt investments EREE 23 21,036 - - - -
Equity investments BaiE 20, 23 53,054 8 - - -
Derivatives fTETE 30 - - - 2,925 -
Trade and other receivables [EWZ 5% K
H it WA 2 - - 72,204 - -
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁ’i\&fﬁ/\”fﬁw 25 - - 640,915 - -
Trade and other payables BT E Z 8%
EIWE[&HMIE 26 - - - - 70,219
Borrowings EE 27 - - - - 146,067
Lease liabilities HEERE 28 - - - - 6,665
74,090 8 713,119 2,925 222,951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, price risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising
in the normal course of its business and financial
instruments. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market risk

(1)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through carrying out exploration activities
in Argentina and Canada and general and
commodities trading in Hong Kong, with
respect to United States dollar (“US$").
Currency risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against functional currency. It
mainly includes managing the exposures arise
from sales and purchases made by the relevant
group companies in currencies other than
their own functional currencies. The Group
also manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net
foreign exchange exposures. Presently, there is
no hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong
Kong dollar, translated using the spot rate at
the year-end date. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

3

BEERERE 2

32 UHEBEE (&)
(a) mEmEE (E)

(i)

EEmERE (%)
TRFMAEERRS
HAREHANEHER
MBI S
BEZEEREEXRE
mES 2 G ER -5t
2HREN RBRAES
BUABTTEY KAF
B4 E B 2 BNHEAGE =47
CRNCEIE TP R E
BERAEEZ2EE
EEZEREZRTEE
EAe

Exposure to US$
(expressed in HKS$)
ErxEkE (Bx)

— = —

— - —

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables

ZERMEE

JEUWE 5 BR M

H b fE U FR0E
BeMREEEY
ENESERR

H b B F08
Financial assets at FVPL ERARBEETAEBZ

31,976
233,785

(54,255)

2,401

Net exposure arising
from recognised assets
and liabilities

ERREERAGAHN
2 AR R BR

213,907

Majority of the Group currency risk exposure
to US$ is related to the Group's operations in
Hong Kong for which HK$ is the functional
currency. Since the pegged rate between
the Hong Kong dollar and the US$ would
not be materially affected by any changes in
movement in value of the US$ against other
currencies, the directors of the Company
considered that the Group's exposure to
currency risk is not significant and accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis has been presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes
arising from debt and equity investments
classified in the consolidated statement
of financial position either as at financial
assets at FVOCI or at FVPL amounted to
approximately HK$10,000 (2020: HK$8,000)
and approximately HK$81,528,000 (2020:
HK$74,090,000) respectively. Most of these
investments are listed either on the stock
exchanges of Hong Kong or other countries.

Equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer term growth potential and are
monitored regularly for performance against
expectations.

Debt investments are placed with
counterparties with sound credit quality. The
Group closely monitors the credit quality
and financial positions of counterparties and
consider appropriate action if the market value
of those securities decline by a pre-determined
threshold.

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 5% in the price
of relevant financial instruments, with all
other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's profit/(loss)
before taxation and other comprehensive
income by approximately HK$4,076,000
(2020: approximately HK$3,705,000) and
approximately HK$500 (2020: approximately
HK$400 respectively as a result of the change
in fair value of debt and equity investments.

3 BXEMRERE#)

32 UHEABEE &)
(a) wmEmEE(E)

(1)

B 18/

REBRD IR EE B
BRRERDEEEAR
BEFTAHEMEAE K
S AR R EEFAER
7)< B & = £910,000/%8
7T (—F=F 4 :8,000
B T) K #4981,528,000
BIL(ZE T F:
74,090,0005% 7t ) M Fa
BEREHAR -ZER
BZBRZHNE BN
HEMBERZEBEHR ST
Ere

BEaRENRBERE
EERBNIE XF
HERKREBHES
Mo

ERREFRNEREE
ERFZHFH K&K
BEOEERF I ZE
EHERBBIRAR
aEESFMENEET
RERRBUEE 178

RZE-_—F+=H8
=+—H HEHEEe
MTAERERT&
5% MATEEMES
HEHETEERT A%
B EER R ERRE
DhBEZES MRS,
BEMBRHAER, (5
BIREMEZEmKED
711 494,076,000/ 7T ( —
= =T : 493,705,000
B r) 45008 T (=
T ZFF 4008
JL) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Price risk (Continued)

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result
of changes in commodity prices. Commodity
prices and gold prices are affected by a
number of economic, political and military
factors which are not within the control by the
Group.

The change in prices of precious metals expose
the Group to price risk as the Group conducts
business activities in precious metals trading
and also gold investments. As at 31 December
2021, the Group had certain derivative
financial liabilities with a carrying amount of
HK$2,354,000 (2020: HK$2,925,000) for the
purpose to mitigate the price risk arising from
precious metals price fluctuations. Hence,
the Group considered the price risk arising
from precious metals price fluctuations is
significantly reduced.

The change in commodity prices expose the
Group to price risk as the Group conducts
petroleum-related activities in Argentina. A
decrease in such prices could adversely affect
the Group's financial position. The Group has
not used any derivative instruments to hedge
against potential price fluctuations of crude
oil. The management will consider appropriate
hedging policy when the need arises.
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3 BXEMRERE#)

3.2 MEREKRERZE (&)
(a) FHEE (E)

(1)

B (&)

EmERERERRE
BEIARKRESREER
an B 45 £ 8) MR B A0 =
RemmERRERE
B ZIRAREE B AR
LR BahES
REMEE-

ESBEREHSR
EEEEBEESLRE -
RRAAEAEBEHRAEE
CBEERESKRE
EBEH - N _T - —
F+-A=+—H K
SEAEETHEEEAS
2,354,000 7L (=& =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BXEREKRER#

3.2 BEREBEZE (&)
(a) HEERE (&)
(i) FE @ g

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(iii)  Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets, except for short-term
bank deposits and debt investments, the
Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates. Management does
not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from changes in
interest rates because the interest rates of
bank deposits and debt investments are not
expected to change significantly.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
borrowings with fixed-rate of interests. The
directors of the Company considered that the
Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is not
significant, no sensitivity analysis has been
presented accordingly.

Details of the Group's borrowings are set out
in Note 27.

AR AR BB ERTT
FRREFREIN I
BEAFREE AR
BRAREERERE
KB NS 35 ) R
FE -mREHRT
FREEHREN KL
BEEAEH EEER
MM BB REE
WEBATE -

ZRER [ B ) 2 B e L
BEEMEMEEE
KB 2 F R @R
AEXR AL E 25
MERERZSERED
Ao

REEMEEFBHER
BeFE27 ©
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, cash at banks and the
unlisted investment classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
financial instruments which are stated as follows:

3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

MEERER &)

32 UHEABEE &)
(b) =EmEE
AEBEZEERBREIEREA
A FEUE 5 Bk 3R M E i e U
R RTASRDBERR
AARBEAAEZZEHME
EZILEMERE FEHZ
E=EREERZEERT
B2 BRmE{E - A :

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET

Trade receivables FEUE 5 BR 3K

Deposits and other receivables & K H b JE I 8

Cash at banks RITIN G

Unlisted investment classified NEREAREBEEA
as financial assets at fair BaseRMEEL
value through profit or loss WA

124,786 61,271
40,632 10,933
494,943 640,903

50,477 -

Maximum exposure to credit risk =12 &A%

710,838 713,107
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables

The management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial position
and condition are performed on each and
every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and taking into account
information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Normally, the
Group does not require collateral in respect
of its financial assets. Debts are usually due
within 30 days (2020: 30 days) from the date
of billing. As at 31 December 2021, the largest
customer of the Group, with the largest
amount of revenue during the year, accounted
for approximately 19% (2020: 22%) to the
trade receivables of the Group.

To mitigate credit risk with respect to
receivables arising from sale of precious
metals, the Group usually requires customers
to pay significant amount of advanced
payments to the Group before goods are
delivered. Hence, the Group considered the
credit risk is significantly reduced. There
was no significant amount of overdue
receivables arising from other customers as at
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for trade
receivables.

3 BXEMRERE#)

32 UHEABEE &)
(b) =EmEE (&)

(1)

JE W E 5 885
ERECHERFER

K OURHEBEERZEE
ERBA N - KEEE
HHEERTERP 2
Bk R IR EITE
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REFPBAEREZRE
R ZEBREsRE
AIREREE N W E &
EPZRHEEEHNUR
HEFEEEBHITE
KB IRIEAARE 2 B o
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ERESMEEEK
ﬁ#ﬁuu EBXBEHA
HEREE Q308 (=
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BEREF (FAN &R
BZBEPRP) EXREHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

(1)

Trade receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been assessed on an
individual basis. Management has applied
the expected credit risk model and estimated
the probability of default rate and loss given
default rate after considering the current
economic environment and the forward-
looking economic factors. As the Group only
had limited numbers of customers, credit risk
of each customer was assessed individually.
The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the expected credit loss is not
significant as a majority of the balance is due
from government bodies and no provision
has been made as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Credit risk of cash at banks

Management considers that the Group has
limited credit risk with its banks which are
leading and reputable with low credit risk. The
Group has not incurred significant loss from
non-performance by these parties in the past
and management does not expect so in the
future. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of
cash at bank is assessed to be minimal and no
provision was made as of 31 December 2021
and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Deposits and other debtors

Deposits and other debtors were mainly
interest receivables, rental deposits, and
refundable deposits placed to third parties. The
credit quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the risk of default by
these counterparties is not significant and
there was no significant increase in credit
risk. The expected credit loss was limited to
12 months expected credit losses. Therefore,
credit loss rate of the deposits and other
receivables is assessed to be minimal and no
provision was made as at 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group had investments in unlisted fund
and debt securities. The Group monitors the
credit risks of these investments through
evaluation of financial data and performance
of the investees. The directors of the Company
were of the opinion that the risk of default
by these counterparties was not significant
and there was no significant increase in credit
risk. The expected credit loss was limited to
12 months expected credit losses. Therefore,
credit loss rate of these investments was
assessed to be minimal and no provision was
made as at 31 December 2021.

3 BXEMRERE#)

32 UHEABEE (&)

(b) =EmEE(E)
(i) #& 2 R M e R

(iv)

B M EAEUGRIEE

ZRENRMNE HER
T RFAE=TTHAR

BiRL e NHEME
WWEHIE Y EEBEELR
EXFHTRNERR
5% 75 B R R R 2 FE 52
BERETHME AR A
EERRRFRHY
FHEL BRI TEKX

N AZ B R g 37 £ K 1 318
e RS B IERE
RR1I2EABEHEE
EE - meRkHE
fh FE U ZE Y B R
R HE BT ARNZ
T —FRZITTF
+—-A=+—8WEHt
R

AT EEFAEZ
ZELEEE

REBBEBIFLTHE
e REBEFZERE -
REBFBTHWIRE
T2 B RS EE R R IR IA
ERZEREZEER
Bre ANRIEERBZ
ERXGHF 2 EHRR
WAEKXNREERR
4 K i@ 18 0 - 78 2R fo
BB R 1216 A TEHA
FEEBEBE-AL %%
wE 2 EEE B R
HAETAERZE=—
F+_A=+—HiE
MR -

Annual Report 2021 ¢ —ZF =~ —F F 3f

151



152

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by
the Company’s Board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at date of the statement of financial
position of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
statement of financial position date) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay. Balance due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as
the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEERER®
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 32 BKREBEE &)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () #EBELRERE(EZ)
The Group’s derivative instruments with negative rEBAFBEBELARBEY
fair value of approximately HK$2,354,000 2,354,000 7T 2 HTE T B35
represented the gold future contracts and paper EeHECARAES KK
gold and paper palladium which were settled on B HRFREEAELEBELTR
a net basis and has been included within “less BIREA R BAEEGT A [ BA
than 1 year or on demand” time bucket based MR ESK] — Wt Th R
on an expected maturity basis. This is because BRHNBAYTHRIRERE
the contractual maturity are not essential for an B B PRI FE 478

understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

Total Total Less than
carrying  contractual 1 year or Between Between Over
amount undiscounted ondemand 1to2years 2to5 years 5 years

#Ben  1ENAY
BEEE REZ BEX 1226 255F 81855
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THL THL TAL TAL TEL

As at 31 December 2021 i
+-R=1-8
Trade and other payables ENESEAR
o ERFE 118,059 118,059 118,059
Lease liabilities HEAE 30,984 32,561 8,025
Net-settled derivative FREEETELBIA
financial instruments 2,354 2,354 2,354
151,397 152,974 128,438 11,349
As at 31 December 2020 i
+-A=1-8
Trade and other payables R 8 HEAR
Bt 7R 70,219 70,219 70,219 - - -
Borrowings f& 146,067 150,547 147,545 3,002 - -
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,665 7,019 3,227 3,792 - ®
Net-settled derivative FREEETESBIA
financial instruments 2,925 2,925 2,925 - - -

225,876 230,710 223,916 6,79 - =

Annual Report 2021 ¢ —Z - —# 3% 153



154

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders’ returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, net debt
is defined as total debt which includes interest-bearing
borrowings. Total equity is the balance as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's
strategy, which was unchanged from 2020, was to
maintain the net debt-to-capital ratio at a reasonable
level. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt. The table below analyses the net debt-to-capital
ratio as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management (Continued)

3.4

3

MEERER &)
3.3 EXEAKRER (&)

Borrowings (Note 27) BE (M5E27)

Lease liabilities (Note 28) HEBE (ME28)
Total equity e EE

Net debt-to-capital ratio B FREE R X

2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-FF
HK$ 000 HK$'000
TER FET

- 146,067

30,984 6,665
30,984 152,732
1,101,481 758,956
2.8% 20.1%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Fair value estimation

(i)

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of
the financial instruments measured at fair value at
the date of statement of financial position across
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the
fair value of each financial instruments categorised
in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to that fair value measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical financial instruments.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active market for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable data.

ARAREEAMEBRBHIRE
EAATSMNER B B AN 35 TE AT IR 1

3.4 DABEEME

(i)

BAAEBEARZEZMTA
TREJRMBANEK A
ERBU B REERETHR
[EMTRE BEIMRELZ
AABEZFEERFT KA
REEIIEZERTAZE
HE MEETBRTEZAR
BEAHZARBEFER
BEAZ&ERB R AZEM

BB
PSR E 2 BIRINT :

- E-E(RBER) :
YGEVIELEELD:
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B)HEAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BKRERERE@
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.4 DRAEBHEME (&)
(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value (i) BRAAEBEAKRZZ@EIA

(Continued) (%)

o Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured D F-E (EREX):
using valuation techniques in which any VA E T (A Ef
significant input is not based on observable BREABE T FEA]
market data. BRMIGHE AR

EAREE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—F FZB £=8 @t

HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F
+ZA=+—8
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCl: EARBERTA
Htzmkes 2
SREE:
- Unlisted equity investments —ErTRERE
Financial assets at FVPL: EARBETA
EaWemEE:
- Listed equity investments —FhERKRE - 10,700 28,650
- Listed debt investments —LFTEBRE - - 2,401
- Unlisted debt investments —FELTEBHKE - 36,789 36,789
~ Unlisted funds —FErmES 13,688 - 13,688
13,698 81,538
Liabilities afE
Derivative financial instrument: #7448 T A:
— Gold future contracts -HEHEAN

- Paper gold & paper palladium — —#% & & K 4K 40
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BXEREKRER#
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 34 DAAEBEME (&)

(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

() BAAEBEAKRZEZHTA

(Continued) (4&)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E E-E EZE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET SR FAL FTAEL
As at 31 December 2020 NZ_ZEZFF+-A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCI: BRARBEG AL
2EHBEZEMEE:
- Unlisted equity investments —ELMERKRE - 8 - 8
Financial assets at FVPL: BRARBEFABEMN
SHER:
- Listed equity investments —LRERERE 53,054 - - 53,054
- Listed debt investments - EMELKERE 14,945 - - 14,945
- Unlisted debt investments - EEMERERE - 6,091 - 6,091
67,999 6,099 - 74,098
Liabilities afs
Derivative financial instrument; ~ $T4£ 4@ T A
- Gold future contracts ~-E2HERY 644 - - 644
~ Paper Gold -#fiE 2,281 - - 2,281
2,925 - - 2,925

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, there were no transfers between instruments
in level 1 and level 2. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group transferred a listed
equity investment measured at FVPL from level 1
into level 3 due to no available quoted price in
active markets for the shares which were suspended
from trading. For the information about level 3 fair
value measurements, please refer to Note 3.4(i)(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of the statement of financial
position. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. Instruments included
in level 1 comprise primarily equity and debt
investments listed in the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“Singapore
Exchange”) and the Stock Exchange classified
as financial assets at FVPL.

Financial instruments in level 2

The equity interest in Foothills Exploration is
classified as equity investment and carried at
fair value. The fair value is valued using the
market approach with reference to the market
price of shares of Foothills Exploration (2020:
the market approach with reference to the
market price of shares of Foothills Exploration).

The unlisted funds held under the accounts
with Blanz Capital is classified as investment
carried at fair value. The fair value is valued
using the market approach with reference to
the official peso-dollar exchange rate.

The unlisted debt investments, unlisted
equity-linked securities and unlisted funds are
classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair
value are determined based on quoted market
prices provided by banks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 3

The level 3 instruments mainly include
investments in a listed company which
had been halted for trading and certain
unlisted debt securities classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.
As there were no active market for these
investments, majority of their fair values have
been determined using applicable valuation
techniques including comparable transactions
approach and asset-based approach. These
valuation approaches require significant
judgment, assumptions and inputs, including
information of recent transactions (such as
recent fund-raising transactions undertaken
by the investees), financial information of
the investees and other publicly available
information.

The following table summarises the
quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements of other investments in unlisted
preferred shares of private companies.

3 BXEREKRER#
3.4 AREEMGE (2)

(i) #

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UHEREE®
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.4 AAREEME (£)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value () BAABEAKRZLHTA
(Continued) (%)
(c)  Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (c) ZE3ELFITA(#F)
Fair value Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description at December 31 unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
R+=—A=+-—H EXRFABER TABERAEER
it ZAREE LIPN: §: ARBEZEE
2021 2020
= = —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER
Unlisted debt securities 36,789 - Recent transaction prices  The higher the transaction prices,
the higher the fair value
JE M ERES THEARZ S ERE R EEBES -
AREEES
Listed equity securities (which 10,700 - Net asset values of the The higher the net asset value,

had been halted for trading)
FTIRAE FH
(EEmEERE)

underlying investments the higher the fair value
HBKREZEAESHE EEFESS
AREELES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BXEREKRER#

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)
(c)  Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes

3.4 DRAEBHEME (&)
(i) BAAREBEAKRZZHTA
(%)
(c) FE3BzHTAE)

FERERTABERS
ABUER QR EBIER
B(%£=E)

TERENEHEZZ
in level 3 instruments for the year ended T+ ZA=4+—
31 December 2021: HIFEEE=EITA

m &L

Listed equity

investments

EHRAKRE

HK$'000

FA&ET

At 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—F—H—H -

Transfer from level 1 to level 3 HE—EEREE=E 41,486

Loss recognised in consolidated R iEaRERZEIE (30,786)

statement of profit or loss

At 31 December 2021 W-ZE F+-_A=+—H 10,700

Note: B 5 -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 357,637,761
ordinary share of Blue Sky Limited, a listed company on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong,
approximately HK$10,700,000 (2020: HK$43,274,000
which was measured in level 1 hierarchy) was halted from
trading in late January 2021 and transferred out of level
1 into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As there was an
absence of active market for the investments, the fair value
was determined by alternative valuation approach. The fair
value of the investment was determined based on assets-
based approach, after considering the impacts of incidents
disclosed in the forensic report and annual report of Blue
Sky Limited for year ended 31 December 2020, and interim
report 2021.

RZTE-_—F+ZA=+—
A ANEE#ES [ERMAE
XKERBR AR (—HEAR
BEBBRMERETMZAAR])
2357,637,7611% L@ A% 4
10,700,000 L (=T ==&
143,274,000 0 I H —
BRAB )N T - —4F—
AEREEER] ¥ HmE—
BEBEF-"EBEAAREEE
RN ZEIRE W &®TER
mE AR EERBERG
BEET KEEEERR
EXEREBER AT ] ZEE
HERBE-_ZT_TF+=
A=+—ALEFEZFHRIA
T —FHhEREME
BEHIvER ZEKEZ
AR BEDREBEEEERE

=

EE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

The main level 3 unobservable inputs used by
the Group in measuring the fair value of the
equity investment are derived and evaluated as
follows:

The benchmarks and returns of comparable
companies: these are determined based
on the companies that operated in similar
business and the simple average of the
returns of the comparable companies from
the trading date before suspension date to
31 December 2021.

Discounts for lack of marketability:
marketability discounts of 14.60% and
51.40% are used to the adjusted share
price in arriving at the estimated per-
share value of the equity investment
under the resumption scenario and under
delisting scenario respectively.

Probability of delisting: the probability
of 48% is estimated by dividing the
total number of Hong Kong delisted
companies suspended for a prolonged
period before delisting over the trailing
12 months by the total number of
Hong Kong listed companies suspended
extensively over the same period.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments, including non-current assets carried at
cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and
2020, due to their short maturities.

(iii) Fair values of non-financial assets carried at

fair value

The fair value estimation of the physical gold
investment, which included in “gold investment”
(Note 24), is categorised in Level 1 hierarchy. The
fair values is based on quoted market prices in
an active market at the date of the statement of
financial position.

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
in the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with HKFRS. The assumptions, estimates and judgements
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. While
the management reviews their judgements, estimates and
assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom equal
to the estimates.

Estimates and judgements are regularly evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

The matters described below are considered to be the most
critical in understanding the estimates and judgements that
are involved in preparing the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

()

(i)

Business combinations

Accounting for acquisitions require the Group to allocate
the cost of acquisition to specific assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values
at the date of acquisition. The Group has undertaken
processes to identify all assets and liabilities acquired,
including acquired intangible assets. Judgements made in
identifying all acquired assets, determining the estimated
fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, as well as asset’s useful lives, could
materially impact the calculation of goodwill, bargain
purchase and depreciation and amortisation charges in
subsequent periods. Estimated fair values are based on
information available near the acquisition date and on
expectations and assumptions that have been deemed
reasonable by management. Determining the estimated
useful lives of tangible and intangible assets acquired also
requires judgement.

Different conclusions around these judgements may
materially impact how these investments presented and
measured in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

Impairment losses of non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment and other non-financial
assets, including exploration and evaluation assets, are
reviewed for possible impairments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Determination as to
whether and how much an asset is impaired involves
management estimates and judgements. However,
the impairment reviews and calculations are based on
assumptions that are consistent with the Group's business
plans. Favourable changes to some assumptions may
allow the Group to avoid the need to impair any assets
in these years, whereas unfavourable changes may cause
the assets to become impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment losses of non-current assets
(Continued)

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological
prospects for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and
estimated the value of oil to be produced in the future
at a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. For drilling costs and other exploration and
evaluation assets, the Group determined whether the
related well costs are expensed if it is determined that
such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgement is required by the
board of directors of the Company to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and
changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.

Estimated production volume and
dismantlement costs for oil properties

Estimates of future production volume are key elements
in the Group’s investment decision-making process. They
are also an important element in testing for impairment.
Changes in total proved oil future production volume
will affect unit-of-production depreciation recorded
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for
property, plant and equipment related to oil production
activities. A reduction in proved future production volume
will increase depreciation charges. Future production
volume estimates are subject to revision, either upward
or downward, based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices,
contract terms or development plans.

4 EBEREFEFTRHAE #)

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iii) Estimated production volume and

(iv)

dismantlement costs for oil properties
(Continued)

Dismantlement costs for oil properties are estimated
with reference to engineering estimates after taking into
consideration the anticipated method of dismantlement
required in accordance with industry practices in similar
geographic area, including estimation of economic life of
oil properties, technology and price level. The ultimate
dismantlement costs are uncertain and cost estimates can
be varied in response to many factors including changes
to relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new
restoration technique or experience at other production
sites. The expected timing and amount of expenditure
can also change, for example, in response to changes
in reserves or changes in laws and regulations or their
interpretation. As a result, there could be significant
adjustments to the provision established which would
affect future financial results.

Fair value of unlisted equity investment
measured at FVOCI

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
valuation method and makes assumptions that are mainly
based on conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. The Group bases its assumptions on observable
data as far as possible but this is not always available, in
that case the Group uses the best information available.
Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at each
reporting date. Details of which are set out in Note 3.4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5

The principal activities of the Group are (i) exploration,
development, production and sale of natural resources in
Argentina and Canada; and (ii) general and commodities
refinery and trading in Hong Kong and the Mainland China.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in Note 5(b).

(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:

SREMBHRRME

W 35 K 73 BB ¥R

AEE 2 EBZHRBORMRE R INE
RFTREHE FAE LERHEERR
AR RMREFBRTEARM 2 EBR
BmERLED ARANREEZER
B — R E T O FES(0) I R -

(a) WEmHAD
KEEPAHHNWEIATZER
HRFBARA DI T -

2021 2020
—E—- —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Revenue from contracts with BB HRE R F 1558
customers within the scope of RESHEANREEF
HKFRS 15 Bk E

— Refinery and sales of precious —ERkEmESHZ

metals under general and EcBRREHEE

commodities trading
— Sales of petroleum-related products —ZRNEME S 2

under general and commodities AHEEERIEE
trading

— Sales of oil and gas products —HRMERREEZ
under oil and gas exploration MREmIEE

and production

10,824,703 4,975,370

33,559
259,633 25,589
11,167,076 5,034,518

Revenues of the Group are recognised at point in time as
disclosed in Note 2.25.

MNP 2. 25 W EE - REE 2
KR E—RREZER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Revenue from major customers who have individually
contributed 10% or more of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
disclosed as follows:

5 WHERDHBHRSE (&)

(a)

=P
®P2

Customer 1
Customer 2

The above customers are included in general and
commodities refinery and trading segment.

Segment reporting

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to make strategic decisions.
The chief operating decision-maker is identified as
the executive directors of the Company. The executive
directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on the segment assets, segment
liabilities, segment revenue and segment results for
the purposes of allocating resources and assessing
performance. These reports are prepared on the same
basis as these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WRKDEmE &)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZERE (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
expanded its commodities refinery and trading of non-
ferrous metal to include physical gold trading. In addition,
the Group also entered into the trading of petroleum-
related products in the Mainland China. The trading of
petroleum-related products in the Mainland China is not
a reportable operating segment, as it did not meet the
quantitative threshold accordance with HKFRS 8. The
results of the general trading have been aggregated into
one segment with commodities refinery and trading as
they have similar nature of business and similar average
gross margins.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
further expanded its commodities refinery and trading
to other precious metals including physical silver and
platinum trading.

Management has identified two reportable segments
based on the Group’s business model:

o Upstream: This segment is engaged in the
exploration, development, production and sale of
oil and gas. Currently the Group's activities in this
regard are carried out in Argentina and Canada.

o General and commodities refinery and trading:
This segment includes refinery and trading of non-
ferrous metals and petroleum-related products.

Segment assets include all the assets with the exception
of investments in joint ventures, financial assets at FVOCI
and unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include all the liabilities with the exception of deferred
tax liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities.

Segment profit/loss represents the profit/loss resulted by
each segment without allocation of assets impairment
losses, share of losses of joint ventures, net investment
loss, unallocated interest income and expense and other
expenses in corporate head office. This is the measure
reported to the Group’s chief executive decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 W@EKkDAR®|E (@)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEHE (&)
Capital expenditure comprises addition to exploration and HE-_Z-_—FR-_ZF-_FF
evaluation assets and property, plant and equipment for +—A :‘1— HIEFE EXRMX
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. BREMENBRRETIHEERY
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) DE¥E LEREE
Information regarding the Group's reportable FAREBETAERFEE
segments as provided to the Group’s chief executive BERREREBROERSD
decision maker for the purposes of resource HRRAGCEAALEERZ
allocation and performance assessment for the year WMoy MERHNT :

is set out below:

General and commodities

Upstream refinery and trading Total
Lk EERERERRES st

2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
il - F Bl - e

GGV HKS'000 BELISHVUN HKS000 SISV
TR TER TR TER TR

Reportable segment BEE G E

revenue (Note) (B 259,633 25,589 EREIYETVE] 5,008,929 N VAL 5,034,518
Reportable segment result o] 25 HEE 44,499 (2,534) 2,859 47,358
Depreciation and TEREH

amortisation 6,596
Fair value (losses)/gains ~ E&HEZ

on gold investment AREAE

(B8),/ Mz (2,507) , (2,507) 6,119

Gains/(losses) on derivative $T44 @I A

financial instruments Wz (F#8) ; 7,725 , 10,291 (9,489)
Interest income FEWA , 38 2,633 799
Interest expenses FERY ; 250 9,256 1
Addition to non-current  FEREDHEE

segment assets im 7JI] ) , 7,485 13,468 1,694
At 31 December RZEZ-5R

2021 and 2020 —E2F

+ZA=+—H

Reportable segment assets ] 25 HBEE 1,216,226 162,324 336,425 278,984 1,552,651 441,308
Reportable segment AEZHABEE

liabilities (510,321) (28,063) (18,527) (22,109) (528,848) (50,172)
Note: B 3 -
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated X2z o B 1 K B SR
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during E}E'Zﬂﬁlﬁﬁ°3’\$¢r&@&¢r
both the current and prior year. All of the Group’s revenue is EONEHEER - RNEB A
recognised at a point in time. Llﬁlﬁﬁﬁ’\i—ﬂ?ffaﬁgﬁﬁ&” o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WHERDHEE (@)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (&)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, (ii) TE2HZ W - B AE
profit/(loss) before taxation, assets and F(EE) BEERERE
liabilities: ZE K

2021 2020
—E--F —T_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue W &=
Reportable segment revenue A] 23y W 11,167,076 5,034,518
Result B4+
Reportable segment result AIEWRDHEE 47,358 3,128
Unallocated interest income Ko B A B A 750 6,196
Unallocated interest expenses KOEFERAX (4,671) (11,104)
Assets impairment losses BEERERBE - (5,823)
Gain on bargain purchase HEBEWR 407,655 -
Other expenses in corporate NEAEEE M X
head office (65,170) (20,254)
Share of losses of joint ventures [E{R& &% 2 &8 ()] (7,078)
Net investment loss HEEEFE (42,281) (29,623)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRANEF (EE) 343,636 (64,558)
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(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5
(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

profit/(loss) before taxation, assets and

liabilities: (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Wi K2 E|E (@)

(b) 2EHE (&)

(i) HE2#H7 AWK - BFH A E
R (BB BEEREME
ZHhR%E: (&)

2021
T
HK$'000
THERT

2020
—E—=&

—_—= =

HK$'000
TET

1,552,651
936

10

52

441,308
941

502,858

74,090
1,354
609

1,736,350

1,021,168

2021
—_E_——F
HK$'000
FHET

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
THETT

Assets BE

Reportable segment assets AERHHEE

Investments in joint ventures REeEdrEIRE

Financial assets at FVOC| BEARBEARAMm
cEHBECERMEE

Unallocated corporate assets ROBBEEE

— Cash and cash equivalents - HekBE2FEY

- Financial assets at FVPL —BAREEFA
BalemEE

— Other receivables — H fth JE W R IE

- Others —E A

Total assets BEBTE

Liabilities =R

Reportable segment liabilities AEHmoEaE

Deferred tax liabilities BERIBAE

Unallocated corporate liabilities KO BEBE

- Unallocated borrowings —AROBEE

— Deposit received —BliizE

— Unallocated lease liabilities - AOEBEEAE

— Others —E A

(528,848)
(46,221)

(44,994)
(3,601)
(11,205)

(50,172)
(14,920)

(141,316
(44,994
(6,187

)
)
)
(4,623)

Consolidated total liabilities

(634,869)

(262,212)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WRKDEmE &)
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (&)
(iii) Geographical information ziii) HEZH

The Company is domiciled in Bermuda while the
Group operates its business primarily in Hong
Kong, the Mainland China, Argentina, Canada and
Singapore.

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
from external customers and (ii) the Group's
non-current assets other than financial assets at
FVOCI ("specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of the Group's revenue
is based on the locations of customers. The
geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on (i) the physical location of the
asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment
and exploration and evaluation assets; and (ii)
the location of the operation to which they are
allocated, in the case of prepayments, deposits and
other receivables. In the case of investments in joint
ventures, it is based on the location of the operation
of such joint ventures.

Revenues from
external customers

RENBEF 2z

2021
—EBE-—F
HK$°000
THET

Hong Kong 5 10,136,124
Singapore s 688,579
Canada mex 212,665
Mainland China FR B A D 82,740
Argentina Bl 4R 5 46,968
United Arab Fy 47 17 -

Emirates B & B KB

11,167,076 5,034,518

ARFREREER - T4
EEEERES AN
AR 5E 90 K R BT A0
FES B

TR EE KB I
gRzkE RiVAEEZ
FERBDEE TEERAA
BEAAHEMCEZEAREZE
REE([BEFRDEE])
WEUEZEMN KEBER
BEMIBLE DEREFH
M- EFRRDEEZ M
BAUEEROIE  BE
RELBENFEEEM
5 REAFMRZIE &
(LN RIE e R EM
R IR 5 WEED R
ZEEWR -PREEDLE
ZEREME AAZEFEE
RGBS R -

Specified

non-current assets

BEFRBEE
2021 2020

—E=—F it

HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx THET

13,807
718,292 >
233 483
120,434 128,370

852,766
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

6 OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6 HMRA WEREBEFHE

2020
—E-TF
HK$000
FHETT
Bank interest income HRITH B WA 6,995
Drilling service income AR WA 978
Gains/(losses) on derivative TEemIT AW (EE)
financial instruments (9,489)
Fair value (losses)/gains on =B REZAREBE
gold investment (E18) e 6,119
Hyperinflation monetary BURREE A (M)
adjustments (Note) 7,659
Net foreign exchange losses HNEE BT IR F R (7,622)
Others Hi 586
5,226
Note: B Rk
In May 2018, the Argentine peso (“ARS”) underwent a severe devaluation RZT—N\FRA MREHRR ([MBREHE])
resulting in the three-year cumulative inflation of Argentina to exceed 100%, KEBERE SHMARE=FH100%8 Z5td
thereby triggering the requirement to transition to hyperinflation accounting as B EMBENBRAAIRD AR ZEDE
prescribed by HKAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies, for - N\F-B—BRERBEBGERIE295%
the activities of the Argentine subsidiaries and branches from 1 January 2018 [ 751 388 iR 42 75 B 7% R E’\]i‘ﬂi ARERRNE
onwards. BIREMENER
Under HKAS 29, the non-monetary assets and liabilities stated at historical RIBE B G ERFE295  IRE L K AFIBR Z IF
cost, the equity and the statement of profit or loss of subsidiaries and branches E?ﬁg |"$§JX§53E1§ T KRR RIR B IR R
operating in hyperinflationary economies are restated for changes in the general EECMBRAAIRD ARz ERR AKB—E
purchasing power of the local currency applying a general price index, and —Q%ETE%@%’“MEM BBEN2EHTIU
monetary items that are already stated at the measuring unit at the end of the B MERBRESHRIZFTEEMI T ZEE M
reporting period are not restated. EERRTES
To measure the impact of inflation on the Group’s financial position and RIAEBRELTEEOYMBEARR R EEPTER
results, the Group has elected to use the Wholesale Price Index (Indice de IFE AEBREE - F+=-A=+—
Precios Mayoristas) for periods up to 31 December 2016, and the Retail Price B EIR B & A3 B E 8 #(Indice de Precios
Index (Indice de Precios al Consumidor) thereafter. These price indices have Mayoristas) * LA R A E 1% 3% A T & (B EEH (Indice
been recommended by the Government Board of the Argentine Federation of de Precios al Consumidor) * #Z 5 BB 8 HAL B
Professional Councils of Economic Sciences. REMAREENSEXEEENBNEZEGRE
Current year hyperinflation monetary adjustment for the change in price BRIESEH 2 AFEBHRREEABRREL
index amounting to approximately HK$5,870,000 (2020: HK$7,659,000) was 5,870,000/ 7t (=& ZZ 4 : 7,659,000/ 7t )
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. FABRKRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 EMEESZBEX
Profit/(loss) before taxation has been arrived after charging the BELADER, (B1E) &R AT E
following items: Bi&ES:
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B = THET TFHETT
Cost of inventories recognised as BRI 2 HFEKAE
expense 11,036,303 5,000,333
Depreciation of property, W WERERETE
plant and equipment 17 35,394 6,568
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 17 2,164 2,419
Employee benefit expenses EEBARX
(including directors’ remuneration) (BIEEEHS) 11 30,985 16,379
Processing charges MIEM 10,472 7,823
Auditor’s remuneration % B 6N B &
— Audit services —BEZR% 1,900 1,880
- Non-audit services —EEZ R 2,470 20
Legal, professional and FEEER
transaction-related expenses R E5EERAX 48,157 3,794
Others HAh 18,422 11,447
Total cost of sales and general and HER—KK
administrative expenses T 2 2 #BR AR 11,186,267 5,050,663
8 ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 8 EERESIE
2021 2020
—E- —E-TF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y BB KM 17 5,823
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

9 NET INVESTMENT LOSS 9 REBFEFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M = FHE T FHBT
Net losses in listed equity securities EIRAEERE
B8 55 23 32,906
Net losses/(gains) in listed and T RIELETERES
unlisted debt securities 2R (W)
FRE (1,599)
Others Ei (1,684)
29,623
10 FINANCE COSTS 10 AmE A
2021 2020
—E-—F e e S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FA&ET
Interest on borrowings EEF S 4,462 10,888
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 675 227
Imputed interest on provisions BEBHEEN D (MFE31)
(Note 31) 8,790 -
13,927 11,115

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 11 EEREABEXZ (EBEESH
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION) €)

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Salaries, wages and other benefits He HEREMER 29,453 14,827
Contributions to defined contribution & %8 fit TR A&t 2 4 7%

retirement plan 1,532 1,552

30,985 16,379
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 11 EEEABEX (BIEEEMH

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION) (continued) &) (#)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, no forfeited BHE_T-_—F+_A=1t—HIFE"
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its 7 [ R B AR OR WA SR BARL D R AR
contributions for the current year (2020: Nil). FEZHR(ZEZZFE) -
Five highest paid individuals EuBEESFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2020: A ESFMALTEFR ML (ZF=
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 12. EF W) AEE BB WE128
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate of E'§°%Z§_$:—¢+_H =+—H1t
the emoluments in respect of the other three individuals (2020: FE HMW=ZU(ZE=-FF:=f)A
three) were as follow: T EHEMESMT
2021 2020
—EB-—-F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T T
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RUREVMET
in kind 2,279
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 188
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B3R 54
2,521
No emoluments were paid by the Group to these individuals AEBWFERAZEA TSI HERBSE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as RIMBAREENINBE 2 BE R IERE
compensation for loss of office. BiE -
The emoluments of this highest paid individuals fall within the EaHMALTZHMEeBENT
following band:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,0017% 71,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0017% 751,500,000 7T 1
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e MR RRME

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries,

Directors’ allowances and
fees benefits in kind

e 2HR

Exhe ENEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET

Chairman EYH
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ Z388 844

Executive director HITEF
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan WXBEE (TTHAR)
(Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHEE

Independent non-executive BUHNTEE

directors
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BEZRRE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SiRBLE
Mr. Huang, Victor ERERE

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEEANRANGE (FEDQA
%6l (£622F ) F383MF K A
A (BEESAZEN) R
(55622GE) & LR AURE
FiiE 2 %)

(a) EEHM
EEFHMREREARKIE
3BMERRB (HEEEMNEE
)RR E2B R ERELT -

Employer's

contribution

Discretionary to a retirement
bonuses  benefit scheme Total

EERHKEHN
BiERA at Bt EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERL THERT THERT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

12

SREMBHRRME

EEFEMRANZF (FAELT
&0 (56622%F ) 53831 K A
A (BEEENRER) RH
(%6622GE )R EmHEAIBE
FrEZIRE) (&)

(a) EEZHM (&)

2020
k23
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2R
XK ENER MEEAL  RIKGHEIRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THIT THL THT THIL
Chairman E
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ E8318 2L & - 2,225 360 - 2,585
Executive director HITEE
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan Wk Bk (77H#8H)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 2,496 400 - 2,896
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHEELE 485 - 40 - 525
Independent non-executive BUHNTEE
directors
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (resigned  BREELE
on 24 March 2020) (R-F_FF
ZAZTHAGE) 46 - - - 46
Mr. CHIU, Wai On REZEE 200 - - - 200
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRBEE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Huang, Victor (appointed ~ #ERELE
on 19 June 2020) (R-F-F#
NATHEEERE) 107 - - - 107
1,038 4721 800 - 6,559

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors of the Company as an accepting office as
director or as a compensation for loss of office as director
(2020: Nil).

MEARNREEREEMNHNE
AEBTEREFAARBDESES
BLE VEET%E%%H%%@Z;&EJJ
ABMEEERUZAE(ZF=-F
FE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking (2020: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for
the early termination of the appointment during the year
(2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the third parties for making
available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year (2020: Nil).
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BB N B B 55 2 Eth R 5 0 2 A
SEWRKERN(ZZEFF:
;) o

EERBERN
FR WEABERFLIRAKLE
wHHE(ZE_FF &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

INCOME TAX

SREMBHRRME

13 Fife%

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHET

Current tax Bl HA %1 15
Provision for the year FNEAE
Deferred tax EER 18

Charged to the profit or loss (Note 29) W iEzE K (Ff5E29)

1,040

14,222 13,896

14,233

14,936

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Company and its subsidiaries
incorporated in Bermuda and the BVI are not subject to any
income tax in Bermuda and the BVI for both the current and
prior year.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision
for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year ended
31 December 2021 as the Group's operations in Hong Kong
had no assessable profits.

Subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are subject to
Argentina corporate income tax (“AIT") at 35% (2020:
30%) and minimum presumed income tax (“MPIT"). MPIT is
supplementary to AIT and is chargeable at the applicable tax
rate of 35% on the tax basis of certain assets. The tax liabilities
of subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are the higher of AIT
and MPIT.

Subsidiaries of the Group in Canada are subject to Canadian
corporate income tax (“CCIT") at 38% together with the
provincial abatement of 10% and general rate reduction or
manufacturing and processing deduction of 13%, the net
federal tax rate is 15%. With the provincial and territorial
CCITs range from 8% (Alberta) to 12% (British Columbia), the
aggregate tax rate ranged from 23% to 27%.

REBRENRBREAHS (KEEX
BB ZARUER ARm REME
NCIFNEE S SE- ) bog o Fa i VA
AREMMBEFEABBHMNERE
REBRELBE SIS -

REE-_TE-—F+-A=+—HI1
FE-BBEMNEHIIBREBEARAFE 2@
R R FIRI65% (ZE-TF:
16.5% ) B EERBE B2 T = —
FT+ZA=T—HLEFE BREEH
REBZ EBWEERT AR - &
TIRBANETIEE-

S BB AR AE 2 M B X B A 1R35% 1%
R(ZT_TF:30% ) BAMRERE
PrEmt ([FAREMEH ) B R &K
PRt ([HERBREREB] ) o #HOB &K
TSR ARMREMSHR M IHE
TEEZREAE35%E AT REU - K
SEMNBRARRMREZHEABRM
RIEFSH MR ZEMERIEDE -

AEBRINE XM B A FEE38%H
MEREMMERDERSH (TMERL
EFBHR])  ERI0%NEER R —
ARTR ORI % DA T2 13% B0 B3 I hn T 40
G FREABI5% B R M@ MENE
AEEMBMBEEN T8% (XAEE)
E12% (BF4E) HBRENT23%E
27% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma B R Y R

13 INCOME TAX (continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group in the Mainland China are subject to
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) in accordance with the Law of
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") on Corporate Income
Tax (the “CIT Law”). Under the CIT Law, the income tax rate
applicable to these subsidiaries is 25% (2020: 25%).

Taxation for other overseas subsidiaries of the Group is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant countries and regions.

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax

13

FRig®t (&)

AEBRPRKERNNE R R ZERES
EARELFME ([FE])ECEMBHE
(TRERBBE]) BMDEMSH ([
EmBH]) BECEMENE ZF
B A E@EAMSHE X A25% (=
T_FTF:25%)

AR B E At SN B B 2 B TR IR AR RE
BER KkilE 2 RITHEE R R -

AEERBAATN, (BE)2HHER
ERAKENEATNERMOHERES

rate of the Group's subsidiaries as follows: ZERSEERNT
2021 2020
- —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRALEF (EE) 343,636 (64,558)
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before BRARB AR (EE)
taxation, calculated at the rates ZHREBIE  REAR
applicable to profit/(loss) in the BEARB A ERER R,
jurisdictions concerned (EE) 2 BHEFE 60,172 (8,198)
Tax effect of non-taxable income RN 2 T2 (67,554) (1,358)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ~ FAIHMIFF S 2 HiE T 2 16,558 5,466
Tax effect of hyperinflation impact BHBERNTEZINMBEEE 11,977 8,859
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BREBETRERE
previously not recognised as BEBIEEELZ
deferred tax assets MBEBBE BB E (14,295) (2,676)
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary ~ RERHREE B K&
differences not recognised TREBIOBBTE 975 4,719
Tax effect of derecognition of deferred HUHHBRBERBEEEZ
tax assets M E 7,366
Tax effect on change in tax rate (Note) AB REBHN T HEF £
(BtzE) 6,400 758
Income tax expense Frig 8 14,233 14,936

Note:

B

BE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—RLEE MEE
BEMERHEBI0% A E35%

The tax rate of AIT increased from 30% to 35% for the year ended 31 December
2021 onwards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

14 DIVIDEND

15

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend
the payment of any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(losses) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(losses) per share is
based on the Group's profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$329,401,000 (2020: loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$79,483,000) and weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year of approximately
8,758,881,000 shares (2020: 8,758,881,000 shares).

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, basic
and diluted earnings/(losses) per share was the same as
there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

14 RE

EEgEEIMRNEMBEZE_T-_—F
TZA=T—HBIESFENRERE (=
E_FTFE M)

= —=

15
(a)

(b)

SREFN,(FE)

BREXRER (FE)
ERERBIDRERARES
ABMEAEEGZHN, (FEB)D
329,401,000 L (Z T ZFF : K
NEHEA AL ET1E#979,483,000
BT RAFEE BT BRI
5 #498,758,881,000/% ( — =
— 4 :8,758,881,0000% ) 5+ & -

SRBERR (FE)
BHE_Z-_—FE=-_FT=FF
+ZA=+—HBILFE BHRFR
MEE T B EEN T BRG
WMEREAREEAN (HB)
EIEIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

16 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 16 BIERFTGHEE
Exploration Exploratory Geological
rights drilling studies Others Total
BRE BREH HEHRE Hith Fohs
(Notes (a)
(Note (a)) and (b))
(@) (HEFER®b)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR TEL TEL THL
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-T4%-F—H
Cost A 3,228,271 137,372 181,986 33,991 3,581,620
Accumulated impairment ZERE (3,228,271) (33,537) (181,986) (33,991) (3,477,785)
- 103,835 - - 103,835
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-%— Eﬁ
+-A=+-HLFE
t 1 January 2020 Eé:?:?i —H - 103,835 - - 103,835
Addition RE - 1,151 - - 1,151
Transfers (Note (b)) ?Ei;pg (PEE(D)) - (28,619) - - (28,619)
Hyperinflation adjustments EHBRAE - (13,239) - - (13,239)
At 31 December 2020 “ZCZR
+ H_+ A - 63,128 - - 63,128
At 31 December 2020 “Z-%F
*:ﬂ:+_ﬁ
Cost A 3,226,181 89,212 137,637 31,429 3,484,459
Accumulated impairment ZitRE (3,226,181) (26,084) (137,637) (31,429) (3,421,331)
- 63,128 - - 63,128
Year ended 31 December 2021 H2-Z-—%
+-A=t-BL5E
t 1 January 2021 W-Z-—-%£-A-H 63,128 63,128
Additions NE 408 408
Transfers (Note (b)) a2 (i) (53,526) (53,526)
Hyperinflation adjustments EHERAE (10,010) (10,010)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F
+=A=+-H
At 31 December 2021 R-E-—F
TZA=+-H
Cost A 3,225,286 24,863 118,644 3,400,095
Accumulated impairment ZitRE (3,225,286) (24,863) (118,644) (3,400,095)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

16 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The total costs of exploration rights and exploratory drilling amounting
to approximately HK$3,225,286,000 (2020: HK$3,226,181,000) and
HK$24,863,000 (2020: HK$89,212,000) as at 31 December 2021
represent the Group’s 69.25% (2020: 69.25%) interest in the Tartagal
concession and Morillo concession (collectively the “T&M Concessions”)
which are the concessions in the province of Salta in Northern Argentina,
through an Union of Temporary Enterprise (“T&M UTE"). Exploration
permits were granted for oil and developments of hydrocarbons in
the T&M Concessions for an initial period of four years starting from
29 December 2006 and additional extensions up to an aggregate of nine
years may be obtained. The Group submitted applications to the Secretary
of Energy of Province of Salta, Argentina (“Salta SOE"”) for extensions
of the exploration permits and obtained the approvals in July 2010,
July 2011, December 2013, March 2016 and March 2018 respectively.
Pursuant to the approval document issued in March 2018, the exploration
permits were extended to 13 September 2019. If successful hydrocarbon
discoveries are made, the exploration permits could be converted to
exploitation permits for a term of 25 years with a possible extension of 10
years.

The Group submitted its application to the Salta SOE for a further
extension of the exploration permits in May 2019, and for entering the
second exploratory period in early September 2019.

However, on 17 September 2019, the Salta SOE issued resolutions
rejecting both the Group's applications of one-year extension and
entering into the second exploratory period in the T&M Concessions
("Resolutions”). In late September 2019, the Group have submitted its
appeal to the Minister of Production in the Province of Salta in order to
seek the revocation of the Resolutions. Based on the latest communication
with the related authorities in the Province of Salta and a legal opinion
obtained from an independent Argentinian legal counsel, the Group
believes there is significant uncertainty in regard to the timing and
possibility of a positive appeal result in favour of the Group. The Group
recognised full impairment in respect of the exploration and evaluation
assets related to T&M Concessions during the year ended 31 December
2019.

There was no significant update on the appeal in respect of the revocation
of the Resolutions during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

GEX

(a)

16 BRI EEE (&)

R —F+_A=+—HAZ2HHEER
&) ¥R 8 3 B0 4 K K 3 #93,225,286,0008
T (=T ZT4:3,226,181,000% ) &
24,863,000/ 7L (=& — & 4 :89,212,000
HBIL) - BALEEE BUnion of Temporary
Enterprise ([ T&M UTE | ) 45 & Tartagal 5 5F
2 K& Morillof5 7T # & (4118 [ T&RM4FFF
BB (AP AR 2L b 20 5E B 25 A WO AT 48
[%)69.25% (ZZ ZZF 4 :69.25% ) M) 1&
e TRMEFETIE R N 2 A om RIS & W
FEERBDRTT BT F+A
ZHNABESYVAHIME WA EINEM -

BEZAHANF - AEEC MM BIERE
BRI R ([EEEGERBR])ERH
HRAEREFZ UHRR T —ZTFt

R-—%——%tA - —F-=F+-4-
ZE-REZARZZE-N\FE=ZAEBFH
B BER-_TE-NF=ZFEZENRAEX

" HFEEIEE 2 AFART=8-
MR BERRE(EY WERTAIEmE
BARAESFRFREETR WAl ge & 10
Eo

AEBR -_ZT-NFRARERBEER
*K% IR RAAE-FERRE LR

—NENAVEZENE BT
EEEHO
R R_F-AFALA+LH BEREE

auﬁ*fﬂﬁ?fﬁé‘a LR DOARREERTAM
HHERER - FREANE —EHRAD
M B ([(REBER]) - RZT—NFNLA
E-AREREREEEERELLF
EESKBMEASR - AN EEREELM
B &P PT 80 B 8T B B R A AR A B IR B R
RESHZERER AKERR FAR
AN 52 B ¢ IE b A A SRR RS R AT R METF
EEATHEE - BE-ZT-LF+=A
=t - HLEFE AEEEBTIMEFF
R IR R A EEERTENE

REBEZZT=Z—FR-ZZT=ZTF+= H
=+ BLFE TEEBRAERER
FOEREHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

16 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The balances also included the drilling activities in the Los Blancos
Concession (formerly known as Chirete Concession) in the province of
Salta in Northern Argentina (“Los Blancos Concession”), in which the
Group farmed into 50% participating interest under a farm-in agreement
with Pampa Energia S.A., a joint participation partner (the “Partner”).

In 2016, the Group had an oil discovery in the HLG.St.LB.x-1002
exploratory well drilled in October 2015 in the Los Blancos Concession
and agreed with Pampa Energia S.A that the additional cost for further
drilling activities would be financed by the two participants.

In 2018, the Group drilled another exploratory well, HLG.St.LB.x-2001 in
the Los Blancos Concession and significant oil and gas were discovered.

In 2019, the construction of the Group's permanent production facilities
at HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory well has been completed.

On 15 October 2020, the exploitation permit for Los Blancos Concession
has been granted by the provincial authorities of Salta. The exploitation
permit officially entitles the Group to produce crude oil in the Los Blancos
Concession for the next 25 years. The carrying amount of approximately
HK$28,619,000 in exploratory drilling has been assessed for impairment
before reclassification to property, plant and equipment. The key
assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation included estimated future
commodity prices, estimated future production volume, estimated future
production cost, estimated future capital expenditure and discount rate.
Estimated future commodity prices are compiled based on forecasted
oil and gas prices published by a principal agency of a governmental
authority. Estimated future production volume, future production cost,
and future capital expenditure are estimated based on the approved
production profile and relevant budget. Pre-tax discount rate of 40%
has been applied in the value-in-use calculation. Since the recoverable
amount exceeded its carrying amount, no impairment loss is considered as
necessary on the date of reclassification.

In January 2021, the Group transferred the remaining balance of
exploratory drilling for Los Blancos Concession from exploratory drilling
to property, plant and equipment, following the finalisation of the
geographical coordinates of the area of exploitation with the provincial
authorities of Salta. The carrying amount of approximately HK$53,526,000
in exploratory drilling has been assessed for impairment before
reclassification to property, plant and equipment and no impairment was
considered necessary on the date of transfer.
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16 BRI EEE (&)

BeE: (&)

(b)

BRI BT AR AL S E B A W Los
Blancos#F#T # [& (AT f8 ChiretefF Fr i (&)
([Los Blancos#$FfE& | ) By HEE) $
£ E IR & EPampa Energia S.A. (—fE

SEBH([EEBED )uTiZE%)\;zHF
& ALos BlancostFsT R (= H)50% £ B fE 25 o

RZE—RE AEER_-_FT—HF+
F# R Los Blancos%uﬂ’iEHLG.St.LB.
x-1002 8#) £; 2 B3 A ) I BLPampa  Energia
SAZEKRBE #—FEFFIHNEIEX
15 R R 2 B B A o

MN=Z— \F  A&EER Los Blancosts #F i
[& HJHLG.St.LB.x-2001$#& ¥ 55 — iE #) = F+

WERKEABRRAR -
RZZFE—NF REBEMHLG.St.LB.x-2001

ER A B KA EEREEE K -

RZE-ZZF+A+HB ERBEER
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Blancosfrir i [ A = Rl - I R EH M IR
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BRE KR EERE ‘ﬁxﬁﬂﬁuﬂﬁ FHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 ¥ -BERZRE

0Oil and gas
production Right-of-
Machinery assets Others use assets Total
AHRAAR
B LEEE Hitr ERREEE st
(Note (a))
(Bt zE())
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-ZF-A—-AH
Cost A 38,087 - 4,710 6,358 49,155
Accumulated depreciation BEMERRME
and impairment (10,438) - (4,528) (5,650) (20,616)
27,649 - 182 708 28,539
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-Z-TF
TZAZT-HLEEE
At 1 January 2020 RZF-Z2§¥-A—A 27,649 - 182 708 28,539
Addition NE 24 - 32 7,991 8,047
Transfers (Note 16) % (M) - 28,619 - - 28,619
Depreciation E (3,692) (2,837) (39) (2,419 (8,987)
Impairment (Note 8) A (HizEs) - - - (5,823) (5,823)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHRRAE 1,840 9,878 11 - 11,729
Exchange differences ERESE - - - 26 26
At 31 December 2020 kSl 35
+-A=+-H 25,821 35,660 186 483 62,150
At 31 December 2020 “B-RF
+_H =+—H
Cost A 36,858 38,392 4,553 14,377 94,180
Accumulated depreciation and ZEMERAE
impairment (11,037) (2,732) (4,367) (13,894) (32,030
25,821 35,660 186 483 62,150
Year ended 31 December 2021 Hz-ZT-—-F
+ H +-RILEE
At 1 January 2021 RZF-_—%-A—-H 25,821 35,660 62,150
Addition NE 1,606 11,213
Transfers (Note 16) % (Mit16) 53,526 53,526
Acquisition of subsidiaries YN B R (Mise)

(Note 36) 860,753 878,708
Depreciation e (29,370) (37,558)
Reduction in provision EERIR B R B ER D

for estimated dismantlement (Mi5E31)

costs (Note 31) (140,054) (140,054)
Hyperinflation adjustments B BIREE 3,039 11,650
Exchange differences ERES 5,813 5,975
At 31 December 2021 R-B--%

+-A=+-H 28,429 790,973 26,013 845,610
At 31 December 2021 i ——E

+-A=+-8
Cost A 46,808 974,921 4,583 42,071 1,068,383
Accumulated depreciation ZHFERRE

and impairment

(18,379)

28,429

(183,948)

790,973

(4,388) (16,058)

195 26,013

Annual Report 2021 ¢ —Z= =

(222,773)

845,610

- 187



188

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuea)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Others mainly represented furniture, fixtures and office equipment, and
motor vehicles.

Due to the volatile commodity price and the potential adverse impact
on the performance of upstream business as a result of COVID-19
pandemic, the Group conducted the impairment assessment for its oil
and gas properties, which mainly included “machinery” and “oil and
gas production assets” of property, plant and equipment totalled of
HK$819,402,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$124,578,000).

The recoverable amounts of oil and gas properties are determined using
value-in-use calculation. The calculation used discounted cash flow model
based on financial forecasts prepared by management and covered the
expected life of the oil and gas fields. The key assumptions used in the
value-in-use calculation included estimated future commodity prices,
estimated future production volume, estimated future production cost,
estimated future capital expenditure and discount rate. Estimated future
commodity prices are compiled based on forecasted prices published by a
principal agency of a governmental authority. Estimated future production
volume, future production cost, and future capital expenditure are
estimated based on the approved production profile and relevant budget.
The board of directors of the Company considered that no impairment
loss is necessary as at 31 December 2021.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

17 V¥ -BERSKE#)
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(a)

(b)
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18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

18 RIBRARZRE

Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+ZHA=1+—H &XR7A
are as follows: MEARIFENT:
Proportion of ownership interest
FERERR LA
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
B3/ RE T AEEz  HARE HKEAR
RAEH REXHEEH BEATRARRAFE ERER & ¥E IEER
Total Belief Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
BEARAT EY e \REREEIETZ SRR RARR
Jade Honest Limited BVI 2,700 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% 100% - Dormant
EY e 2,700 8 REE1 R LR AEEBEY
Absolute Champ Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share at HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Trading of physical
precious metals
products
BEBERAA B \REREEETZEER ENECRER
AC Precious Metals Refinery Limited**  Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary share of 100% - 100%  Refinery of precious
HK$1 each metals
REACEBRRARAR &k 1,000,000 EHEEIATZ BEBRER
ERR
Ace Diamond Trading Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EBRAES 100RERAEIZETZ EER REER
Big Trade Investments Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RBRAHEE \REREEIETZERR REER
Bright Rise Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEERAT RBRAHE REREEET2ERR REER
Cheer Profit Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEERAA RBRUHEE \REREEIETZERR REER
Continental Energy Corporation*** Canada 100 Class A common shares of 100% - 100%  Development and
€90.01 each production of oil and
gas
mex 1000 & REE0.017T 2 REREERR
MNEEER
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18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

18 RMIBRARIZRE (#)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERERL P
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
B/ AT AEEz  mARE HWEAR
NAER REXEH BEARARRAFE ERER 58 BE IEER
Discovery Operating LLC USA Nil paid 100% - 100%  Dormant
ES Z AEEHBEY
ET-LA, LLC USA Registered capital of US$500 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ES & R00E T REER
First Continent Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EY e 100RERAEIZTZEBR REER
First Apex Global Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EERAES 100 BREEET SRk REER
Giant Perfect Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EERAES 100 BREEET SRk REER
Grand Rich Trading Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EEEFERAA RERUES RERAERIETZEER REARR
Happy Light Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HEEEERAF EY e \REREEIETZ SRR REER
High Luck Holding (Hong Kong) Limited - Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BERK (FE)ERAT i "REREEETZERR REER
High Luck Group Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Exploration of oil and gas
BESEERAT EERAES 100 BREEET SRk DRABRARR
Jumbo Hope Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RHEEERAF B \REREEETZERR REER
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18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

18 RMIBRARIZRE (#)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERERL P
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
B/ AT AEEz  mARE HWEAR
NAER REXEH BEARARRAFE BERES 58 BE IEER
New Times Power Limited BVI 1,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EY e 1,000 BHEEIET SRR REER
New Times Energy Canada Inc. Canada 500,000 Class A common shares of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(€$0.01 each
nex 500,000 & R E B0.01 17T Z A% REER
gl
Novastar Capital Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EY e 100RERAEIZTZERR REER
NTE Discovery Park Limited*** Canada 100 Class A common shares of 100% - 100%  Industrial park
(formerly known as 1069130 €90.01 each
BC Limited)
(B1781069130 BC Limited) mex 10055 REB0.01MTZ I%E
ANEEER
NTE Group (HK) Limited** Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
B 100RERAR BT EBR REER
NTE Maple Holdings Limited*** Canada 100 ordinary shares of C$0.1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(formerly known as 0942069
B.C. Limited)
(B1780942069 B.C. Limited ) mex 100%EREBE0. 1ML EER RARRK
Power Jet Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Dormant
RERTHE \REREEIET 2 SRR REXKED
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18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

18 RIBARZIERE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERERL P
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
B/ AT AEEz  mARE HWEAR
DNAER RE%£HE BREARBERAGFE BERES BE BE IEER
Rockyview Canada Inc.*** Canada 30,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
C$1 each
JIEYN 30,000,000 5 R EE M2 REER
LEk
Shanghai Energy Corporation*** Canada 56,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100%  Development and
(1 each production of oil and
gas
mex 56,000,000 & R EE 11172 REREERR
Shanghai Energy Employee Services Canada 100 Class A common shares of 100% - 100%  Shared employee Services
Corporation*** €90.01 each B
mex 100% 8 REE.01MT 2 HZEERE
AFERR
Techno Wealth Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BERRAA EBRNES IREREEIZTZ SRR REER
United Oil & Resources Trading Limited  Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HARMERESERLA i 100RERAEE BT EBR REER
AITRHESERAT PRC* Registered capital of US$1,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ik & 71,000,000% 7T RARK
Wi (L&) 5BRAR PRC* Registered capital of US$5,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of petroleum-
) related products
g B AS,000,000% RREBERES
MR (8m) B SERAT PRC* Registered capital of RIMB3,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of petroleum-
) / related products
A &R AR 3,000,007 hREEERES
United Resources Trading Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 51% - 51%  Dormant
BAEREHERAA EERES 100X BRAEIZT SRR AEEBED
* Wholly foreign owned enterprise established under the PRC law * REFBEREMAIIEBEERE
>k Newly incorporated during the year o F R L
***  Acquired during the year ook ERIEE
73/\\\ _—

As at 31 December 2021, non-controlling interests was
attributable to United Resources Trading Limited, which is not
material to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19 REELEZRE
2020
—E_EF
HK$'000
FET
Share of net assets ShEEFRE 941
2020
—T_FF
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January mn—HA—H 7,849
Share of results of joint ventures JElEEE RS (7,078)
Exchange differences N ZER 170
941
Details of the Group's interest in joint ventures, which are ReagbElan (RERE
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated WIRE TS HRBRARR) < FFIBT -
financial statements, are as follows:
Proportion of ownership interest
FERkRRL
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of issued effective  Heldbya  Principal
Name of joint ventures and business and paid up capital interest subsidiary  activities
AR & BETR A&Bz —-ZHE
BECERE EES BRBRAFEE BERER DNRAEE TEER
Smart Win International Limited BVI 200 ordinary shares of US$1 each 50% 50%  Investment holding
HEBEERAT RERIES 200 BREEIZT . EBR BAEER
Full Charming Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 29.9% 29.9%  Investment holding
RERIES REREEIETERR BAER
Hong Kong Oil Development Ltd. Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 29.9% 29.9%  Investment holding
BEERAERERAR B REREEIBT EBR BAER
BRRETERELERAA PRC Registered capital of Renminbi 28.4% 28.4%  Provision of oil
("RMB") 6,000,000 services
FE AMERARE ([AR%]) REAA RS
6,000,0007C
* Limited liability company established under the PRC law * REFBZEAMRERETAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma B R Y R

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19

None of these entities are material to the Group.

The Group’s joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities
whose quoted market prices are not available.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
investments in joint ventures and these entities also had no
material contingent liabilities.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material:

IREEMEETEAN
AEBZEECER/RRLETARER:

iblfl'
i
il
i
WE

VEIABBEARERGELRZR
BERMEREERNTYBEEANAAGE -

FEHNERNGELXEBRER:

Total assets BEMRE
Total liabilities BiE8%E
Total losses BB 4%

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZE-FTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
6,072 11,464
(11,052) (11,628)
(7,678) (25,784)

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BAABEFAEMEZEHK
BeTREE

2020
—EEF

HK$'000
THET

BERREESTAHM
2EHKEZBREES

— Foothills Exploration

Equity securities at FVOCI

— Foothills Exploration
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SREMBHRRME

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20 ZEAAEETAHMZEK
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued) BmZERMEE ()
Notes: Bar

21

@)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise equity securities which are not held for
trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition
to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments and the
Group considers this classification to be more relevant.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, fair value gain of
approximately HK$2,000 (2020: loss of HK$16,060,000) on the equity
securities at FVOCI was recognised in other comprehensive income. No
dividend or other income from equity securities at FVOCI was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (2020: Nil).

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value is provided in Note 3.4.

i) BAABEAAEGEZERKGEZEREE
BRIFFEEERAEZEAES A
SEC TR R ZER G R R
ERHHEETHR EABRRERLE
ERAULDAE HAER-

(ii) REE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HUIFE"
BEZRAABET AL 2 E WA A
EFEHHN R EEWEL2,0008T (ZE =
T4E : £51816,060,00058 7T ) 1 H 4th 2 @ U
HHRB - BERNGAESRERKAAE
B 5T A H fth 2 E U B9 AR 2N 38 5 ) AR B 5k
HMBMA(ZE_TF &) -

(iy EHEEAAEBEMEAOTERBERDN
AMFNE34 -

(iv)  All of the financial assets at FVOC| are denominated in US$. For an (iv)  FTRAREBETAHEMZEKZN S
analysis of the sensitivity of the assets to price risk, refers to Note 3.2(a)(ii). BEHUETHE FREEHERERR
B BURE ST - 58 2 BT 3. 2(a)) ©
INVENTORIES F8a
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Precious metals held for refinery BN ERE BIERR L
and trading, at cost ES5NESE 28,355 15,980
Consumables Z¥Em 15,756 12,756
Oil products AHEm 85 64
28,800

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an

follows:

(Note 7)

EHERABAXLFABRRZIFESR

expense and included in statement of profit or loss is as 2T
2020
—E_THF
HK$'000
T T

Carrying amount of inventories sold EHERE ZREME (M:F7)

11,036,303 5,000,333
11,036,303 5,000,333
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 BEWRE SRR HAmBERK
|
2021 2020
—E- —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables (Note (b) and (c)) FEUNE 5 BR (H3ED0) & (0) 124,786 61,271
Other debtors H b JE I FRIB 8,430 5,168
Deposits b 31,625 5,200
Amount due from a joint venture ElaEhENeE
(Note (d)) (Mt 5E(d)) 577 565
Financial assets measured at BEEKNATENESREE
amortised cost 165,418 72,204
VAT recoverable AU EIEE R 3,485 3,618
Other tax recoverable H b 0] Uy 0] 77 18 30,427 1,858
Other prepayments H T8N IR 3,507 3,469

202,837 81,149

Reconciliation to the consolidated RESHMBRRR ZHER:
statement of financial position:

Non-current FERD 6,220 4,316
Current ik ) 196,617 76,833
202,837 81,149
Notes: Bt 5E
(a) The Board considers that the carrying amounts of deposits, trade (a) ARTRENTETTER ESERAR
receivables and other debtors approximate their fair values as the impact - EWE SRR R EMBEWRIE FERE
of discounting is not significant. BREQNAEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days (2020: 30 days) from the
date of billing. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:

22

SREMBHRRME

EWESRAREMERR
I8 (&

BeE: (&)

by EHEZEFAMLERBHBL30590H
(ZZ=ZTF:30A)NEH-BREZE
REREZANRNBRBEBREEZINE ZE
RO :

2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fix FHET

0 — 30 days 0E30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H KA

88,155 59,801
184 85
543 1,178

35,904 207

124,786 61,271

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables. See Note 3.2(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.

The amount due from a joint venture is non-secured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other debtors, deposit and
amount due from a joint venture measured at amortised cost approximate
their fair value and are denominated in the following currencies:

(0 AKEEEAEEHBRELENFEIFRMTH
BB ERRBEREBRELRE &
REAFEHRBEE S EFRAEHNED
BEEE - FHBEHNEEEERENES
15 FH2EME3.20) -

@ BR-RAELEREAEER RAR
BREREE -

(e) HEBEAAHEZEKRESEN HME
WHRIE e RERGECENSENR
EEEEQAAEERE RAATERE:

2021 2020
—E=-—F —T-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHAT

RMB AR
us$ Ep

ARS F] AR FE 4 R
c$ i

HK$ BT

1,666 40,064
31,976 27,801
12,773 3,030

116,490 -

2,513 1,309

165,418 72,204
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23 g

PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed equity securities (note (i) EWRAEES (M)
Listed debt securities +HEHES

Unlisted debt securities ELMERRE S
Unlisted fund FLEmES

Note:

(i) The listed equity securities represent listed shares on the Stock Exchange

and are stated at fair value. Net investment loss of approximately
HK$35,675,000 (2020: HK$32,906,000) has been recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 357,637,761 ordinary shares
of Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings Limited (“Blue Sky"), a listed company
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Main
Board”), at a carrying amount of approximately HK$10,700,000 with
level 3 inputs (Note 3.4(i)(c)) after the recognition of a fair value loss of
HK$30,786,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The trading of Blue Sky's shares had been halted, the Group took into
account the key findings of the forensic investigation report, the annual
report 2020, the interim report 2021 and all announcements and related
information published and announced by Blue Sky to determine the fair
value of the investment as at 31 December 2021.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

s>

REEFABRRZEHM

2021 2020
—B=—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

28,650 53,054

2,401 14,945
36,789 6,091
13,688 -

81,528 74,090

ITHRAZBLEANRBE A ETRG R
BRARBEIGK - BE_T-_—F+=
AZ+ - BLEFE BREBBEFED
35,675,000/ 7t (= ZF = Z £ : 32,906,000
BT BERERATER -

RZEZ—¥+-_A=+—8 A&EHEHE
BUARRRERERBRAR ([EX] —
HRBEBBRAMER ([ER]) EHZ A7)
2357,637, 761 @ik REE =T = —
F+ZA=Z+—"BLFEERRAAEBEES
830,786,000/ L4 WE =B @ A H &
(B 5E3.4()(c) ) 51 = BREI{E 49410,700,000
BT

ERXRZBOHEREFR RAKEG RE
RIFHERAGZAERERSE —F=
TFEFER T —FHHAREUARME
REREBENNBEER-F-_—F+=
A=+—HZRAZARBEE



24 GOLD INVESTMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

=EERE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT

Gold held for investment, at fair value #{ERE &8¢ HAAEBE

66,082 68,589

The balance represented investment in physical gold bullions
which measured at fair value. The purposes of holding
physical gold bullions are to support the development of the
Group's physical gold trading business, and to achieve capital
appreciation and capture the effectiveness of gold as inflation-
proofing instruments. The fair value loss of approximately
HK$2,507,000 (2020: fair value gain of approximately
HK$6,119,000) has been recognised in consolidated statement
of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2021.

For details of the accounting policy, please refer to Note 2.23.

For the fair value measurement of gold investment, please refer
to Note 3.4.

ERIERIEAREBEFENEDS KN
BE-RFBEEMSENENDHAERE
AgERMEESEAMBIRTIANSE
B -REBEZTE=—F+=A=1+—
HIEFE BERGEBRERERAAE
{518 492,507,000 T (T =4 :
DR BEWRZ#I6,119,000/8TT) °

BRI HENFHE  F2HME2.23 -

ERESREZARBENE F2H
MfsE3.4 -
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25 RERBEEEEY
2021 2020
=F=—-F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Cash at bank and cash in hand RITHRENFHERE 494,955 640,915
Notes: B o
(a) The carrying amounts of the Group's cash and cash equivalents are (a) AEERSMNESEBYHEBENUAT
denominated in the following currencies: EHETE:
2021 2020
—E-—F —TEZTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
HK$ BT 106,132 466,853
us$ e 233,785 163,680
RMB AREE 796 3,050
ARS P ARFE K =R 6,743 7,319
cs$ Jilibv 147,486 -
Others Hb 13 13

494,955 640,915

(b)  Significant restrictions (by  EKRRH
Cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$790,000 (2020: RERBEEEEWT90,0008 T (ZF=F
HK$3,034,000) and HK$6,817,000 (2020: HK$7,496,000) are held in 4 :3,034,0007% 7T ) 56,817,000 7T ( =
the Mainland China and Argentine Republic respectively, and are subject T = T4 17,496,000 7T.) Jh 2 B A R
to local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control A RIREHRFMBEFE  AETE D
regulations provide for certain restrictions on exporting capital from the SINEE & I 6 151 o 52 55 & SN EE B I (R 1A
Mainland China and Argentine Republic. KB B A R B AR AE AN A O & R

TR T & TRS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26 %ﬁ%%ﬁﬁfi&ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁ%ﬂ
I

Trade payables

Other creditors and accrued charges

e 5 Bk 3X
HiENREREFER

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost
Other tax payables

Contract liabilities

BEHAATELZ
TRAE

H At &+ B 7R
BHAaE

Notes:

(b)

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one

year or are repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days

Over 90 days

0%30H

31£60H
61290H
90H KA E

Included in other creditors and accrued charges is a deposit of
approximately HK$44,994,000 (2020: HK$44,994,000) received from two
independent third parties which appointed a subsidiary of the Company
as trustee to pursue an acquisition. The potential acquisition had been
cancelled and the deposit is to be returned to those third parties.

100,072

118,059
4,085
394

122,538

2020
—E—=&

—= =

HK$'000
THET

5,695
64,524

70,219
228
31

70,478

BEHMERNE SRR R M ENFRIEA
R—FRENIIZEREE -

RBERAR BENESERREZAH=2

P ZARERDHTANT ¢

2021
—E_—&F
HK$000
TET

13,695
2,745
143
1,404

17,987

2020
—T-EF
HK$'000
FHT

4,147
50
48
1,450

5,695

HEtENRERESERCEENEE L
F = KB 444,994,000 T (T - F
F:44,994,0008 L) RE ZEFE=F
ZEARA—HMNBRARAZITANTEK
—FRE - ZBEBEREDHEUY  Ke S

RETREE=T7-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

27 BORROWINGS 27 B8

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
FHET

Unsecured term loans due for —FANEHEER
repayment within 1 year mEAERE

z
#

7

—FRIBEEZ

Unsecured term loans due for

repayment after 1 year: mEMEBHER:

After 1 year but within 2 years —FIREMFER
Reconciliation to the consolidated B4R S B SR &= O $9 AR -

statement of financial position:

Current portion MBS

Non-current portion MBI S

The term loans carried fixed interest rates ranging from 8.00%
(2020: 4.00% to 8.00%) per annum.

The term loans were fully settled during the year ended
31 December 2021.

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB

BT
AR

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FAT

143,067

143,067
3,000

146,067

TFHEFILZENENT8.00%
TE:4.00%%E8.00% )5t & o

— = —

=

FTHERRBEE-_ZE-_—F€+_- A
ST HIFERELES-

AEEGENREEINATERE:

2020
—EEF
HK$'000
FAT

141,316
4,751

146,067




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

28 LEASE LIABILITIES 28 HEAE
The Group obtains right to control the use of offices AEEFBHEETHESE —RERA
for a period of time through lease arrangements. Lease ZHIHAENEAANENHE LR
arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis with lease B EEER HHARNE=F -F#
terms from two to three years. For details of right-of-use TREEENFS F2HEWE17-
assets, please refer to Note 17.
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRENWAEBEZHEBGER T —
of the Group's lease liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and FRZBZZEF+_A=T—HZHE
2020: BHEIHHR -
2021 2020
—2=-% it 323
Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum value of the minimum
minimum lease (£ minimum lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE RERE REHE REHE
HRRE FREH RAHEE NEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET THT THT
Within 1 year —ER 7,479 8,025 3,162 3,227
After 1 year but within 2 years —EREMER 5,552 5,945 3,503 3,792
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERER 6,699 7,242 - -
After 5 years hE% 11,254 11,349 - -
30,984 32,561 6,665 7,019
Less: total future interest expenses  J&: R4 FI 8 H S @458 (1,577) (354)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 30,984 6,665
Reconciliation to the consolidated 24 A BT iR E
statement of financial position: HEER:
Current portion nEEH D 7,479 3,162
Non-current portion ERBEH 23,505 3,503
30,984 6,665
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no significant RZEZ—FR-ZFE_FF+=A
short-term lease, low-value lease nor lease committed but not —t—H TESAEHHEHE -KEE
yet commenced. HE MEEAEERARFBHEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate

29 EEBEER

EREREANTENBERHAEESR
EHNEAERE AEELEMEHE
Fl—HB#EERE R KELEHIA

to the same fiscal authority. the net amounts are as follows: BEHAETAEKE-

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets BEFRIBEE 7,802 6,590
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE (54,023) (21,510)
Deferred tax liabilities, net REFRIE B & F5E (46,221) (14,920)

The movement in net deferred tax liabilities is as follows: REFIEAEFB 2 SEWOT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZE-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At 1 January n—H—H (14,920) (11,711)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 13) RIEEE (MisE13) (14,222) (13,896)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) U BE B A A (Bt 5E36) (12,642) -
Hyperinflation adjustments BB AR A B (4,437) 10,687
At 31 December R+ZH=+—H (46,221) (14,920)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction)
during the year are as follows:

Provisions

Deferred tax assets EERBERE BB

2020 2021
it —F- &£
HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx FHT

(115)

2020

HKS000 HK$'000
TEn TER

SREMBHRRME

29 EEBEES &)

FRRERBEEERAGBZEE (R
RIBLTS Rl AR R R S RRAT) AT

Others Total
Hit st

2020 2021 2020 2020
—Z-3F P =al —T-3F —3-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhx FHT Fhr Fr

819
270

(4,222) (1,089)

3,557 2,762

Fair value adjustment Others Total
AAEEAR it it
2021 2020 2020
- 2%

HK$'000

HK$'000
TERL BT

3312
1,465

2,941

21,510
16,394

= 12,642
(6,051) 3471

7,109

(16,518)

At 1 January »-A-H 2,762
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss ~ FAEZET A/ (31%) 910
Hyperinflation adjustments BHREAE 244 (1,303)
At 31 December R+ZA=+-H 4,45
Exploration and evaluation Property, plant and
assets equipment
Deferred tax liabilities BEHERR BRRIMEEE ¥ BERRE
2020
T3 %F “%2-%
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEL
At 1 January R-A-H 14,433
Charged(credited) to profit or loss WERIR/ (GTA) (2,409)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERE LR -
Hyperinflation adjustments R aRAE 397
At31 December ®+ZA=+-H 12,425

7718

21,510

4912 1367 54,023

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forward to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefits through future taxable profit is probable. In
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.21,
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of approximately HK$118,943,000
(2020: HK$120,674,000) and impairment of non-current assets
of approximately HK$53,291,000 (2020: HK$59,114,000) as
it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under
current tax legislation.

WAl BE BB AR R IERF R FI IR EEH
B AR EBEEREEREH
BE-REWE221AEMNEBER - &
SEE AR RETBIIEEE 118,943,000
BEIL(ZZF -F4:120,674,000/ 7T)
NIERENE ERIE 753,291,000/ 7T (=
T — T4 159,114,000/ 7T ) HERIE L H
BEE IHHREBEHERZERERE
RSN KA RE#E A AT A LA S5 S 1B M9 R 3k
FERBLRF - BRERITH L HEEBIE
EIENR
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30 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liabilities =R

Current liabilities mENB R
Gold future contracts =eHESHN
Paper gold & paper palladium HE e LA

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and
not as speculative investments. For details, please refer to Note
3.2(a)(ii). Since the Group did not adopt hedging accounting,
all derivatives are classified as “held for trading” for accounting
purposes and are accounted for at FVPL.

The maturity dates of the outstanding gold future contracts
and paper gold are within one year and are classified as current
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2021, the notional principal amount of the
outstanding gold future contracts and paper precious metals
including gold, silver and palladium amounted to approximately
HK$65,610,000 (2020: 67,996,000) and HK$279,477,000
(2020: 163,065,000) respectively.

For the fair value measurement of derivatives, please refer to
Note 3.4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

30 fTEE®MIA

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHET

644
2,281

2,925

TETEERNKEELHDEH
THRREBERE -BREFS &
2B M 7E3.2(a)i) c B R AL B
BIRME PG ML G B AIM
S OBEUETIEANERIFE
BRI YREAABEFABREA

MATTENEEHEANRESR
TNHHER-—FRLSERR
ERCNE

RZE-_—F+=—A=+—H"
MATENESHEAYRKE
B REES ARMENESE
K& 589 Rl A #65,610,0007 T
— T~ F 4 167,996,000/ 7T) &
279,477,000 (—E - F F:
163,065,000 7T) ©

FRTETANDABENE &
2RIMIFE3.4



31 PROVISIONS

The carrying amount of the Group’s provisions mainly
represented the provisions for estimated dismantlement cost for

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

31 &%

AEEBBZEREI2REBMRE
K INE R e il A IRBR B R

the upstream business in Argentina and Canada. Movements FABBEESEMMNT
of provisions during the year are set out as follows:
2021 2020
—E=-—fF —E_TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT T T
At 1 January mn—HA—H 20,117 20,504
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) U BE B B A B (B 5E36) 537,750 -
Settlement of dismantlement costs HEEIRKRER (2,397) (201)
Reduction due to changes in estimates B & & & im e 2 (KizE17)

(Note 17) (140,054) -
Hyperinflation adjustments BHERAE 1,073 (186)
Accretion of interest (Note 10) B (M3E10) 8,790 -
Exchange differences N Z R 6,453 -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 431,732 20,117
Less: amount included under B IRBEaEIET

“current liabilities” e e (66,019) (20,117)

365,713 -

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations and the
agreements with the surface owners, the Group is obliged
to accrue the costs related to the future costs of plugging
and abandoning its oil and gas properties, the removal of
equipment and facilities from lease acreage and returning such
land to its original condition, and indemnification of surface
owners for the damages caused by the exploration activities.
These costs reflect the estimated legal and contractual
obligations associated with the normal operation of oil and
gas properties and were capitalised by increasing the carrying
amounts of the related assets. The provisions have been
determined by the directors based on their best estimates of
the level of expenditure and extent of work required.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group revaluated the present
value of provision for estimated dismantlement costs with
references to the updated reserve assessments prepared
by the independent qualified technical consultant and the
latest market condition. Due to the improvement of market
condition, the Group recognised a reduction in the present
value of provision for estimated dismantlement costs for
HK$140,054,000 and adjusted the reduction to the carrying
amount of the oil and gas production assets.

RIFBBARANIMER AR B HEA A
ZhHE AKREARNBAREERA
HRERAREERRKA BHERE
BhRELERBARE L HERASER
AR Z AR A R ARFAZEHER
BENLTHEAEARER ZFRAR
BREEFI N AR R RAREEZ —REE
ZEERRANEMLT LEBEME
MEEZGEMESEERN L -BERE
ERFASOKFRAATESREEL 2 &
EfbEtMEEE -

RZE-Z—F+-A=+—8 &X&E
SEBUGEABEMEBERMGRE 2 &5
HEFHREHTR  HETIFGRES
BERBEETEGR - BRATRANE &
SERRGFIFGREARBEBERERD
140,054,000/ 7T + 7 38 28 A A H kX
AREEEEZRME:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32 EXK#E
(a) Share capital (a) B=X
(i) Authorised and issued share capital (i) ZEREBITRA
2021 2020
—B--F —B_EF
No. of shares No. of shares
RHEE RinEE
'000 HK$°000 '000 HK$'000
T i TR T THT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January and R—AR—B&
31 December +-B=+-H
Ordinary shares of BRAEEELY
HK$0.01 each TER 200,000,000 LI 200,000,000 2,000,000
Ordinary shares, issued EER
and fully paid: BETRAR:
At 1 January and R—AR—B&
31 December +-B=+-H
Ordinary shares of BRAEEETY
HK$0.01 each L@k 8,758,881 8,758,881 87,589
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TaRFEAEABREEE TR
dividends as declared from time to time and are ERZBRERBRERRAR
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the ARELHEIRE—F-HA
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with RAEIZHHBEEME A
regard to the Company's residual assets. LB = B R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium
The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (i) the
difference between the amount by which non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid upon acquisition of
additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2012 and
(ii) the difference between the nominal value of
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate of the share capital and share premiums
of subsidiaries acquired through a reorganisation in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange in October 1998.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations,
including the translation effect for entities operating
in hyperinflating economy. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2.6.

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial
assets at FVOCI that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see Notes 2.12 and 20).

32 BRKf#E =
(b) EEZHERAN

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma B R Y R

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(v) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus of the Group and the
Company represented the credit arising from capital
reduction in prior years.

Under Section 54 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, contributed surplus is available for
distribution as dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws
and provided that immediately following the
distribution, the Company is able to pay its liabilities
as and when they fall due or the realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as “cash
flow used in financing activities”.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A
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(b) REZHEERBN (&)

(v) EHEEH
AEBERARRZEHR
EREFERRRAELZ
HERREE -

REARE-NN—FRQF
EESAMGR ARB 2 E/A
R A B R AR 0 K B B,
AR ERBARAIGESATARR
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Bt I HEBMEE %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 33 RAEeEREBEEHR )
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing REMETHNEBEZHER(Z)
activities (Continued)

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
BE HESE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAL FAL FAEL
At January 2020 R-E-ZEf-H-H 151,544 834 152,378
Changes from financing cash flows: REWMERESRENEE:
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERAEMNERD S - (2,160) (2,160)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEHFSHS - (227) (227)
Proceeds from borrowings BEZFREHE 4,497 - 4,497
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (10,000) - (10,000)
Interest expenses paid ERFIEREY (11,108) - (11,108)
Other changes: Hit 25!
Accrued in interest payable JE AT B 10,888 227 11,115
Inception of lease contracts AVHAEAN - 7,991 7,991
Exchange differences EXER 246 - 246
Total other changes Hib & E @zt 11,134 8,218 19,352
At 31 December 2020 R-E-EE+-RA=1—H 146,067 6,665 152,732
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERNEENERTS = (3.782) (3,782)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERREMFSEHS - (675) (675)
Proceeds from borrowings BEZMBHE 9,166 - 9,166
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (155,311) = (155,311)
Interest expenses paid ERNHERAX (4,462) = (4,462)
Other changes: Hitn2g:
Accrued in interest payable JE AT A2 675 5,137
Inception of lease contracts FUBERN 9,577 9,577
Acquisition of the subsidiary WEMB AT 18,686 18,686
Exchange differences ERESE ({[3)) (84)
Total other changes HEiZ gt 28,776 33,316
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—-%+-A=1+-H 30,984 30,984
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Max
Sun Enterprises Limited and Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
respectively, which are incorporated in the BVI.

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/
or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 12 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 11, is as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY aE

3 ERFEBARS

RARAEERRAEENEETRAIR
BREERFDMNAREBRELEHST
M.z EFEERBR A F RChow Tai
Fook Capital Limited

IR FREMBHRERMS - H— A6
NEESEERANEEE DY REE
RRBEFEAREN NEBEESTA
AR DA KB A R - BERE T A BER
BA(BNEEEEREKRE FERRRES
HEFHIR)REMERE BEIAN
SEBEANBBEIEAFTENER-
IR AR R B R

BRER AP mR AT FESEIN
AEBETZERNBRAIRZZWMT

() TEZEEEBASHS
REFEIEEHEEBAENE (B
ENTFHFRAEEARARRIES
EWANBESE TeFilE
BZHIBE)MAT:

MR B8 A
BERLIR B A

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
10,239 7,594

— 18

10,239 7,612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Other related party transactions

(c)

ReEMHE

Nature of transactions

3 EXBEBAIRS (&)

(b)

Rent and management fee paid
to an associate of an
intermediate parent of
the Company (Note)

(HI&E)

IT management and support
fees paid to an associate of
an intermediate parent of
the Company

X&EE

ENARARREE AR Z
BENFHEeNERE

ENARBIRESARZ
BERREARZERR

Note:

The Group entered into lease contracts in respect of its office with an
associate of an intermediate parent of the Company. As at 31 December
2021, the aggregated balance of lease liabilities due to related party
in respect of the leased office was amounting to approximately
HK$3,601,000 (2020: HK$6,187,000).

Loans from a related party

In December 2020, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with an associate of an intermediate
parent of the Company (the “Lender”), pursuant to
which the Group agreed to accept, and the Lender
agreed to grant, an unsecured loan in the principal
amount of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,497,000) carrying interest at 4% per annum for a
term of one month maturing on 15 January 2021. As at
31 December 2020, included in borrowings (see note 27)
was the aggregated amount of loan and accrued interest
due to the Lender of approximately RMB4,007,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,751,000). The loan
and accrued interest had been settled in full during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

()

HMEABAI XS

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHTT

2,354

131

MEE -

AEBRARFAMESRF 2B E QAT
VEBRHAENHEAN - R_T=_—F
+ZA=+—B RAEERQEEE
FRZHEBBREHRRY3,601,000% T
(ZZ=Z%:6,187,00087TT) °

EBR—E2BEBIEXR

RZBE_ZEF+_f AEEEK
NEEEG AR 2BHERR (&
FDELER B B A5E®
AEEX MEARERLAS
B AR #4,000,0007T (HEERLD
4,497,000/ 70) 2 BB E R IR
FRELI%TE -HRA @A
RZE-_—F—A+HBIH-R
—E-EF+A=+—H BE
(RME27)BIERNERS ZER
K FEETFI B 8RR H AR 4,007,000
7T (FE R 494,751,000 7T) - &
RREFFNEEREBEE T =—
F+-A=Z+—HILFERHLE

=4
/B °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma B R Y R

34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Loans from a related party (Continued)

In May 2021, the Group has advanced an unsecured loan
from the Lender in the principal amount of RMB7,640,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,207,000) carrying
interest at 4% per annum for a term of one month
maturing on 30 June 2021. The loan and accrued
interest had been settled in full during the year ended
31 December 2021.

35 COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the date
of statement of financial position:

3 EXBEBAIRS (&)

(9]

BR—E2@BEER (&)

A—E_—FRHA AEERER
AN A e EE A AREET,640,0005T
(F8 % 7 #99,207,0005 7o) 2 K
WEF BFEHERI%TE  BR A
—@R RZEZ—FA=1+H
B -BERREFFBEEREZES
T+ -_A=+—BLFE
BEEE -

35 AKiE

R BHRR R BB EE R 2 E AR
T

Authorised but not contracted for EREERETL

36 BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a) Summary of acquisition

On 21 September 2021, the Group completed the
acquisition of entire share capital of Shanghai Energy
Corporation (“SEC"), a company incorporated in Canada,
and its subsidiaries (totally “SEC Group”). SEC Group is
specialised in the exploration and production of oil and
natural gas. The consideration was settled by granting
a loan of C$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$121,773,000 to SEC Group and paying a cash
consideration of C$1 (equivalent to HK$6) to acquire
100% equity interest in SEC.
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2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT

124,763 236,606

36 XEEH

(a)

WEEEEHRE
R-—FB-_—FHhA=-t+—H K
& B A W Shanghai Energy
Corporation ([SEC ] - — & hi
EREMKRIZ AR REWE
NE] (4785 [SECERB ) ) - SEC
ESEEMRBEABERARBE
MEE)Z2EHBRA-RETHER
MSECE B2 4 & 320,000,000
Mz (BERHA121,773,000/8
T)EREIHBEeRE I NT (BE
W65 7T ) W B SECEN 100 % AL # -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(a) Summary of acquisition (Continued)
The Group engaged an independent professional valuer
to perform purchase price allocation exercise with
reference to the business valuation using discounted cash
flows forecast and market value approach. The recognised

SREMBHRRME

36 (a6
(a) WEB=EHE (2)

AEBEZREBEIEXGEMSE
EARRBETRERALTSE
BZENEBEEETBEERD
Fo T e PRk BB AT a8l & & e P
AEABZEEIASHELAMT

amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

assumed are summarised as follows:

21 September

2021
—EF-—%F
hA=+—8
HK$000
T T
Cash consideration paid ENRERE -
Loan to the SEC Group before completion of U HE T8 SR AR AT (A SEC & B
acquisition RIEER 121,773
Total consideration (Note (i)) BARE (BFEG)) 121,773
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets FrE T B B E K
acquired and liabilities assumed: FIAEEBEsERRSHE:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) M- WERZE (H:E17) 878,708
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBZEY 93,047
Trade and other receivables FEU B 5 BR 3 I H 4t & W R IE 173,098
Trade and other payables JE -1 8 5 BR 3K % B JE < RRIE (46,347)
Provisions (Note 31) B (FIsE31) (537,750)
Lease liabilities HEaE (18,686)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29) RERIEEE (M5E29) (12,642)
Net identifiable assets acquired FrieBE Al s Rl & =05 B 529,428
Gain on bargain purchase HEEE WS (407,655)
121,773
Outflow of cash to acquire the business, WEEBNESR
net of cash acquired: BMEWEEIR S
Cash consideration paid BENBEeRE (121,773)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired W EWERSRBEESEY 93,047
Net cash outflow on acquisition WHEEIEIM S L FEE (28,726)
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36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(a) Summary of acquisition (Continued)
Note:

(i) The consideration was settled by granting a loan of C$20,000,000
(equivalent to HK$121,773,000) to SEC and cash consideration of
C$1 (Equivalent to HK$6).

(ii) The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$212,665,000
and net profit of HK$50,310,000 to the Group for the period
from 21 September 2021 to 31 December 2021. If the acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2021, the consolidated revenue and
consolidated profits of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 would have been HK$11,628,235,000 and HK$388,142,000,
respectively.

37 LITIGATION

On 4 June 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
was notified of the initiation of an arbitration process against
it by the Partner. The origin of the alleged claim arises from
the dispute with the Partner in relation to the calculation
and settlement of farm-in cost, due to differences in the
interpretation by the two parties of the relevant clause
and terminology contained in the Farm — Out Agreement
("FOA"). The Partner is now seeking for the restitution of
the subsidiary’s 50% participating interest in the Los Blancos
Concession, the removal of the subsidiary as the operator of
Los Blancos Concession, and the request of payments for the
potential disputed difference. The Group is of the view that, on
the basis of the legal advice from the Group’s internal counsel
and the external solicitor, it is not probable that the claim from
the Partner would lead to the restitution of the Group's 50%
participating interest in Los Blancos Concession and removal
as the operator, given that there is no actual breach of the
FOA. The maximum exposure for the alleged claim is estimated
at approximately US$180,000 (equivalents to approximately
HK$1,404,000). No provision had been provided in respect
of the potential disputed difference as at 31 December 2021,
as the directors of the Company determined that the outflow
of economic benefit in relation to the alleged claim is not
probable and is dependent on the outcome of the arbitration
process or out-of-court settlement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B A AR MY EE

EF SN0 E )

(a) WHRBEEMBE (&)
B

(i) RETEBMASECE ff & &
20,000,000 7t (/& R
121,773,000/ 70 ) KB &KE 10T
(FHHERGEITL)EH-

(i FKRBEBER-_ZT-_—FhA
—t+t—-HBEZ-ZZT=-—+=A
Tt+-—AHEAAEEE B KE
212,665,000/ 7T & 4% 750,310,000
BB EBEEENR T =—F
—A—BE4 AEEREEZ
- —F+_A=Z+—RILEE
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11,628,235,000/% 7t }.388,142,000
BT

b

B/

RZTEZ—FA0AB AEEH—HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38 A2 BT K

COMPANY

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Financial assets at fair value

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZFTF
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 FTERT FAT
FRBEE
RHB AR ZIRE -
REBEE

BNRE e hHE

i & U 3R TR

BAREEFAABRGZ

418,590 222,612

through profit or loss TREE 20,351 30,816

Cash and cash equivalents BeBREEEY 137,993 499,116
576,934 752,544

Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H & < 5kI8 54,023 50,915
Borrowings EE = 138,316
e 54,023 . 189,231
Netcurrentassets ________________ _REBEEFE 522,911 . 563,313
Total assets less current liabilities AEERBRABEE 522,911 563,313
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings EE 3,000
Net assets EERE 522,911 560,313
Capital and reserves IR A % 1 4
Share capital & A< 32(a) 87,589 87,589
Reserves & 39 435,322 472,724
Total Equity A 522,911 560,313
The statement of financial position of the Company was ARABUBRARERZE__F=
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and was AZThBREFSBEBIATIA

signed on its behalf.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
[-IF e
Director

EBEFE

ITREERE:

TANG, John Wing Yan
Bk B
Director

BF

Annual Report 2021 ¢ —Z—-—FF% 217



218

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma B R Y R

39 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

39 KD TfEE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances AEEFEEREHORBAYRER
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set EHR o HEENGERREHR -AQ
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details AIERIEZBORETNRFREA 2 #
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of BFFIBHOT
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Fair value
reserve
Share Share Capital (non-  Contributed Accumulated Total
capital premium Reserve recycling surplus losses equity
DARER
1
BA& R EE 4R (FUEW) v bl 2 FR ERAE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiBT TEL TET THT TEL TiE TEL
At 1 January 2020 WZZZZF-F—-H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740,880 (4,302,292) 1,399,253
Total comprehensive loss 2EFRER
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - (838,940) (838,940)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZF-BE+ZR=1+-8RK
1 January 2021 —E--%-8-H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740,880 (5,141,232) 560,313
Total comprehensive loss FEFBRAR
Loss for the year ERER (37,402) (37,402)
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-#+ZA=+-H 4,868,181 (4,696) 740,880  (5,178,634) 522,911
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Set out below is a summary of the results and a statement of net
assets of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as

appropriate.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T FEHBEEME

RESULTS

REVENUE I 2
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION  B#B{AI%R/ (F#)
INCOME TAX FEH
PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO  FE{E3#R/ (&)
Owners of the Company E/NGIE 2N
Non-controlling interests I ERER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Current assets MEEE

Total assets EEHEE
Current liabilities REBAEE
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Total liabilities EEHE

NET ASSETS EEFHE

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
TR

11,167,076

343,636

(14,233)

329,401
2

329,403

2021
—E--F
HK$'000
TR

852,776

CLERYL

1,736,350

199,430
435,439

634,869

1,101,481

TXRAEERBERBMBRFERE 2RER
BEFEBRRUE DREEREREEY
BHREAYCHEEEBR TEHNR-

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=Z+-HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017
“E-ZZF ZZ-nEF ZE-\F ZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL TAET TET TAEL
5,034,518 236,646 297,989 287,557
(64,558)  (2,310,385) (246,447) 95,260
(14,936) 20,248 (10,777) 6,437
(79,483)  (2,290,086) (257,218) 101,710
(11) (51) (6) (13)
(79,494)  (2,290,137) (257,224) 101,697
As at 31 December
R+=A=t+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017
2% ZZ-NE ZE-N\§ ZZ—+t%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FiET FTET FTiET
130,543 167,202 2,417,291 2,475,468
890,625 928,092 1,062,798 1,308,181
1,021,168 1,095,294 3,480,089 3,783,649
240,789 85,592 154,980 90,522
21,423 163,247 195,133 225,811
262,212 248,839 350,113 316,333
758,956 846,455 3,129,976 3,467,316
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GLOSSARY
w5

“hoe”

[fRmEE]

“mmbbl”
[mmbbl ]

“mmboe”
[mmboe |

"Proved Reserves”
[ R = ]

"Probable Reserves”

[ BB e &

Barrels of oil equivalent

BHEE

Million barrels of oil, a barrel is equivalent to 42 U.S. Gallons or 0.158987 m?
BEMBAM —BEMN423% % 5£0.1589877 /5 K

Million barrels of oil equivalent, a barrel is 42 U.S. gallons or 0.158987 m?
BEMhEE  —WmER42EMA300.15898757 53K

Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas which,
by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with
reasonable certainty to be economically producible

R HRBEENDBAMERTIRREERSN AN GETSBEELE LA
EERHRFE

Additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than Proved
Reserves but which, together with Proved Reserves, are as likely as not to
be recovered
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